IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

In re:)	Chapter 11
PGX HOLDINGS, INC., et al., 1)	Case No. 23-10718 (CTG)
	Debtors.	(Jointly Administered)

FIRST AMENDED DISCLOSURE STATEMENT FOR THE FIRST AMENDED JOINT CHAPTER 11 PLAN OF PGX HOLDINGS, INC. AND ITS DEBTOR AFFILIATES PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 11 OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE

THIS IS NOT A SOLICITATION OF AN ACCEPTANCE OR REJECTION OF THE PLAN. ACCEPTANCES OR REJECTIONS MAY NOT BE SOLICITED UNTIL THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT HAS BEEN APPROVED BY THE COURT. THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT IS BEING SUBMITTED FOR APPROVAL BUT HAS NOT BEEN APPROVED BY THE COURT. THE INFORMATION IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT IS SUBJECT TO CHANGE. THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT IS NOT AN OFFER TO SELL ANY SECURITIES AND IS NOT SOLICITING AN OFFER TO BUY ANY SECURITIES.

KLEHR HARRISON HARVEY BRANZBURG LLP

Domenic E. Pacitti (DE Bar No. 3989) Michael W. Yurkewicz (DE Bar No. 4165)

919 North Market Street, Suite 1000

Wilmington, Delaware 19801 Telephone: (302) 426-1189 Facsimile: (302) 426-9193

Email: dpacitti@klehr.com

myurkewicz@klehr.com

- and -

Morton R. Branzburg (pro hac vice pending)

1835 Market Street, Suite 1400 Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103 Telephone: (215) 569-3007

Telephone: (215) 569-3007 Facsimile: (215) 568-6603

Email: mbranzburg@klehr.com

KIRKLAND & ELLIS LLP KIRKLAND & ELLIS INTERNATIONAL LLP

Joshua A. Sussberg, P.C. (admitted pro hac vice)

601 Lexington Ave

New York, New York 10022 Telephone: (212) 446-4800

Facsimile: (212) 446-4900

Email: joshua.sussberg@kirkland.com

- and -

Spencer Winters (admitted *pro hac vice*)
Whitney C. Fogelberg (admitted *pro hac vice*)
Alison J. Wirtz (admitted *pro hac vice*)

300 North LaSalle

Chicago, Illinois 60654

Telephone: (312) 862-2000 Facsimile: (312) 862-2200

Email: spencer.winters@kirkland.com

whitney.fogelberg@kirkland.com alison.wirtz@kirkland.com

Co-Counsel to the Debtors and Debtors in Possession

Co-Counsel to the Debtors and Debtors in Possession

The Debtors in these echapter 11 ecases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor's federal tax identification number, are: PGX Holdings, Inc. (2510); Credit Repair UK, Inc. (4798); Credit.com, Inc. (1580); Creditrepair.com Holdings, Inc. (7536); Creditrepair.com, Inc. (7680); eFolks Holdings, Inc. (5213); eFolks, LLC (5256); John C. Heath, Attorney At Law PC (8362); Progrexion ASG, Inc. (5153); Progrexion Holdings, Inc. (7123); Progrexion IP, Inc. (5179); Progrexion Marketing, Inc. (5073); and Progrexion Teleservices, Inc. (5110). The location of the Debtors' service address for purposes of these echapter 11 ecases is: 257 East 200 South, Suite 1200, Salt Lake City, Utah 84111.



23107182309150000000000006

Dated: August 24, September 15, 2023

IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

THE DEADLINE TO VOTE ON THE PLAN IS October [20], 2023, at 4:00 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time)

FOR YOUR VOTE TO BE COUNTED, YOUR BALLOT MUST BE <u>ACTUALLY RECEIVED</u> BY KURTZMAN CARSON CONSULTANTS LLC ON OR BEFORE THE VOTING DEADLINE AS DESCRIBED HEREIN.

THE DEBTORS ARE PROVIDING THE INFORMATION IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT TO CERTAIN HOLDERS OF CLAIMS OR INTERESTS FOR PURPOSES OF SOLICITING VOTES TO ACCEPT OR REJECT THE <u>FIRST AMENDED</u> JOINT CHAPTER 11 PLAN OF PGX HOLDINGS, INC. AND ITS DEBTOR AFFILIATES PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 11 OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE. NOTHING IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT MAY BE RELIED UPON OR USED BY ANY ENTITY FOR ANY OTHER PURPOSE. PRIOR TO DECIDING WHETHER TO VOTE FOR OR AGAINST THE PLAN, EACH HOLDER ENTITLED TO VOTE SHOULD CAREFULLY CONSIDER ALL OF THE INFORMATION IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT, INCLUDING THE RISK FACTORS DESCRIBED IN ARTICLE VIII HEREIN.

THE PLAN IS SUPPORTED BY THE DEBTORS AND CERTAIN CREDITORS OF THE DEBTORS, INCLUDING THE CONSENTING STAKEHOLDERS WHO ARE PARTY TO THAT CERTAIN RESTRUCTURING SUPPORT AGREEMENT AND THE OFFICIAL COMMITTEE OF UNSECURED CREDITORS.

THE DEBTORS, THE CONSENTING STAKEHOLDERS, AND THE COMMITTEE URGE HOLDERS OF CLAIMS WHOSE VOTES ARE BEING SOLICITED TO VOTE TO ACCEPT THE PLAN.

THE DEBTORS URGE EACH HOLDER OF A CLAIM TO CONSULT WITH ITS OWN ADVISORS WITH RESPECT TO ANY LEGAL, FINANCIAL, SECURITIES, TAX, OR BUSINESS ADVICE IN REVIEWING THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT, THE PLAN, AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED THEREBY. FURTHER, THE BANKRUPTCY COURT'S APPROVAL OF THE ADEQUACY OF THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT DOES NOT CONSTITUTE THE BANKRUPTCY COURT'S APPROVAL OF THE PLAN.

THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT CONTAINS, AMONG OTHER THINGS, SUMMARIES OF THE PLAN, CERTAIN STATUTORY PROVISIONS, CERTAIN ANTICIPATED EVENTS IN THE CHAPTER 11 CASES, AND CERTAIN DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE PLAN THAT ARE INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE HEREIN. ALTHOUGH THE DEBTORS BELIEVE THAT THESE SUMMARIES ARE FAIR AND ACCURATE, THESE SUMMARIES ARE QUALIFIED IN THEIR ENTIRETY TO THE EXTENT THAT THEY DO NOT SET FORTH THE ENTIRE TEXT OF SUCH DOCUMENTS OR STATUTORY PROVISIONS OR EVERY DETAIL OF SUCH ANTICIPATED EVENTS. IN THE EVENT OF ANY INCONSISTENCY OR DISCREPANCY BETWEEN A DESCRIPTION IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND THE TERMS AND PROVISIONS OF THE PLAN OR ANY OTHER DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED HEREIN BY REFERENCE, THE PLAN OR SUCH OTHER DOCUMENTS WILL GOVERN FOR ALL PURPOSES. FACTUAL INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT HAS BEEN PROVIDED BY THE DEBTORS' MANAGEMENT EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED. THE DEBTORS DO NOT REPRESENT OR WARRANT THAT THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN OR ATTACHED HERETO IS WITHOUT ANY MATERIAL INACCURACY OR OMISSION.

IN PREPARING THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT, THE DEBTORS RELIED ON FINANCIAL DATA DERIVED FROM THEIR BOOKS AND RECORDS OR THAT WAS OTHERWISE MADE AVAILABLE TO THEM AT THE TIME OF SUCH PREPARATION AND ON VARIOUS ASSUMPTIONS REGARDING THE DEBTORS' BUSINESS. WHILE THE DEBTORS BELIEVE THAT SUCH FINANCIAL INFORMATION FAIRLY REFLECTS THE FINANCIAL CONDITION OF THE DEBTORS AS OF THE DATE HEREOF AND THAT THE ASSUMPTIONS REGARDING FUTURE EVENTS REFLECT REASONABLE BUSINESS JUDGMENTS, NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES ARE MADE AS TO THE ACCURACY OF THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN OR ASSUMPTIONS REGARDING THE DEBTORS' BUSINESS. THE DEBTORS EXPRESSLY CAUTION

READERS NOT TO PLACE UNDUE RELIANCE ON ANY FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS CONTAINED HEREIN.

THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT DOES NOT CONSTITUTE, AND MAY NOT BE CONSTRUED AS, AN ADMISSION OF FACT, LIABILITY, STIPULATION, OR WAIVER. THE DEBTORS OR THE PLAN ADMINISTRATOR MAY SEEK TO INVESTIGATE, FILE, AND PROSECUTE CLAIMS AND MAY OBJECT TO CLAIMS AFTER THE CONFIRMATION OR EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE PLAN IRRESPECTIVE OF WHETHER THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT IDENTIFIES ANY SUCH CLAIMS OR OBJECTIONS TO CLAIMS.

THE DEBTORS ARE MAKING THE STATEMENTS AND PROVIDING THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AS OF THE DATE HEREOF, UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED, AND THERE IS NO ASSURANCE THAT THE STATEMENTS CONTAINED HEREIN WILL BE CORRECT AT ANY TIME AFTER SUCH DATE. ALTHOUGH THE DEBTORS MAY SUBSEQUENTLY UPDATE THE INFORMATION IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT, THE DEBTORS HAVE NO AFFIRMATIVE DUTY TO DO SO, AND EXPRESSLY DISCLAIM ANY DUTY TO PUBLICLY UPDATE ANY FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, WHETHER AS A RESULT OF NEW INFORMATION, FUTURE EVENTS, OR OTHERWISE. HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS REVIEWING THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT SHOULD NOT INFER THAT, AT THE TIME OF THEIR REVIEW, THE FACTS SET FORTH HEREIN HAVE NOT CHANGED SINCE THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT WAS FILED. INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, MODIFICATION, OR AMENDMENT. THE DEBTORS RESERVE THE RIGHT TO FILE AN AMENDED OR MODIFIED PLAN AND RELATED DISCLOSURE STATEMENT FROM TIME TO TIME, SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF THE PLAN.

THE DEBTORS HAVE NOT AUTHORIZED ANY ENTITY TO GIVE ANY INFORMATION ABOUT OR CONCERNING THE PLAN OTHER THAN THAT WHICH IS CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT. THE DEBTORS HAVE NOT AUTHORIZED ANY REPRESENTATIONS CONCERNING THE DEBTORS OR THE VALUE OF THEIR PROPERTY OTHER THAN AS SET FORTH IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT.

IF THE PLAN IS CONFIRMED BY THE BANKRUPTCY COURT AND THE EFFECTIVE DATE OCCURS, ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS (INCLUDING THOSE HOLDERS OF CLAIMS OR INTERESTS WHO DO NOT SUBMIT BALLOTS TO ACCEPT OR REJECT THE PLAN, WHO VOTE TO REJECT THE PLAN, OR WHO ARE NOT ENTITLED TO VOTE ON THE PLAN) WILL BE BOUND BY THE TERMS OF THE PLAN.

THE CONFIRMATION AND EFFECTIVENESS OF THE PLAN ARE SUBJECT TO CERTAIN MATERIAL CONDITIONS PRECEDENT DESCRIBED HEREIN AND SET FORTH IN ARTICLE IX OF THE PLAN. THERE IS NO ASSURANCE THAT THE PLAN WILL BE CONFIRMED, OR IF CONFIRMED, THAT THE CONDITIONS REQUIRED TO BE SATISFIED FOR THE PLAN TO GO EFFECTIVE WILL BE SATISFIED (OR WAIVED).

YOU ARE ENCOURAGED TO READ THE PLAN AND THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY, INCLUDING ARTICLE VIII, ENTITLED "RISK FACTORS," BEFORE SUBMITTING YOUR BALLOT TO VOTE ON THE PLAN.

THE BANKRUPTCY COURT'S APPROVAL OF THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A GUARANTEE BY THE BANKRUPTCY COURT OF THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN OR AN ENDORSEMENT BY THE BANKRUPTCY COURT OF THE MERITS OF THE PLAN.

THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT HAS BEEN PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 1125 OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE AND BANKRUPTCY RULE 3016(B) AND IS NOT NECESSARILY PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES LAWS OR OTHER SIMILAR LAWS. THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT HAS NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (THE "SEC") OR ANY SIMILAR FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL, OR FOREIGN REGULATORY AGENCY, NOR HAS THE SEC OR ANY OTHER AGENCY PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THE STATEMENTS CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT.

THE DEBTORS HAVE SOUGHT TO ENSURE THE ACCURACY OF THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT; HOWEVER, THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT OR INCORPORATED HEREIN BY REFERENCE HAS NOT BEEN, AND

WILL NOT BE, AUDITED OR REVIEWED BY THE DEBTORS' INDEPENDENT AUDITORS UNLESS EXPLICITLY PROVIDED OTHERWISE.

THE DEBTORS MAKE STATEMENTS IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT THAT ARE CONSIDERED FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS UNDER FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS. THE DEBTORS CONSIDER ALL STATEMENTS REGARDING ANTICIPATED OR FUTURE MATTERS TO BE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS MAY INCLUDE STATEMENTS ABOUT THE DEBTORS':

- BUSINESS STRATEGY;
- FINANCIAL CONDITION, REVENUES, CASH FLOWS, AND EXPENSES;
- LEVELS OF INDEBTEDNESS, LIQUIDITY, AND COMPLIANCE WITH DEBT COVENANTS;
- FINANCIAL STRATEGY, BUDGET, PROJECTIONS, AND OPERATING RESULTS;
- SUCCESSFUL RESULTS FROM THE DEBTORS' OPERATIONS;
- GENERAL ECONOMIC AND BUSINESS CONDITIONS;
- ADVERSE TAX CHANGES;
- COUNTERPARTY CREDIT RISK;
- THE OUTCOME OF PENDING AND FUTURE LITIGATION;
- UNCERTAINTY REGARDING FUTURE OPERATING RESULTS; AND
- PLANS, OBJECTIVES, AND EXPECTATIONS.

STATEMENTS CONCERNING THESE AND OTHER MATTERS ARE NOT GUARANTEES OF THE DEBTORS AND THE WIND-DOWN DEBTOR'S FUTURE PERFORMANCE. THERE ARE RISKS. UNCERTAINTIES, AND OTHER IMPORTANT FACTORS THAT COULD CAUSE THE DEBTORS' AND THE WIND-DOWN DEBTOR'S ACTUAL PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS TO BE DIFFERENT FROM THOSE THEY MAY PROJECT, AND THE DEBTORS UNDERTAKE NO OBLIGATION TO UPDATE THE PROJECTIONS MADE HEREIN. THESE RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES, AND FACTORS MAY INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING: THE DEBTORS' ABILITY TO CONFIRM AND CONSUMMATE THE PLAN; THE POTENTIAL THAT THE DEBTORS MAY NEED TO PURSUE AN ALTERNATIVE TRANSACTION IF THE PLAN IS NOT CONFIRMED; THE DEBTORS' ABILITY TO REDUCE THEIR OVERALL FINANCIAL LEVERAGE; THE POTENTIAL ADVERSE IMPACT OF THE CHAPTER 11 CASES ON THE DEBTORS' OPERATIONS, MANAGEMENT, AND EMPLOYEES; THE RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH OPERATING THE DEBTORS' BUSINESS DURING THE CHAPTER 11 CASES; CUSTOMER RESPONSES TO THE CHAPTER 11 CASES; THE DEBTORS' INABILITY TO DISCHARGE OR SETTLE CLAIMS DURING THE CHAPTER 11 CASES: GENERAL ECONOMIC, BUSINESS. AND MARKET CONDITIONS: EXPOSURE TO LITIGATION: THE DEBTORS' ABILITY TO IMPLEMENT COST REDUCTION INITIATIVES IN A TIMELY MANNER; THE DEBTORS' ABILITY TO DIVEST EXISTING BUSINESSES; AND ADVERSE TAX CHANGES.

THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT IS SUBJECT TO FURTHER REVISION AND MAY BE AMENDED TO, AMONG OTHER THINGS, TAKE INTO ACCOUNT FURTHER SPECIFICS OF ANY RESTRUCTURING TRANSACTION TO BE CONSUMMATED PURSUANT TO THE PLAN, AND TO ACCOMMODATE ADDITIONAL REQUESTS FOR DISCLOSURE.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

т	TA IMT	DODUCTION	Page			
I.		INTRODUCTION				
II.	PRE	LIMINARY STATEMENT	1			
III.		STIONS AND ANSWERS REGARDING THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND PLAN	34			
	A.	What is chapter 11?	3 4			
	B.	Why are the Debtors sending me this Disclosure Statement?	4			
	C.	Am I entitled to vote on the Plan?	4			
	D.	What will I receive from the Debtors if the Plan is consummated?	4 <u>5</u>			
	E.	What happens to my recovery if the Plan is not confirmed or does not go effective?	10			
	F.	If the Plan provides that I get a distribution, do I get it upon Confirmation or when the Plan goes effective, and what is meant by "Confirmation," "Effective Date," and "Consummation?"	10			
	G.	What are the sources of Cash and other consideration required to fund the Plan?				
	H.	Is there potential litigation related to the Plan?	10			
	I.	Will the final amount of Allowed Other General Unsecured Claims affect the recovery of Holders of Allowed Other General Unsecured Claims under the Plan?	1 <u>40</u>			
	J.	Will there be releases and exculpation granted to parties in interest as part of the Plan?	11			
	K.	What is the deadline to vote on the Plan?	12			
	L.	How do I vote for or against the Plan?	12			
	M.	Why is the Bankruptcy Court holding a Confirmation Hearing?	12			
	N.	When is the Confirmation Hearing set to occur?	12			
	O.	What is the purpose of the Confirmation Hearing?	13			
	P.	What is the effect of the Plan on the Debtors' ongoing business?	13			
	Q.	Who do I contact if I have additional questions with respect to this Disclosure Statement or the Plan?	13			
	R.	Could subsequent events potentially affect recoveries under the Plan?	14			
	S.	Do the Debtors recommend voting in favor of the Plan?	14			
IV.	THE	THE DEBTORS' PLAN				
	A.	The Plan	14			
	B.	Means for Implementation of the Plan.	2 <u>+</u> 5_			
V.	THE	DEBTORS' CORPORATE HISTORY, STRUCTURE, AND BUSINESS OVERVIEW	3 <mark>2</mark> 6			
	Α	PGX's Corporate History and Business Operations	3 2 6			
	В.	Lexington Law's Corporate History and Business Operations	3 3 7			
	C.	The Debtors' Prepetition Capital Structure				
VI.	EVE	NTS LEADING TO THE CHAPTER 11 FILINGS	3 <mark>5</mark> 9			
	A.	CFPB Litigation	359			
	В.	Other Business Challenges	3741			
	C.	Exploration of Strategic Alternatives	3 7 42			
VII.		TERIAL DEVELOPMENTS AND ANTICIPATED EVENTS OF THE CHAPTER 11	2042			
	CAS		<u>3842</u>			
	Α.	First Day Relief	<u>3842</u>			
	В.	Appointment of Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors	<u>4</u> 3 8			
	C.	Other Procedural and Administrative Motions				
	D.	Retention of Debtor Professionals	4 04			

Case 23-10718-CTG Doc 469 Filed 09/15/23 Page 6 of 83

	E. Approval of Debtor-in-Possession Financing	4 <mark>1</mark> 5
	F. Bidding Procedures and Marketing Process	416
	G. Litigation Matters	4 <mark>3</mark> 7
	H. Assumption and Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	4 <mark>3</mark> 8
	I. Claims Based on Rejection of Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases	
	J. Cure of Defaults	
VIII.	RISK FACTORS	47 <u>51</u>
	A. Certain Bankruptcy Law Considerations	4 7 51
	B. Disclosure Statement Disclaimer	5 <mark>0</mark> 4
IX.	SOLICITATION AND VOTING PROCEDURES	5 <mark>2</mark> 6
	A. Holders of Claims Entitled to Vote on the Plan	5 <mark>2</mark> 7
	B. Voting Record Date	
	C. Voting on the Plan	
	D. Ballots Not Counted	5 <mark>3</mark> 8
Χ.	CONFIRMATION OF THE PLAN	538
	A. Requirements for Confirmation of the Plan	5 <mark>3</mark> 8
	B. Best Interests of Creditors/Liquidation Analysis	54 <mark>9</mark>
	C. Feasibility	
	D. Acceptance by Impaired Classes	
	E. Confirmation **Without Acceptance by All Impaired Classes	
XI.	MATERIAL UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES	<u>5</u> 6 <u>1</u>
	A. Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan to the Debtors and Parent	57 63
	B. Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan to Holders of Allowed Class 4 Prepetition First Lien Claims	s <u>58</u> 64
	C. Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan to Holders of Allowed Class 5 Prepetition Second Lien Claims	S
	D. Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan to Holders of Allowed Class 6B Other General Unsecured Claims	s <u>59</u> 64
	E. Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan to Holders of Allowed Clas 6A Continuing Trade Claims, Class 6C Litigation Claims, and Class 6D CFPB Claims	S
	F. Character of Gain or Loss	6 0 6
	G. Market Discount	6 1 6
	H. Accrued Interest	6 <mark>1</mark> 7
	I. Limitation on Use of Capital Losses	6 <mark>1</mark> 7
	J. Information Reporting and Backup Withholding	6 2 7
	K. U.S. Federal Income Tax Treatment of the Creditor Trust	628
XII.	RECOMMENDATION	65 71

Case 23-10718-CTG Doc 469 Filed 09/15/23 Page 7 of 83

EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT A First Amended Chapter 11 Plan (Solicitation Version)

EXHIBIT B Liquidation Analysis

I. INTRODUCTION

PGX Holdings, Inc. and the above-captioned debtors and debtors in possession (collectively, with their Debtor affiliates, the "<u>Debtors</u>," and, together with their non-Debtor affiliate CreditCo Limited, but excluding their Debtor affiliate Lexington Law, "<u>PGX</u>"), submit this disclosure statement (this "<u>Disclosure Statement</u>"), pursuant to section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code, to Holders of Claims against and Interests in the Debtors in connection with the solicitation of votes for acceptance of the <u>First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan of PGX Holdings, Inc. and its Debtor Affiliates Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, Filed contemporaneously herewith (as may be amended, supplemented, or modified from time to time, the "<u>Plan</u>"). A copy of the Plan is attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u> and incorporated herein by reference. The Plan constitutes a separate chapter 11 plan for each of the other Debtors. The rules of interpretation set forth in Article I.B of the Plan govern the interpretation of this Disclosure Statement.</u>

THE DEBTORS SUPPORT THE PLAN AND BELIEVE THAT THE COMPROMISES AND SETTLEMENTS CONTEMPLATED BY THE PLAN ARE FAIR AND EQUITABLE, MAXIMIZE THE VALUE OF THE DEBTORS' ESTATES, AND PROVIDE THE BEST RECOVERY TO HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS. AT THIS TIME, THE DEBTORS BELIEVE THE PLAN REPRESENTS THE BEST AVAILABLE OPTION FOR COMPLETING THE CHAPTER 11 CASES. THE DEBTORS RECOMMEND THAT YOU VOTE TO ACCEPT THE PLAN.

II. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

PGX is one of the nation's leading credit repair service providers, helping customers repair their credit and achieve their credit goals. Setting the industry standard for transparency, cutting edge technology-enabled solutions, and quality customer service, PGX helps consumers access and understand the information contained in their credit reports, ensure that the information contained in those reports is fair, accurate, and complete, and address other factors that may negatively impact their credit scores. PGX is headquartered in Salt Lake City, Utah and has employees in nine other states.

PGX owns the consumer-facing brands and trademarks "CreditRepair.com" and "Credit.com." Debtor John C. Heath, Attorney At Law PC ("Lexington Law") is an independently owned Utah professional corporation that provides credit repair legal services directly to its clients. Through a set of operating agreements with Lexington Law (the "Operating Agreements"), PGX provides comprehensive operational support services to the law firm, including marketing, custom proprietary software, technology, and administrative services.

Notwithstanding significant growth of the Debtors' businesses in the period leading up to 2016, since that time, the Debtors' businesses have faced an increasingly challenging operational environment, ongoing litigation with the U.S. Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the "CFPB") that culminated in an adverse ruling on summary judgment, and, ultimately, severe liquidity constraints.

On June 4, 2023 (the "Petition Date"), the Debtors commenced the Chapter 11 Cases in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the "Bankruptcy Court"). The Debtors did not take lightly the decision to commence these eChapter 11 eCases, and they have worked for several years to explore and execute alternative out-of-court restructuring transactions in an effort to maximize value for all stakeholders.

¹ Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in this Disclosure Statement have the meaning given to them in the Plan.

Once the Debtors realized that Filing for chapter 11 protection was inevitable, they immediately began engaging with their secured lenders regarding holistic restructuring transactions to be effectuated through a chapter 11 process, which would include a potential debtor-in-possession financing facility and stalking horse bids for substantially all the assets of each of PGX and Lexington Law.

Although aligned on the general guiding principles, the Debtors, Prepetition First Lien Lenders, and Prospect Capital Corporation ("Prospect"), in its capacity as a majority equity holder and agent to the Prepetition Second Lien Lenders, engaged in a series of negotiations to implement a comprehensive restructuring transaction. While tenuous at times, these hard-fought negotiations ultimately proved fruitful. On June 4, 2023, the Debtors, each of the Prepetition First Lien Lenders, and Prospect (in its capacity as agent to the Prepetition Second Lien Lenders and majority equity holder) executed a restructuring support agreement (the "Restructuring Support Agreement"). As contemplated by the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Debtors commenced these echapter 11 ecases to execute value-maximizing section 363 sales to sell the Debtors' assets free and clear of all Claims and Interests, followed by a liquidating chapter 11 plan.

As contemplated by the Restructuring Support Agreement, on June 6, 2023, the Debtors Filed a motion seeking Bankruptcy Court approval of the Bidding Procedures for a sale of all or substantially all of the Debtors' assets pursuant to section 363 of the Bankruptcy Code. The Committee initially objected to the Bidding Procedures, but with withdrew its objection after reaching a Global Settlement with the Debtors, Prepetition First Lien Lenders, and Prepetition Second Lien Lenders, which provides mechanisms for unsecured creditors to receive value from a portion of the prepetition lenders' collateral The Bankruptcy Court approved the Bidding Procedures on August 4, 2023 [Docket No. 331] (the "Bidding Procedures Order"), which, among other things, established the Bid Deadline (as defined in the Bidding Procedures) as August 11, 2023 at 5:00 p.m., prevailing Eastern Time and set the Auction (as defined in the Bidding Procedures), if necessary, for August 15, 2023 at 5:00 p.m., prevailing Eastern Time. Additionally, the Bidding Procedures Order approved the entry into two separate stalking horse purchase agreements with (a) PGX Asset BidCoProgrexion Purchaser for substantially all of the assets of PGX; and (b) AcquisitionCoLexington Law Purchaser for substantially all of the assets of Lexington Law, against which higher or otherwise better offers may be sought, providing a clear path to consummate a transaction. The stalking horse purchase agreements arewere a part of a market-tested sale process as they set the floor for a competitive bidding process and ensured that the Debtors obtained the highest or otherwise best offer, or combination of offers, for the business or some or all of their assets. Ultimately, however, despite the efforts of the Debtors and their advisors, the Debtors did not receive any Bids that were more favorable than the stalking horse purchase agreements. Accordingly, the Debtors cancelled the auction and will seeksought approval of the sale transactions contemplated by the stalking horse agreements. See [Docket No. 365].

A hearing was set on August 25, 2023 before the Bankruptcy Court to consider approval of the Debtors' entry into and performance under both stalking horse purchase agreements (the "Sale Hearing"). The CFPB Filed an objection to the proposed sales and a motion to convert the Chapter 11 Cases to a chapter 7 liquidation under the Bankruptcy Code. *See* [Docket Nos. 233, 375]. The Debtors Filed responsive pleadings to the CFPB's conversion motion and sale objection. *See* [Docket Nos. 369, 391]. After extensive negotiations with the CFPB by the Debtors, Prepetition First Lien Lenders, Prepetition Second Lien Lenders, and the DIP Lenders, a consensual settlement was reached to resolve the CFPB's sale objection, conversion motion, and the prepetition CFPB Litigation. This CFPB Settlement was announced at the Sale Hearing and memorialized in the CFPB Settlement Order that was entered by the United States District Court for the District of Utah (the "District Court"). *See* [CFPB Docket No. 600]. Accordingly, the Bankruptcy Court approved the Debtors' entry into and performance under both stalking horse agreements, along with the terms of the Sale Orders. *See* [Docket Nos. 422–423]. Since the entry of the Sale Orders, the Debtors, the Purchasers, and their respective professionals have been

working to consummate the contemplated sales for substantially all of the Debtors' assets (together, the "Sale Transaction").

Subsequent to the contemplated sales for all or substantially all of the Debtors' assets being consummated (together, the "consummation of the Sale Transaction"), subject to Bankruptcy Court approval, the Debtors propose to liquidate their remaining assets under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. Under chapter 11, a debtor may reorganize or liquidate its business for the benefit of its stakeholders. The consummation of a going-concern transaction followed by an orderly liquidation is the principal objective of these Chapter 11 Cases.

The primary objective of the Plan is to maximize value for all Holders of Allowed Claims and Allowed Interests and generally to distribute all property of the Estates that is or becomes available for distribution generally in accordance with the priorities established by the Bankruptcy Code. The Debtors believe that the Plan accomplishes this objective and is in the best interest of the Estates.

Generally speaking, the Plan:

- provides the vesting of certain assets following the Sale Transactions in the Wind-Down Debtor or Creditor Trust, as applicable, for the purpose of distribution to Holders of Claims;
- provides for distributions to go-forward trade creditors from the Prepetition First Lien and Second Lien Lenders' collateral;
- provides for the issuance of PIK Notes by the Purchaser of PGX's assets for the benefit of general unsecured creditors;
- designates a Plan Administrator to wind down the Debtors' affairs, pay, and reconcile Claims, and administer the Plan in an efficient manner; and
- contemplates recoveries to Holders of Administrative Claims and Other Priority Claims as is necessary to satisfy section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code.

The Debtors believe that Confirmation of the Plan will avoid the lengthy delay and significant cost of liquidation under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.

The Debtors believe that the Plan maximizes stakeholder recoveries in the Chapter 11 Cases as any alternative to a going-concern sale would materially reduce recoveries to Holders of Claims. Accordingly, the Debtors urge all Holders of Claims entitled to vote to accept the Plan by returning their ballots so that Kurtzman Carson Consultants LLC,² the Debtors' claims and noticing agent (the "Claims and Noticing Agent"), actually receives such ballots by October [20], 2023, at 4:00 p.m. prevailing Eastern Time (the "Voting Deadline"). Assuming the Plan receives the requisite acceptances, the Debtors will seek the Bankruptcy Court's approval of the Plan at the Confirmation Hearing.

3

The Bankruptcy Court approved the Debtors' retention of Kurtzman Carson Consultants LLC as the Claims and Noticing Agent on June 6, 2023 [Docket No. 56].

III. QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS REGARDING THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND THE PLAN

A. What is chapter 11?

Chapter 11 is the principal business reorganization chapter of the Bankruptcy Code. In addition to permitting debtor rehabilitation, chapter 11 promotes equality of treatment for similarly-situated creditors and similarly-situated equity interest holders, subject to the priority of distributions prescribed by the Bankruptcy Code.

The commencement of a chapter 11 case creates an estate that comprises all of the legal and equitable interests of the debtor as of the date the chapter 11 case is commenced. The Bankruptcy Code provides that the debtor may continue to operate its business and remain in possession of its property as a "debtor in possession."

Consummating a chapter 11 plan is the principal objective of a chapter 11 case. A bankruptcy court's confirmation of a chapter 11 plan binds the debtor, any person acquiring property under the plan, any creditor or equity interest holder of the debtor (whether or not such creditor or equity interest holder voted to accept the plan), and any other entity as may be ordered by the bankruptcy court. Subject to certain limited exceptions, the order issued by a bankruptcy court confirming a plan provides for the treatment of the debtor's liabilities in accordance with the terms of the confirmed plan.

B. Why are the Debtors sending me this Disclosure Statement?

The Debtors are seeking to obtain Bankruptcy Court approval of the Plan. Before soliciting acceptances of the Plan, section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code requires the Debtors to prepare a disclosure statement containing adequate information of a kind, and in sufficient detail, to enable a hypothetical reasonable investor to make an informed judgment regarding acceptance of the Plan and to share such disclosure statement with all holders of claims or interests whose votes on the Plan are being solicited. This Disclosure Statement is being submitted in accordance with these requirements.

C. Am I entitled to vote on the Plan?

Your ability to vote on, and your distribution (if any) under, the Plan depends on what type of Claim or Interest you hold and whether you held that Claim or Interest as of the Voting Record Date. Each category of Holders of Claims or Interests, as set forth in Article III of the Plan pursuant to section 1122(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, is referred to as a "Class." Each Class's respective voting status is set forth below:

Class	Claim/Interest	Status	Voting Rights
1	Secured Tax Claims	Unimpaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Presumed to Accept)
2	Other Secured Claims	Unimpaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Presumed to Accept)
3	Other Priority Claims	Unimpaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Presumed to Accept)
4	Prepetition First Lien Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
5	Prepetition Second Lien Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
6A	Continuing Trade Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote

6B	Other General Unsecured Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
6C	Litigation Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
6D	CFPB Claim	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
7	Intercompany Claims	Unimpaired / Impaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Presumed to Accept or Deemed to Reject)
8	Intercompany Interests	Unimpaired / Impaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Presumed to Accept or Deemed to Reject)
9	Interests in PGX	Impaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Deemed to Reject)
10	Interests in Lexington Law Firm	Impaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Deemed to Reject)
11	510(b) Claims	Impaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Deemed to Reject)

D. What will I receive from the Debtors if the Plan is consummated?

The following chart provides a summary of the anticipated recovery to Holders of Claims or Interests under the Plan. Any estimates of Claims or Interests in this Disclosure Statement may vary from the final amounts allowed by the Bankruptcy Court. Your ability to receive distributions under the Plan depends on the ability of the Debtors to obtain Confirmation and meet the conditions necessary to consummate the Plan.

Each Holder of an Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest, as applicable, shall receive under the Plan, except to the extent that such Holder agrees to less favorable treatment, the treatment described below in full and final satisfaction, compromise, settlement, and release of, and in exchange for, such Holder's Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest. Unless otherwise indicated, the Holder of an Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest, as applicable, shall receive such treatment on the later of the Effective Date and the date such Holder's Claim or Interest becomes an Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter.

THE PROJECTED RECOVERIES SET FORTH IN THE TABLE BELOW ARE ESTIMATES ONLY AND THEREFORE ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE. FOR A COMPLETE DESCRIPTION OF THE DEBTORS' CLASSIFICATION AND TREATMENT OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS, REFERENCE SHOULD BE MADE TO THE ENTIRE PLAN.

	SUMMARY OF EXPECTED RECOVERIES					
Class	Claim/Equity Interest	Treatment of Claim/Equity Interest	Projected Amount of Claims	Projected Recovery		
1	Secured Tax Claims	Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Secured Tax Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, compromise, settlement, and release of and in exchange for such Secured Tax Claim, on or as soon as reasonably practicable after the later to occur of (i) the Effective Date and (ii) the date such Claim becomes Allowed (or as otherwise set forth in the Plan), each Holder of a Secured Tax Claim shall receive, at the option of the Plan Administrator: (i) payment in full in Cash of such Holder's Allowed Secured Tax Claim, or (ii)	N/A	N/A		

5

	SUMMARY OF EXPECTED RECOVERIES Projected Proj				
Class	Claim/Equity Interest	Treatment of Claim/Equity Interest	Amount of Claims	Projected Recovery	
		equal semi-annual Cash payments commencing as of the Effective Date or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter and continuing for five years, in an aggregate amount equal to such Allowed Secured Tax Claim, together with interest at the applicable non-default rate under non-bankruptcy law, subject to the option of the Plan Administrator to prepay the entire amount of such Allowed Secured Tax Claim during such time period.			
2	Other Secured Claims	Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Other Secured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, compromise, settlement, and release of and in exchange for such Allowed Other Secured Claim, on or as soon as reasonably practicable after the Effective Date, in full and final satisfaction, compromise, settlement, and release of and in exchange for such Allowed Other Secured Claim, each Holder of an Allowed Other Secured Claim shall receive, at the option of the applicable Debtor or Wind-Down Debtor: (i) payment in full in Cash of such Holder's Allowed Other Secured Claim; (ii) the collateral securing such Holder's Allowed Other Secured Claim; (iii) Reinstatement of such Holder's Allowed Other Secured Claim; or (iv) such other treatment rendering such Holder's Allowed Other Secured Claim Unimpaired.	N/A	N/A	
3	Other Priority Claims	Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Other Priority Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, compromise, settlement, and release of and in exchange for such Allowed Other Priority Claim, on or as soon as reasonably practicable after the later to occur of (i) the Effective Date and (ii) the date such Claim becomes Allowed (or as otherwise set forth in the Plan), each Holder of an Administrative, Priority or Priority Tax Claim will either be satisfied in full, in Cash, or otherwise receive treatment consistent with the provisions of section 1129(a)(9) of the Bankruptcy Code.	N/A	N/A	
4	Prepetition First	Except to the extent that a Holder of a Prepetition	219.78	88. <mark>76%4</mark>	
3 Th	Lien Claims e projected amount of 6 approximately \$262.46 d (ii) the \$2.9 million tr	First Lien Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, lass 4 Prepetition First Lien Claims has been adjusted from the million to \$219.78 million to account for (i) the \$39.9 million to account for (ii) the \$39.9 million in the same from th	million ³ coriginal total prep roll-up into the sup to the superpriority	etition amount perpriority DIP DIP.	

⁴ For the avoidance of doubt, the projected recovery for Holders of Class 4 Prepetition First Lien Claims reflects the Prepetition First Lien Lenders' approximately \$194.8 million portion of the aggregate purchase price (calculated by subtracting the approximately \$62.7 million credit bid related to the DIP from the aggregate purchase price of \$257.5 million).

		SUMMARY OF EXPECTED RECOVERIES		
Class	Claim/Equity Interest	Treatment of Claim/Equity Interest	Projected Amount of Claims	Projected Recovery
		Administrative and Priority Claims and Other		
		Priority Claims and funding of the Wind-Down		
		Budget, in full and final satisfaction, compromise,		
		settlement, release, and discharge of its Claim		
		(unless the applicable Holder agrees to alless		
		favorable treatment), the Holders of Prepetition First		
		Lien Claims shall receive be entitled to their Pro Rata		
		share of the Distributable Proceeds, if any, up to the		
		Allowed amount of such Prepetition First Lien		
		Claims, less the Credit Bid Amount; provided that		
		the Prepetition First Lien Deficiency Claims shall be		
		subordinated and junior to all Other Allowed General Unsecured Claims for purposes of distributions under		
		the Plan; <i>provided</i> , <i>further</i> that such subordination		
		shall be capped at \$10 million (including distributed)		
		to Holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims		
		under the Plan (which distribution shall include, for		
		the avoidance of doubt, the GUC Trade Settlement		
		Cash Reserve and any Other Assets subsequently		
		monetized pursuant to the terms and conditions of		
		the Creditor Trust) distributed to Other GUC		
		Claimants under the Plan, after which the Prepetition		
		Secured Lenders shall receive their pPro Rata share		
		of any distribution to Holders of Other General		
		Unsecured Claims on account of such Deficiency		
		Claims (except for any distribution on account of the		
		PIK Notes) and shall constitute Other GUC		
		Claimants on account of such Prepetition First Lien		
		Deficiency Claims.		
		Except to the extent that a Holder of a Prepetition		
		First Lien Claim agrees to less favorable		
		treatment, in the event the Sale Transaction is		
		not a Credit Bid Transaction, after payment in		
		full in Cash of all Administrative and Priority		
		Claims and Other Priority Claims and funding of		
		the Wind Down Budget, the Holders of		
		Prepetition First Lien Claims shall be entitled to		
		their Pro Rata share of the Distributable		
		Proceeds, if any, up to the Allowed amount of		
		such Prepetition First Lien Claims; provided that		
		the Prepetition First Lien Deficiency Claims		
		shall be subordinated and junior to all Other General Unsecured Claims for purposes of		
		distributions under the Plan; provided, further		
		that such subordination shall be capped at \$10		
		million (including Other Assets subsequently		
		monetized pursuant to the terms and conditions		
		of the Creditor Trust) distributed to Other GUC		
		Claimants under the Plan, after which the		
		Prepetition Secured Lenders shall receive their		

Claim/Equity Interest	Treatment of Claim/Equity Interest	Projected Amount of Claims	Projected Recovery
	pro rata share of any distribution to Holders of Other General Unsecured Claims on account of such Deficiency Claims (except for any distribution on account of the PIK Notes) and shall constitute Other GUC Claimants on account of such Deficiency Claims.		
petition Second Lien Claims	Except to the extent that a Holder of a Prepetition Second Lien Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in the event the Sale Transaction is not a Credit Bid Transaction, after After payment in full in Cash of all Administrative and Priority Claims, Other Priority Claims, and Prepetition First Lien Claims, and funding of the Wind-Down Budget, in full and final satisfaction, compromise, settlement, release; and discharge of its Claim— (unless the applicable Holder agrees to less favorable treatment), the Holders of Prepetition Second Lien Claims shall receive be entitled to their Pro Rata share of the Distributable Proceeds, if any, up to the Allowed amount of such Prepetition Second Lien Claims, less the Credit Bid Amount; provided that the Prepetition Second Lien Deficiency Claims shall be subordinated and junior to all Other Allowed General Unsecured Claims for purposes of distributions under the Plan; provided, further that such subordination shall be capped at \$10 million (distributed to Holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims under the Plan (which distribution shall include, for the avoidance of doubt, the GUC Trade Settlement Cash Reserve and including any Other Assets subsequently monetized pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Creditor Trust) distributed to Other GUC Claimants under the Plan, after which the Prepetition Secured Lenders shall receive their pPro rRata share of any distribution to Holders of Other General Unsecured Claims on account of such Deficiency Claims (except for any distribution on account of the PIK Notes) and shall constitute Other GuC Claimants on account of such Deficiency Claims. Except to the extent that a Holder of a Prepetition Second Lien Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in the event the Sale Transaction is a	\$184.5 million	0%
	Interest petition Second	pro rata share of any distribution to Holders of Other General Unsecured Claims on account of such Deficiency Claims (except for any distribution on account of the PIK Notes) and shall constitute Other GUC Claimants on account of such Deficiency Claims. Except to the extent that a Holder of a Prepetition Second Lien Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in the event the Sale Transaction is not a Credit Bid Transaction, afterAfter payment in full in Cash of all Administrative and Priority Claims, Other Priority Claims, and Prepetition First Lien Claims, and funding of the Wind-Down Budget, in full and final satisfaction, compromise, settlement, release; and discharge of its Claim,—(unless the applicable Holder agrees to less favorable treatment), the Holders of Prepetition Second Lien Claims shall receivebe entitled to their Pro Rata share of the Distributable Proceeds, if any, up to the Allowed amount of such Prepetition Second Lien Claims, less the Credit Bid Amount; provided that the Prepetition Second Lien Deficiency Claims shall be subordinated and junior to all OtherAllowed General Unsecured Claims for purposes of distributions under the Plan; provided, further that such subordination shall be capped at \$10 million (distributed to Holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims under the Plan (which distribution shall include, for the avoidance of doubt, the GUC Trade Settlement Cash Reserve and including any Other Assets subsequently monetized pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Creditor Trust) distributed to Other GuC Claimants under the Plan, after which the Prepetition Secured Lenders shall receive their ppro agata share of any distribution to Holders of Other General Unsecured Claims on account of such Deficiency Claims (except for any distribution on account of the PIK Notes) and shall constitute Other GUC Claimants on account of such Deficiency Claims (except for any distribution on account of the PIK Notes) and shall constitute Other GUC Claimants on account of such Deficiency Claims. Exc	Interest Treatment of Claim/Equity Interest Description Description Except to the extent that a Holder of a Prepetition Second Lien Claims Except to the extent that a Holder of a Prepetition Second Lien Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in the event the Sale Transaction is not a Credit Bid Transaction, after After payment in full in Cash of all Administrative and Priority Claims, Other Priority Claims, and Prepetition First Lien Claims, and funding of the Wind-Down Budget, in full and final satisfaction, compromise, settlement, release, and discharge of its Claim—(unless the applicable Holder agrees to less favorable treatment), the Holders of Prepetition Second Lien Claims, shall receivebe entitled to their Pro Rata share of the Distributable Proceeds, if any. up to the Allowed amount of such Prepetition Second Lien Claims, less the Credit Bid Amount; provided that the Prepetition Second Lien Deficiency Claims shall be subordinated and junior to all Other Allowed General Unsecured Claims for purposes of distribution under the Plan; provided, further that such subordination shall be capped at \$10 million (distributed to Holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims under the Plan (which distribution shall include, for the avoidance of doubt, the GUC Trade Settlement Cash Reserve and including any Other Assets subsequently monetized pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Creditor Trust) distributed to Other GUC Claimants under the Plan, after which the Prepetition Secured Lenders shall receive their pPro agata share of any distribution to Holders of Other General Unsecured Claims on account of such Deficiency Claims (except for any distribution on account of the PIK Notes) and shall constitute Other GUC Claimants on account of such Deficiency Claims. Except to the extent that a Holder of a Prepetition Second Lien Claim agrees to less favorable

	SUMMARY OF EXPECTED RECOVERIES			
Class	Claim/Equity Interest	Treatment of Claim/Equity Interest	Projected Amount of Claims	Projected Recovery
		Second Lien Claims, less the Credit Bid Amount; provided that the Prepetition Second Lien Deficiency Claims shall be subordinated and junior to all Other General Unsecured Claims for purposes of distributions under the Plan; provided, further that such subordination shall be capped at \$10 million (including Other Assets subsequently monetized pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Creditor Trust) distributed to Other GUC Claimants under the Plan, after which the Prepetition Secured Lenders shall receive their pro rata share of any distribution to Holders of Other General Unsecured Claims on account of such Deficiency Claims (except for any distribution on account of the PIK Notes) and shall constitute Other GUC Claimants on account of such Deficiency Claims.		
6A	Continuing Trade Claims	Except to the extent that a Holder of a Continuing Trade Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, on the Effective Date, in full and final satisfaction, compromise, settlement, and release of and in exchange for such Allowed Continuing Trade Claim, each Holder of an Allowed Continuing Trade Claim who has not otherwise been paid in full under the Critical Vendor Order shall be paid in Cash its Pro Rata share of (i) cash in the amount of \$3.25 million; (ii) the unused Wind-Down Budget; and (iii) Unused Critical Vendor Cash.	\$32.09 million - \$6.4 million	51% – 100%
6B	Other General Unsecured Claims	Except to the extent that a Holder of an Other General Unsecured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment (including but not limited to the subordination of Deficiency Claims, as set forth in the Plan), in full and final satisfaction, compromise, settlement, and release of and in exchange for such Other General Unsecured Claim, each Holder of an Allowed Other General Unsecured Claim shall receive its Pro Rata share of the beneficial interest in the Creditor Trust and as beneficiary of the Creditor Trust shall receive, on a distribution date, its Pro Rata share of net Cash derived from the Creditor Trust Assets available for distribution on each such distribution data as provided under the Plan and Creditor Trust Agreement, including: (i) [a portion of \$700,000 the GUC Litigation Claims Settlement Cash (as allocated by the Committee)] in its sole discretion and to be disclosed in the Plan Supplement); (ii) the PIK Notes; (iii) proceeds of Other Assets; and (iv) the Excess Distributable Cash, if any (collectively, the "Other General Unsecured Claim Proceeds"); provided that if Class 6C	\$26.73 million - \$1389.76 million	≤1% - 5011%

	SUMMARY OF EXPECTED RECOVERIES				
Class	Claim/Equity Interest	Treatment of Claim/Equity Interest	Projected Amount of Claims	Projected Recovery	
		(Litigation Claims) is an accepting Class, the Committee, in its sole discretion, may allocate to Holders of such claims a portion of the GUC Litigation Claims Settlement Cash that would otherwise have been distributed to Class 6B (Other General Unsecured Claims). If Class 6C is an accepting Class, Eexcept to the			
6C	Litigation Claims	extent that a Holder of a Litigation Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, compromise, settlement, and release of and in exchange for such Litigation Claim, each Holder of a Litigation Claim shall receive its Pro Rata share of up to \$[•]a portion of the GUC Litigation Claims Settlement Cash (as allocated by the Committee in its sole discretion and to be disclosed in the Plan Supplement); provided that, if the Class of Litigation Claims is not an accepting Class, then such Holders of Litigation Claims shall receive their Pro Rata share of the Other General Unsecured Claim Proceeds on a pari passu basis as Holders of Other General Unsecured Claims.	\$ 0 \$ 18 9 .4 <u>5</u> million	<u>0</u> <u>1</u> % - < <u>1</u> <u>4</u> %	
6D	CFPB Claim	Except to the extent that the Holder of the CFPB Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, compromise, settlement, and release of and in exchange for such CFPB Claim, the Holder of the CFPB Claim shall receive \$50,000 of the GUC Litigation Claims Settlement Cash.	\$2.7 billion	<1%	
7	Intercompany Claims	Allowed Intercompany Claims, to the extent not assumed pursuant to the terms of the Sale Orders, shall, at the election of the applicable Debtor, be (a) Reinstated, (b) converted to equity, (c) otherwise set off, settled, distributed, contributed, cancelled, or released, or (d) otherwise addressed at the option of the Wind Down Debtor without any distribution; provided, however, that such election shall not adversely affect the treatment provided to Classes 6A, 6B, 6C, and 6D.	N/A	0% or 100%	
8	Intercompany Interests	Allowed Intercompany Interests shall, at the election of the applicable Debtor, be (a) Reinstated or (b) set off, settled, addressed, distributed, contributed, merged, cancelled, or released, or (c) otherwise addressed at the option of the Wind Down Debtor without any distribution; <i>provided</i> , <i>however</i> , such election shall not adversely affect the treatment provided to Classes 6A, 6B, 6C, and 6D.	N/A	0% or 100%	
9	Interests in PGX	Interests in PGX shall be discharged, canceled, released, and extinguished as of the Effective Date, and will be of no further force or effect, and Holders	N/A	0%	

	SUMMARY OF EXPECTED RECOVERIES				
Class	Claim/Equity Interest	Treatment of Claim/Equity Interest	Projected Amount of Claims	Projected Recovery	
		of Interests in PGX will not receive any distribution on account of such Interests.			
10	Interests in Lexington Law Firm	Interests in Lexington Law Firm shall be discharged, canceled, released, and extinguished as of the Effective Date, and will be of no further force or effect, and Holders of Interests in Lexington Law Firm will not receive any distribution on account of such Interests.	N/A	0%	
11	510(b) Claims	Allowed Section 510(b) Claims, if any, shall be discharged, canceled, released, and extinguished as of the Effective Date, and will be of no further force or effect, and Holders of Allowed Section 510(b) Claims will not receive any distribution on account of such Allowed Section 510(b) Claims.	N/A	0%	

E. What happens to my recovery if the Plan is not confirmed or does not go effective?

In the event that the Plan is not confirmed or does not go effective, the Chapter 11 Cases may be converted to cases under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code, pursuant to which a trustee would be elected or appointed to liquidate the assets of the Debtors for distribution in accordance with the priorities established by the Bankruptcy Code, and in the alternative, the Chapter 11 Cases may be dismissed. Conversion to chapter 7 would require the Debtors to incur expenses related to the chapter 7 trustee and additional retained professionals, and such expenses may decrease recoveries for Holders of Allowed Claims in the Voting Classes. See, e.g., 11 U.S.C. §§ 326(a); 503(b)(2). The conversion to chapter 7 would require entry of a new bar date, which may increase the amount of Allowed Claims and thereby reduce Pro Rata recoveries. See Fed. R. Bankr. P. 1019(2), 3002(c). Either alternative will bring additional risks and uncertainties.

F. If the Plan provides that I get a distribution, do I get it upon Confirmation or when the Plan goes effective, and what is meant by "Confirmation," "Effective Date," and "Consummation?"

"Confirmation" of the Plan refers to the Bankruptcy Court's entry of the Confirmation Order on the docket of the Chapter 11 Cases approving the Plan. Confirmation of the Plan does not guarantee that you will receive the distribution indicated under the Plan. After Confirmation of the Plan by the Bankruptcy Court, there are conditions that need to be satisfied or waived so that the Plan can "go effective." Distributions to Holders of Allowed Claims will only be made on the date the Plan becomes effective—the "Effective Date"—or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, as specified in the Plan. See Article X of this Disclosure Statement, entitled "Confirmation of the Plan," for a discussion of the conditions precedent to consummation of the Plan. "Consummation" means the occurrence of the Effective Date.

G. What are the sources of Cash and other consideration required to fund the Plan?

The As part of the Global Settlement, the Debtors and Wind-Down Debtor, as applicable, shall fund the distributions and obligations under the Plan with Available Cash set forth in the Wind-Down

Budget and proceeds of certain assets, as applicable, on the Effective Date. Pursuant to the Sale Orders, the DIP Claims have been satisfied in full in connection with the Sale Transaction.

H. Is there potential litigation related to the Plan?

Parties in interest may object to Confirmation of the Plan, which objections potentially could give rise to litigation.

In the event that it becomes necessary to confirm the Plan over the rejection of certain Classes, the Debtors may seek confirmation of the Plan notwithstanding the dissent of such rejecting Classes. The Bankruptcy Court may confirm the Plan pursuant to the "cramdown" provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, which allow the Bankruptcy Court to confirm a plan that has been rejected by an impaired Class if it determines that the Plan satisfies section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code. *See* Article VIII.A.4 of this Disclosure Statement, entitled "The Debtors May Not Be Able to Secure Confirmation of the Plan."

I. Will the final amount of Allowed Other General Unsecured Claims affect the recovery of Holders of Allowed Other General Unsecured Claims under the Plan?

The Debtors' estimate of aggregate Allowed Other General Unsecured Claims ranges from approximately \$2.7 million to \$13.7 million.

Although the Debtors' estimate of Allowed Other General Unsecured Claims is generally the result of the Debtors' and their advisors' analysis of reasonably available information, the projected amount of Other General Unsecured Claims set forth herein is subject to material change (either higher or lower), which difference could materially affect Class 6B recoveries, and reflects the Debtors' current view on potential rejection damages. Any change in the number, identity, or timing of actual rejected Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases could have a material impact on the amount of Other General Unsecured Claims. To the extent that the actual amount of rejection damages Claims changes, the value of recoveries to Holders of Other General Unsecured Claims could change as well, and such changes could be material.

As of the Petition Date, certain Debtors were parties to the litigation initiated by CFPB before the United States District Court for the District of Utah (the "District Court"), where the CFPB alleged that certain Debtors committed certain violations of federal consumer protection law through operation of their consumer assistance and credit repair business. The Debtors could also become parties to additional litigation in the future. Although the Debtors have disputed, are disputing, or will dispute in the future the amounts asserted by the CFPB and other litigation counterparties, to the extent these parties are ultimately entitled to a higher amount than is reflected in the amounts estimated by the Debtors herein, the value of recoveries to Holders of General Unsecured Claims could change as well, and such changes could be material.

The Debtors may also reject Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases, which may result in parties asserting General Unsecured Claims for rejection damages. Finally, the Debtors may object to certain Proofs of Claim, and any such objections ultimately could cause the total amount of Allowed Other General Unsecured Claims to change. These changes could affect recoveries to Holders of Other General Unsecured Claims, and such changes could be material.

J. Will there be releases and exculpation granted to parties in interest as part of the Plan?

Yes. The Plan proposes to release the Released Parties and to exculpate the Exculpated Parties. The Debtors' releases, third-party releases, and exculpation provisions included in the Plan are an

integral part of the Debtors' chapter 11 efforts and were an essential element of the negotiations among the Debtors, the Consenting Lenders, the DIP Lenders, and the statutory committee of unsecured creditors (the "Committee") in obtaining their support for the Plan.

The Released Parties and the Exculpated Parties have made substantial and valuable contributions to the Debtors' chapter 11 process through efforts to negotiate and implement the Plan, which will maximize the value of the Debtors' estates for the benefit of all parties in interest. Accordingly, each of the Released Parties and the Exculpated Parties warrants the benefit of the release and exculpation provisions. Importantly, each of the Releasing Parties will be deemed to have expressly, unconditionally, generally, individually, and collectively released and discharged all Claims and Causes of Action against the Debtors and the Released Parties.

The Releasing Parties are each of, and in each case in its capacity as such: (a) the Debtors; (b) the Wind-Down Debtor; (c) the Plan Administrator; (d) each Consenting Stakeholder; (e) the Agent; (f) all Holders of Claims; (g) all Holders of Interests; (h) the Purchasers; (i) the Committee and its members (in their capacity as Committee members); (j) the Creditor Trust (including the Creditor Trustee on behalf of the Creditor Trust); (k) each current and former Affiliate of each Entity in clause (a) through the following clause (l); and (l) each Related Party of each Entity in clause (a) through this clause (l) for which such Affiliate or Entity is legally entitled to bind such Related Party to the releases contained in the Plan under applicable law; provided, however, that in each case, an Entity shall not be a Releasing Party if it: (x) elects to opt out of the release contained in the Plan; or (y) timely objects to the Third-Party Release and such objection is not withdrawn before Confirmation.

The Released Parties are each of, and in each case in its capacity as such: (a) the Debtors; (b) the Wind-Down Debtor; (c) the Plan Administrator; (d) each Consenting Stakeholder; (e) the Agent; (f) all Holders of Claims; (g) all Holders of Interests; (h) the Purchaser; (i) the Committee and its members (in their capacity as Committee members); (j) the Creditor Trust (including the Creditor Trustee on behalf of the Creditor Trust); (k) each current and former Affiliate of each Entity in clause (a) through the following clause (l); and (l) each Related Party of each Entity in clause (a) through this clause (l); provided that any Holder of a Claim or Interest that opts out of the releases contained in the Plan shall not be a Released Party.

The Exculpated Parties are: (a) each of the Debtors; (b) the Independent Directors; (c) the Committee and each of its respective members; (d) the Plan Administrator; (e) the Creditor Trustee; (f) each Related Party of the Debtors and (g) with respect to (c), (d), and (e), their respective attorneys, financial advisors, consultants, or other professionals or advisors.

The Debtors believe that the releases and exculpations in the Plan are necessary and appropriate and meet the requisite legal standard promulgated by the United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit. Moreover, the Debtors will present evidence at the Confirmation Hearing to demonstrate the basis for and propriety of the release and exculpation provisions. The release, exculpation, and injunction provisions that are contained in the Plan are copied in Article IV.A.5 of this Disclosure Statement, entitled "Releases."

K. What is the deadline to vote on the Plan?

The Voting Deadline is October [20], 2023, at 4:00 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time).

L. How do I vote for or against the Plan?

Detailed instructions regarding how to vote on the Plan are contained on the ballots distributed to Holders of Claims that are entitled to vote on the Plan. For your vote to be counted, your ballot must be properly completed, executed, and delivered as directed, so that your ballot including your vote is **actually received** by the Debtors' Claims and Noticing Agent **on or before the Voting Deadline, which is October [20], 2023, at 4:00 p.m. prevailing Eastern Time**. See Article IX of this Disclosure Statement, entitled "Solicitation and Voting Procedures."

M. Why is the Bankruptcy Court holding a Confirmation Hearing?

Section 1128(a) of the Bankruptcy Code requires the Bankruptcy Court to hold a hearing on confirmation of the Plan and recognizes that any party in interest may object to Confirmation of the Plan.

N. When is the Confirmation Hearing set to occur?

The Confirmation Hearing is scheduled for October [27], 2023 at [•]:00 p.m10:00 a.m. (prevailing Eastern Time), or such other time as may be scheduled by the Bankruptcy Court. The Confirmation Hearing may be adjourned from time to time without further notice. The Confirmation Hearing is being held on the same day as the hearing to approve the adequacy of this Disclosure Statement.

Objections to Confirmation must be Filed and served on the Debtors, and certain other parties, by no later than October [20], 2023, at 4:00 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time) in accordance with the notice of the Confirmation Hearing that accompanies this Disclosure Statement and the Disclosure Statement Order incorporated herein by reference.

O. What is the purpose of the Confirmation Hearing?

The confirmation of a chapter 11 plan by a bankruptcy court binds the debtor, any person acquiring property under a chapter 11 plan, any creditor or equity interest holder of a debtor, and any other person or entity as may be ordered by the bankruptcy court in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code. Subject to certain limited exceptions, the order issued by the bankruptcy court confirming a chapter 11 plan discharges a debtor from any debt that arose before the confirmation of such chapter 11 plan and provides for the treatment of such debt in accordance with the terms of the confirmed chapter 11 plan.

P. What is the effect of the Plan on the Debtors' ongoing business?

The Debtors are liquidating under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. Following Confirmation, the Plan will be consummated on the Effective Date, which is a date that is the first Business Day after the Confirmation Date on which (i) no stay of the Confirmation Order is in effect and (ii) all conditions precedent to the occurrence of the Effective Date set forth in Article IX of the Plan have been satisfied or waived. On or after the Effective Date, and unless otherwise provided in the Plan, the Plan Administrator will commence the wind down of the Wind-Down Debtor in accordance with the terms of the Plan. Additionally, upon the Effective Date, all actions contemplated by the Plan will be deemed authorized and approved.

Q. Who do I contact if I have additional questions with respect to this Disclosure Statement or the Plan?

If you have any questions regarding this Disclosure Statement or the Plan, please contact the Debtors' Claims and Noticing Agent, Kurtzman Carson Consultants LLC, via one of the following methods:

By regular mail, hand delivery, or overnight mail at: Kurtzman Carson Consultants LLC Re: PGX Holdings, Inc., et al. 222 N. Pacific Coast Highway, Suite 300 El Segundo, CA 90245

By electronic mail at: PGXHoldingsInfo@kccllc.com

By telephone (toll free) at: (888) 249-2721 (Domestic) or +1 (310) 751-2604 (International)

Copies of the Plan, this Disclosure Statement, and any other publicly Filed documents in the Chapter 11 Cases are available upon written request to the Claims and Noticing Agent at the address above or by downloading the exhibits and documents from the website of the Claims and Noticing Agent at https://www.kccllc.net/pgx (free of charge) or the Bankruptcy Court's website at https://www.deb.uscourts.gov/bankruptcy (for a fee).

R. Could subsequent events potentially affect recoveries under the Plan?

Potentially, yes. Recoveries under the Plan are only guaranteed after the Plan is Confirmed and the Effective Date is reached. Any number of subsequent events may interfere with Plan recoveries.

S. Do the Debtors recommend voting in favor of the Plan?

Yes. The Debtors believe that the Plan provides for a larger distribution to the Debtors' creditors and equity holders than would otherwise result from any other available alternative. The Debtors believe that the Plan is in the best interest of all Holders of Claims or Interests, and that any other alternatives (to the extent they exist) fail to realize or recognize the value inherent under the Plan.

IV. THE DEBTORS' PLAN

A. The Plan

As discussed in Article III herein, the Plan contemplates liquidating the Debtors' business and remaining assets under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. The Plan contemplates the following key terms, among others described herein and therein:

1. General Settlement of Claims and Interests

Pursuant to section 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code, Bankruptcy Rule 9019 (as applicable), and in consideration for the classification, distributions, releases, and other benefits provided under the Plan, upon the Effective Date, the provisions of the Plan shall constitute a good faith compromise and settlement of all Claims, Interests, Causes of Action, and controversies released, settled, compromised, or

otherwise resolved pursuant to the Plan, including the terms of the Global Settlement (as defined below) and incorporates the terms of the Global Settlement Term Sheet, as further modified herein. The Plan shall be deemed a motion to approve the good-faith compromise and settlement of all such Claims, Interests, Causes of Action, and controversies pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 9019, including the Global Settlement, and the entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's approval of such compromise and settlement under section 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 9019, as well as a finding by the Bankruptcy Court that such settlement and compromise is fair, equitable, reasonable, and in the best interests of the Debtors and their Estates. Subject to Article VI of the Plan, all distributions made to Holders of Allowed Claims and Allowed Interests (as applicable) in any Class are intended to be and shall be final.

2. Global Settlement with the Committee

Since the appointment of the Committee on June 16, 2023, the Debtors have worked with the Committee, the Consenting Lenders, and the DIP Lenders in extensive negotiations in an attempt to reach a global settlement of certain issues raised by the Committee that are central to these Chapter 11 Cases (the "Global Settlement"). To a significant extent, these issues were embodied in the Committee's objections to the entry of the Bidding Procedures Order, the DIP Order, and the retention of Greenhill. See [Docket Nos. 322, 331, 332]. After several weeks of discovery and negotiations, the parties reached a global settlement in principle that was announced at a hearing before the Bankruptcy Court on July 31, 2023, the term sheet of which was attached as Exhibit C to the DIP Order. For the avoidance of doubt, the Global Settlement, as implemented in the terms of the Plan, is subject to the Bankruptcy Court's approval.

The main points of the Global Settlement are as follows:

Payments for Continuing Trade Claimants. First, the Global Settlement provides that prepetition Claims held by the Company's go-forward vendors, trade Claimants, service providers, and professionals that are not fully paid as Critical Vendors (as defined in the *Final Order (I) Authorizing Debtors to Pay Certain Prepetition Claims of Critical Vendors and (II) Granting Related Relief* [Docket No. 225]) (collectively, the "Continuing Trade Claimants"), will be paid and satisfied on a pro rata basis from the aggregate of (i) \$3.25 million Cash consideration contributed by the Prepetition First and Second Lien Lenders from their collateral following the Sale (the "GUC Trade Settlement Cash") and (ii) the unused Wind-Down Budget. Further, the Debtors shall make all payments under the Critical Vendor Order as set forth in the Approved Budget in the amount of \$3.624 million, provided that, any amount of the \$3.624 million not used will be available for distribution to the Continuing Trade Claimants.

Payments for Litigation Claimants. The Global Settlement also provides that a portion of the \$750,000 that constitutes the GUC Litigation Claims Settlement Cash (of which \$50,000 will be paid on account of the CFPB Claim as set forth in **Error! Reference source not found.** Article III of the Plan) will be available as recovery for Litigation Claimants (the "<u>Litigation Portion</u>").

Payments for Other GUC Claimants. Any GUC Trade Settlement Cash left over after Continuing Trade Claimants are paid, and a portion of the GUC Litigation Claims Settlement Cash which will be allocated by the Committee, will be used to satisfy Allowed Claims of those Holders of General Unsecured Claims who are not Continuing Trade Claimants or Litigation Claimants (the "Other GUC Claimants"). Moreover, Other GUC Claimants will also receive their Pro Rata share of the beneficial interest in the Creditor Trust and as beneficiary of the Creditor Trust shall receive, on a distribution date, their pro rata share of net Cash derived from the Creditor Trust Assets available for distribution on each such distribution date as provided under the Plan and Creditor Trust Agreement, including: (i) their pro rata share of the PIK Notes held for their benefit in the Creditor Trust, which are two tranches of subordinated, unsecured notes to be issued by the Buyer (as defined in the Progrexion APA) of the assets

of the Sellers (as defined in the Progression APA) Purchaser or a subsidiary thereto pursuant to the Sale Transaction related to the Progression APA, and each of which will be in the principal amount of \$250,000 and accruing at a 5% yearly PIK interest, and (ii) their pro rata share of the proceeds of the Sellers' assets that are excluded from the Sale Transaction (the "Other Assets").

Establishment of a Creditor Trust. To monetize these assets and maximize recoveries available to Other GUC Claimants resulting from these assets, the Debtors will also establish a creditor trust (the "Creditor Trust") with \$100,000 of their Cash on hand, the PIK Notes discussed above, the Other Assets, any Excess Distributable Cash, and [a portion of \$750,000] to beGUC Litigation Claims Settlement Cash (as allocated by the Committee). The Creditor Trust will be responsible for taking such measures as pursuing the monetization of the Other Assets and collecting amounts due under or realizing upon the PIK Notes and will hold the PIK Notes for distribution. The specific terms governing the Creditor Trust will be determined by the Committee, and the responsibilities of the Creditor Trust and the Creditor Trustee are further described in Article IV.B.5 of this Disclosure Statement.

Plan Treatment of Certain Deficiency Claims. The Global Settlement provides that all deficiency Claims of the Consenting Lenders, including all Claims of the Consenting Prepetition Second Lien Lenders (collectively, the "Deficiency Claims"), will be subordinated and junior to the Claims of all Other GUC Claimants for purposes of distributions under the Plan; provided that such subordination shall be capped at \$10 million (including the assets that will be subsequently monetized pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Creditor Trust) distributed to General Unsecured Creditors under the Plan, after which the Consenting Prepetition Second Lien Lenders will receive their Pro Rata share of any distribution to a Holder of Other General Unsecured Claims on account of such Deficiency Claims (except for any distribution on account of the PIK Notes) and shall constitute Other GUC Claimants on account of such Deficiency Claims.

Settlement of Litigation Claims. Any settlement of Litigation Claims under the WARN Act, class action, or other Claims shall be subject to consent of the Committee (not to be unreasonably withheld).

Staying of Committee Litigation. The Global Settlement required the Committee to immediately stay prosecution of all formal and informal discovery and deposition requests that were pending against the Debtors, the Consenting Lenders, the DIP Lenders, or the buyers when the term sheet was executed. The Global Settlement also prevents the Committee from initiating any new formal or informal discovery and/or deposition requests with respect to the Bidding Procedures, sale to the current stalking horse bidders, DIP Motion, and Greenhill Retention Application, with the understanding that the Committee's rights to reasonable requests for information are not impaired or diminished.

Funding of the Wind-Down Budget. The Global Settlement provides that the wind-down of the Debtors' Estates shall be funded in accordance with the budget Filed at [Docket No. 255]. The use of such Wind-Down Budget, however, must be consistent with the Restructuring Support Agreement, consistent with the term sheet of the Global Settlement, and subject to the Committee's consent.

Increase in Committee's Professional Fees. The Global Settlement increased the fees of Professional Fee Escrow Amount for Committee professionals to \$1.6 million through August 1, 2023 (the "Budgeted Amount"), after which the Committee's professionals' fees are Fee Escrow Amount is to be (i) \$300,000 plus (ii) any unused amounts from the Budgeted Amount for the remainder of these Chapter 11 Cases, solely for the purposes of establishing and funding the Carve-Out and paying the Professional Fee Claim to the Committee's Professionals.

No Distribution on Account of Intercompany Claims. Pursuant to the Global Settlement, no distributions will be made under the Plan on account of Intercompany Claims.

In addition to the above core issues, the Global Settlement also provides for terms relating to the drafting and negotiation of the Plan and Disclosure Statement, the Debtors' emergence from bankruptcy, the terms of the DIP Order, the distribution scheme to be followed, and the nature of the support that the Committee would provide to these Chapter 11 Cases.

The Debtors believe that the Global Settlement, and the resolution it provides will facilitate a prompt emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases and a more efficient wind down of the Debtors.

3. The Sale Transaction

On June 6, 2023, the Debtors Filed the Bidding Procedures Motion, a motion seeking, in part, approval of the Bidding Procedures for a sale of all or substantially all of the Debtors' assets pursuant to section 363 of the Bankruptcy Code. After weeks of negotiations with their stakeholders and the resulting Global Settlement, as described above, the Debtors were able to File a certification of counsel on August 3, 2023 [Docket No. 329] describing the objections the Debtors had received with respect to the Bidding Procedures Motion and the resolution of those issues. On August 4, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered the order approving the Bidding Procedures Motion [Docket No. 331].

The Debtors, led by Greenhill & Co., LLC ("Greenhill"), have engaged in a thorough marketing process for the sales of all or substantially all of the Debtors' assets in accordance with the Bidding Procedures. The Debtors' marketing process is described in Article VII.F of this Disclosure Statement, entitled "Bidding Procedures and Marketing Process." The Debtors and their advisors negotiated entry into separate stalking horse purchase agreements with (a) PGX Asset BidCoProgrexion Purchaser for substantially all of the assets of PGX; and (b) AcquisitionCoLexington Law Purchaser for substantially all of the assets of Lexington Law, against which higher or otherwise better offers were sought, providing a clear path to consummate a transaction. The stalking horses set the floor for a competitive bidding process, where topping bids could yield additional value that would inure to the benefit of all stakeholders.

The Debtors believe that the Bidding Procedures allowed the Debtors to seek and elicit the highest or otherwise best Sale Transactions offers.

On August 14, 2023, the Debtors Filed a notice cancelling the Auction, and Filed the proposed Sale Orders with respect to both asset purchase agreements. See Docket No. 356. In advance of a hearing to approve the Sale Transaction, the Debtors negotiated with stakeholders to resolve issues related to the purchase agreements and Sale Orders. On August 25, 2023, the Debtors Filed revised proposed Sale Orders [Docket No. 418], and following the Sale Hearing that same day, the Bankruptcy Court approved ethe Debtors' entry into and performance under both stalking horse purchase agreements and the terms of the Sale Orders. See Docket Nos. 422–423.

4. <u>CFPB Settlement</u>⁵

On July 24, 2023, the CFPB Filed the *Motion of the United States of America to Convert Chapter 11 Cases to Chapter 7* [Docket No. 233] (the "CFPB Motion to Convert"). Therein, the CFPB argued that cause existed to convert these Chapter 11 Cases to chapter 7 under the Bankruptcy Code on grounds the Debtors Filed for chapter 11 protection to "gain a tactical advantage to avoid" the injunctive and monetary relief sought in the CFPB Litigation and "because the Debtors have no reasonable likelihood of rehabilitation and are suffering substantial or continuing losses and diminution of the

^{\(\}frac{5}{\text{Equivalence}} \) Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in this section have the meaning given to them in Article VI.A of this Disclosure Statement.

estate." As discussed in Article II and Article VI.A of this Disclosure Statement, the CFPB Litigation resulted in an adverse ruling on summary judgment as to Count I thereof, which, due to the immediate operational changes made by the Debtors thereafter (e.g., closing all call centers), led to both severe liquidity constraints and an unsustainable capital structure given the Debtors' reduced operations. On August 18, 2023, the CFPB also Filed The United States of America's Objection to the Sale of Substantially All of the Debtors' Assets and Memorandum of Law in Support of Its Motion to Convert Chapter 11 Cases to Chapter 7 [Docket No. 375] (the "CFPB Sale Objection"). On the same day, the Debtors Filed the Debtors' Objection to Motion of the United States of America to Convert Chapter 11 Cases to Chapter 7 [Docket No. 369], to which the CFPB Filed a reply on August 22, 2023 [Docket No. 388].

Throughout this process, however, the Debtors, the CFPB, and other parties in interest continued to negotiate in the hope of reaching a comprehensive settlement to resolve the CFPB's outstanding claims and to ultimately allow the Debtors to move forward with their Chapter 11 Cases and the Sale Transaction.

At the Sale Hearing on August 25, 2023, the Debtors announced to the Bankruptcy Court that they had reached a settlement with the CFPB (the "CFPB Settlement"). On August 28, 2023, the Debtors and the CFPB filed, in the District Court, the *Joint Motion for Entry of Stipulated Final Judgment and Order* [CFPB Docket No. 599] memorializing the CFPB Settlement, which the Utah District Court entered on August 30, 2023 [CFPB Docket No. 600] (the "CFPB Settlement Order"). Broadly, the CFPB Settlement provides for the resolution of the CFPB Sale Objection, the withdrawal of the CFPB Motion to Convert, and certain injunctive and monetary terms, including compliance monitoring, reporting requirements, and setting aside \$50,000 under the Plan for distributions on account of the CFPB's claims.

The material terms of the CFPB Settlement Order are as follows. Except as explicitly noted in this summary, all obligations owed by the Debtors will also be owed by the go-forward companies after the Sale Transaction is consummated.

<u>Prohibition on Telemarketing.</u>² For a period of ten years following the entry of the CFPB Settlement Order, the Debtors are prohibited from any telemarketing of "Credit Repair Services" directly or through an intermediary, or from offering for sale, selling, or providing Credit Repair Services that are advertised, marketed, promoted or sold through telemarketing, whether indirectly or through an intermediary. The Debtors and their officers, agents, and employees, among others, are also permanently prohibited from assisting others to offer for sale, sell, or provide Credit Repair Services that are advertised, marketed, promoted, or sold through telemarketing and for which Debtors know (or consciously avoid knowing) billing is conducted in a manner that does not comply with the advance-fee provision, 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(2). The Debtors are also permanently prohibited from contracting with

 $[\]stackrel{6}{=}$ See CFPB Motion to Convert ¶ 4.

⁷ See generally Aug. 25, 2023 Hr'g Tr.

[§] See id.; see also CFPB Settlement Order.

See CFPB Settlement Order ¶¶ 35–39.

[&]quot;Credit Repair Services" means any good or service represented to remove derogatory information from, or improve, a person's credit history, credit record, or credit rating. For clarity, Credit Repair Services do not include legitimate credit monitoring services purchased and billed separately from any credit repair component, feature, or offer. *Id.* ¶ 15.

certain parties, including rent-to-own or unlicensed real estate companies or lenders, for certain advertising, marketing, or lead generation activities.

Monetary Redress Payments and Civil Penalties. In settlement of Count I of the CFPB Litigation, the Debtors are required to satisfy a claim of the CFPB in the aggregate amount of approximately \$2.6 billion in monetary redress. In settlement of Count II-V of the CFPB Litigation, the Debtors are required to satisfy monetary redress in the aggregate amount of \$19 million. The CFPB will administer the distribution of these payments to affected consumers, and if it determines that it is not possible to provide redress to consumers, the CFPB will deposit any remaining funds in the United States Treasury. PGX is also required to satisfy certain civil money penalties in settlement of Counts I-V of the CFPB Litigation in the aggregate amount of approximately \$45.8 million. Lexington Law is required to satisfy certain civil money penalties in the aggregate amount of approximately \$18.4 million in settlement of Count I of the CFPB Litigation. These monetary obligations, however, are subject to the Bankruptcy Court approval of the Plan and will be treated as an unsecured claim in accordance with the Bankruptcy Code rather than as an administrative expense or other priority claim. For the avoidance of doubt, these monetary obligations will not be owed by the go-forward companies after the consummation of the Sale Transaction.

Compliance Monitoring of Lead Generators. The Debtors are obligated to conduct regular monitoring of their top twenty-five lead generators for material misrepresentations in their advertising, marketing, or lead generation materials at least two times per year. If the Debtors find that any such lead generator made material misrepresentations or other representations that materially conflict with the CFPB Settlement Order to induce a consumer to purchase or enroll in the Debtors' products or services, the Debtors must immediately undertake certain corrective action, including halting the processing of any payments generated by the marketing affiliate or issuing refunds within forty-five days on or after the date the marketing affiliate engaged in deceptive practices, and immediately terminating the marketing affiliate unless it is the first occurrence of misrepresentation in an eighteen-month period and the marketing affiliate cures the misrepresentation and refunds affected customers within seven days. The Debtors must also generally investigate any complaints they receive about their lead generators. The Debtors are also required to, for a period of three years following the entry of the CFPB Settlement Order, retain independent consultants or auditors to conduct an annual independent audit of the Debtors' compliance with the CFPB Settlement Order and Debtors' use of lead generators in connection with advertising, marketing, or generating leads for Credit Repair Services.

Compliance of Board and Executives. 14 The Debtors' executives are required to acknowledge in writing their receipt of the CFPB Settlement Order and responsibility for ensuring that the Debtors comply therewith. Annually for four years, the Debtors must submit a report to the CFPB affirming that they have complied with the CFPB Settlement Order, among other things. The boards of directors of PGX and Lexington Law must also authorize whatever actions are necessary for PGX and Lexington Law to comply with the CFPB Settlement Order, and the boards must require their respective management teams to timely report to the executives on the status of efforts to comply with the CFPB Settlement Order.

<u>11</u> *See id.* ¶¶ 45–53.

 $[\]stackrel{12}{=}$ See id. ¶ 79.

 $[\]frac{13}{1}$ See id ¶¶ 40–49.

 $[\]stackrel{14}{=}$ See id. ¶¶ 58–64.

Reporting Requirements. The Debtors must notify the CFPB of any development that may materially affect compliance with the CFPB Settlement Order and provide the CFPB with certain information about their ownership structures. The Debtors are further required to comply with any CFPB request for additional information and must permit the CFPB to interview any employees or other persons affiliated with the Debtors who have agreed to such interview.

<u>Recordkeeping. 17</u> For at least five years following the entry of the CFPB Settlement Order, the Debtors are required to create or retain records including documents demonstrating compliance with the CFPB Settlement Order, lead generators' marketing materials and contracts with the same, audited financial statements, telemarketing registrations and licenses, among others.

<u>CFPB Settlement Order Distribution and Acknowledgement.</u> <u>18</u> Seven days after entry of the CFPB Settlement Order, the Debtors were required to acknowledge their receipt of the CFPB Settlement Order by submitting an acknowledgment thereof to the CFPB. Thirty days after entry of the CFPB Settlement Order, the Debtors must deliver a copy of the same to their board members, executive officers, lead generators, managers, employees, and others. For five years following the entry of the CFPB Settlement Order, the Debtors must deliver a copy of the same to any successor company, subsidiary, parent, or affiliate, as well as any future board members, officers, attorneys, and others, before they assume their responsibilities.

<u>Transfer or Assignment of Operations. 19</u> In the event that the Debtors seek to transfer or assign all or part of their operations that are subject to the CFPB Settlement Order, they must obtain the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with the CFPB Settlement Order (other than in connection with the Sale Transaction). If such transfer or assignment is subject to approval by a court, any effectuating document submitted for court approval must set forth or incorporate all relevant obligations required by the CFPB Settlement Order, except for the provisions with respect to monetary redress, for which no transferee or assignee shall be liable.

Noticing of Customers. Within ten days of entry of the CFPB Settlement Order, the Debtors were required to send a certain notice to their customers to inform them of the CFPB Litigation and the CFPB Settlement, reminding them that they have a right to cancel any services they receive from the Debtors, and providing a link and phone number for cancellation.

Bankruptcy Court Jurisdiction. The Bankruptcy Court will have exclusive jurisdiction over all matters arising from or related to the implementation, interpretation, or enforcement of any orders approving a plan or sale in the Chapter 11 Cases, including, without limitation, the allowance or treatment of monetary obligations discussed above. The Utah District Court will retain jurisdiction,

```
\underline{\underline{15}}
 See id. ¶¶ 65–67.
```

 $[\]underline{\underline{17}}$ See id. ¶ 73.

 $[\]frac{18}{2}$ See id. ¶¶ 68–72.

 $[\]underline{\underline{19}}$ See id. ¶ 78.

 $[\]stackrel{20}{=}$ See id. ¶ 44.

 $[\]stackrel{21}{=}$ See id. ¶ 80.

however, for the purpose of construction, modification, and enforcement of the CFPB Settlement Order.22

5. 4. Recoveries to Certain Holders of Claims and Interests

The recoveries to Holders of Claims and Interests are described in Article III.D of this Disclosure Statement, entitled "What will I receive from the Debtors if the Plan is consummated?"

6. 5. Releases

The Plan contains certain releases, as described in Article III.J of this Disclosure Statement, entitled "Will there be releases and exculpation granted to parties in interest as part of the Plan?" The release, exculpation, and injunction provisions that are contained in the Plan are copied in pertinent part below.

(a) Release of Liens

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, the Plan Supplement, Confirmation Order, or any contract, instrument, release, or other agreement or document created pursuant to the Plan or Confirmation Order, immediately following the making of all distributions to be made to an applicable Holder pursuant to the Plan and, in the case of a Secured Claim, including, for the avoidance of doubt, any Prepetition Loan Claim, satisfaction in full of the portion of the Secured Claim that is Allowed as of the Effective Date, except for Other Secured Claims that the Debtors elect to reinstate in accordance with Article III.B.4 of the Plan, all mortgages, deeds of trust, Liens, pledges, or other security interests against any property of the Estates shall be fully released, settled, compromised, and discharged, and all of the right, title, and interest of any Holder of such mortgages, deeds of trust, Liens, pledges, or other security interests shall revert automatically to the applicable Debtor and its successors and assigns. Any Holder of such Secured Claim (and the applicable agents for such Holder) shall be authorized and directed to release any collateral or other property of any Debtor (including any cash collateral and possessory collateral) held by such Holder (and the applicable agents for such Holder), and to take such actions as may be reasonably requested by the Wind-Down Debtor to evidence the release of such Lien and/or security interest, including the execution, delivery, and Filing or recording of such releases. The presentation or Filing of the Confirmation Order to or with any federal, state, provincial, or local agency, records office, or department shall constitute good and sufficient evidence of, but shall not be required to effect, the termination of such Liens.

To the extent that any Holder of a Secured Claim that has been satisfied or discharged in full pursuant to the Plan<u>or the Confirmation Order</u>, or any agent for such Holder, has filed or recorded publicly any Liens and/or security interests to secure such Holder's Secured Claim, then as soon as <u>reasonably</u> practicable on or after the Effective Date, such Holder (or the agent for such Holder) shall take any and all steps requested by the Debtors or the Wind-Down Debtor that are necessary or desirable to record or effectuate the cancelation and/or extinguishment of such Liens and/or security interests, including the making of any applicable filings or recordings, and the Wind-Down Debtor shall be entitled to make any such filings or recordings on such Holder's behalf.

١

<u>22</u> <u>See id. ¶ 83.</u>

(b) Releases by the Debtors

Notwithstanding anything contained in the Plan or the Confirmation Order to the contrary, pursuant to section 1123(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, for good and valuable consideration, the adequacy of which is hereby confirmed, upon entry of the Confirmation Order and effective as of the Effective Date, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, each Released Party is, and is deemed hereby to be, fully, conclusively, absolutely, unconditionally, irrevocably, and forever released and discharged by each and all of the Debtors, the Wind-Down Debtor, and their Estates, in each case on behalf of themselves and their respective successors, assigns, and representatives, including any Estate representative appointed or selected pursuant to section 1123(b)(3) of the Bankruptcy Code, from any and all Claims, obligations, rights, suits, damages, Causes of Action, remedies, and liabilities whatsoever, whether known or unknown, including any derivative claims, asserted or assertable on behalf of any of the Debtors, the Wind-Down Debtor, or their Estates, that any such Entity would have been legally entitled to assert in their own right (whether individually or collectively) or on behalf of the Holder of any Claim against or Interest in a Debtor, the Wind-Down Debtor, or other Entity, or that any Holder of any Claim against or Interest in a Debtor, the Wind-Down Debtor, or other Entity could have asserted on behalf of the Debtors or the Wind-Down Debtor, based on or relating to, or in any manner arising from, in whole or in part, the Debtors or the Wind Down Debtor (including the Debtors' and the Wind-Down Debtor's capital structure, management, ownership, or operation thereof or otherwise), the subject matter of, or the transactions or events giving rise to, any Claim or Interest that is treated in the Plan, the business or contractual arrangements between any Debtor or the Wind-Down Debtor and any Released Party, the Debtors' in- or out-of-court restructuring efforts, the purchase, sale, or rescission of any security of the Debtors or the Wind-Down Debtor, any Avoidance Actions (but excluding Avoidance Actions brought as counterclaims or defenses to Claims asserted against the Debtors or the Wind-Down Debtor). intercompany transactions between or among a Debtor, the Wind-Down Debtor, or an affiliate of a Debtor and another Debtor, the Wind-Down Debtor, or affiliate of a Debtor, the Chapter 11 Cases, the formulation, preparation, dissemination, solicitation, negotiation, entry into, or filing of the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Disclosure Statement, the Plan, the Plan Supplement, the Sale Transaction, the DIP Credit Agreement, the Prepetition First Lien Credit Agreement, the Prepetition Second Lien Credit Agreement, any other Definitive Document or any Restructuring Transaction, or any contract, instrument, release, or other agreement or document created or entered into in connection with the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Disclosure Statement, the Plan, the Plan Supplement, the Sale Transaction, any other Definitive Document, any of the Restructuring Transactions, the Chapter 11 Cases, the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases, the pursuit of Confirmation, the administration and implementation of the Plan, including the issuance or distribution of securities pursuant to the Plan, or the distribution of property under the Plan, or upon any other act or omission, transaction, agreement, event, or other occurrence taking place on or before the Effective Date.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, the releases set forth above do not release: (1) any obligations arising on or after the Effective Date (solely to the extent such obligation does not arise from any acts or omissions prior to the Effective Date) of any party or Entity under the Plan, the Confirmation Order, or any post-Effective Date transaction contemplated by the Plan or the Restructuring Transactions, or any document, instrument, or agreement (including those set forth in the Plan Supplement) executed to implement the Plan or the Restructuring Transactions; or (2) any matters retained by the Debtors and the Wind-Down Debtor pursuant to the Schedule of Retained Causes of Action.

Entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's approval, pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 9019, of the Debtor Release, which includes by reference each of the related provisions and definitions contained in the Plan, and further, shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's finding that the Debtor Release is: (1) in exchange for the good and valuable consideration provided by the Released Parties, including, the Released Parties' contribution to facilitating the Restructuring Transactions and implementing the Plan; (2) a good faith settlement and compromise of the Claims released by the Debtor Release; (3) in the best interests of the Debtors, the Wind-Down Debtor, and all Holders of Claims and Interests; (4) fair, equitable, and reasonable; (5) given and made after due notice and opportunity for a hearing; and (6) a bar to any of the Debtors, the Wind-Down Debtor, or the Debtors' Estates asserting any Claim or Cause of Action released pursuant to the Debtor Release.

(c) Releases by the Releasing Parties

Except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Plan or the Confirmation Order, effective as of the Effective Date, in exchange for good and valuable consideration, the adequacy of which is hereby confirmed, each Released Party is, and is deemed hereby to be, fully, conclusively, absolutely, unconditionally, irrevocably, and forever released and discharged by each Releasing Party from any and all claims and Causes of Action, whether known or unknown, including any derivative claims, asserted or assertable on behalf of any of the Debtors, the Wind-Down Debtor, or the Estates, that such Entity would have been legally entitled to assert (whether individually or collectively), based on or relating to or in any manner arising from, in whole or in part, the Debtors or the Wind-Down Debtor (including the Debtors' and the Wind-Down Debtor's capital structure, management, ownership, or operation thereof or otherwise), the subject matter of, or the transactions or events giving rise to, any Claim or Interest that is treated in the Plan, the business or contractual arrangements between any Debtor or the Wind-Down Debtor and any Released Party, the Debtors' in- or out-of-court restructuring efforts, the purchase, sale, or rescission of any security of the Debtors or the Wind-Down Debtor, any Avoidance Actions (but excluding Avoidance Actions brought as counterclaims or defenses to Claims asserted by the Debtors or the Wind-Down Debtor), intercompany transactions, the Chapter 11 Cases, the formulation, preparation, dissemination, solicitation, negotiation, entry into, or filing of the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Disclosure Statement, the Plan, the Plan Supplement, the Sale Transaction, any other Definitive Document or any Restructuring Transaction, or any contract, instrument, release, or other agreement or document created or entered into in connection with the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Disclosure Statement, the Plan, the Plan Supplement, the Sale Transaction, the DIP Credit Agreement, the Prepetition First Lien Credit Agreement, the Prepetition Second Lien Agreement, any other Definitive Document, any of the Restructuring Transactions, the Chapter 11 Cases, the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases, the pursuit of Confirmation, the pursuit of Consummation, the administration and implementation of the Plan, including the issuance or distribution of securities pursuant to the Plan, or the distribution of property under the Plan, or upon any other related act or omission, transaction, agreement, event, or other occurrence taking place on or before the Effective Date.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, the Third-Party Release does not release (1) any obligations arising on or after the Effective Date (solely to the extent such obligation does not arise from any acts or omissions prior to the Effective Date) of any party or Entity under the Plan, the Confirmation Order, or any post-Effective Date transaction contemplated by the Plan or the Restructuring Transactions, or any document, instrument, or agreement (including those set forth in the Plan Supplement) executed to implement the Plan or the Restructuring Transactions; or (2) the rights of any Holder of Allowed Claims to receive distributions under the Plan.

Entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's approval, pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 9019, of the Third-Party Release, which includes by reference each of the related provisions and definitions contained in the Plan, and further, shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's finding that the Third-Party Release is: (1) consensual; (2) essential to the Confirmation of the Plan; (3) given in exchange for the good and valuable consideration provided by the Released Parties; (4) a good faith settlement and compromise of the Claims released by the Third-Party Release; (5) in the best interests of the Debtors, the Wind-Down Debtor, and the Estates; (6) fair, equitable, and reasonable; (7) given and made after due notice and opportunity for a hearing; and (8) a bar to any of the Releasing Parties asserting any Claim or Cause of Action released pursuant to the Third Party Release.

(d) Exculpation

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, no Exculpated Party shall have or incur any liability for, and each Exculpated Party shall be released and exculpated from any Cause of Action for any claim related to any act or omission in connection with, relating to or arising out of the Chapter 11 Cases prior to the Effective Date, the formulation, preparation, dissemination, negotiation, or filing of the Restructuring Support Agreement and related prepetition transactions, the Disclosure Statement, the Sale Transaction, the Plan, the Plan Supplement, any other Definitive Document, or any Restructuring Transaction, or any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document created or entered into in connection with the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Disclosure Statement, the Plan, the Plan Supplement, the Sale Transaction, any other Definitive Document, any of the Restructuring Transactions, the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases, the pursuit of Confirmation, the pursuit of the Sale Transaction, the pursuit of Consummation, the administration and implementation of the Plan, including the issuance of securities pursuant to the Plan, or the distribution of property under the Plan or any other related agreement, except for claims related to any act or omission that is determined in a Final Order to have constituted gross negligence, willful misconduct, or actual fraud. The Exculpated Parties have, and upon completion of the Plan shall be deemed to have, participated in good faith and in compliance with the applicable laws with regard to the solicitation of votes and distribution of consideration pursuant to the Plan and, therefore, are not, and on account of such distributions shall not be, liable at any time for the violation of any applicable law, rule, or regulation governing the solicitation of acceptances or rejections of the Plan or such distributions made pursuant to the Plan. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, the exculpation set forth above does not exculpate any obligations arising on or after the Effective Date of any Person or Entity under the Plan, any post-Effective Date transaction contemplated by the Restructuring Transactions, or any document, instrument, or agreement (including those set forth in the Plan Supplement) executed to implement the Plan.

(e) Injunction

Effective as of the Effective Date, all Entities that have held, hold, or may hold Claims, Interests, or Causes of Actions that have been released, discharged, or are subject to exculpation are permanently enjoined, from and after the Effective Date, from taking any of the following actions against, as applicable, the Debtors, the Wind-Down Debtor, the Exculpated Parties, or the Released Parties: (1) commencing or continuing in any manner any action or other proceeding of any kind on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims, Interests, or Causes of Actions; (2) enforcing, attaching, collecting, or recovering by any manner or means any judgment, award, decree, or order against such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims, Interests, or Causes of Actions; (3) creating, perfecting, or enforcing any encumbrance of any kind against such Entities or the property or the estates of such

Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims, Interests, or Causes of Actions; (4) asserting any right of setoff, subrogation, or recoupment of any kind against any obligation due from such Entities or against the property of such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims, Interests, or Causes of Actions unless such Holder has Filed a motion requesting the right to perform such setoff on or before the Effective Date, and notwithstanding an indication of a claim or interest or otherwise that such Holder asserts, has, or intends to preserve any right of setoff pursuant to applicable law or otherwise; and (5) commencing or continuing in any manner any action or other proceeding of any kind on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims, Interests, or Causes of Actions released, settled or subject to exculpation pursuant to the Plan. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, the injunction set forth above does not enjoin the enforcement of any obligations arising on or after the Effective Date of any Person or Entity under the Plan, any post-Effective Date transaction contemplated by the Restructuring Transactions, or any document, instrument, or agreement (including those set forth in the Plan Supplement) executed to implement the Plan.

Upon entry of the Confirmation Order, all Holders of Claims and Interests and their respective current and former employees, agents, officers, directors, managers, principals, and direct and indirect Affiliates, in their capacities as such, shall be enjoined from taking any actions to interfere with the implementation or Consummation of the Plan. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest, as applicable, by accepting, or being eligible to accept, distributions under or Reinstatement of such Claim or Interest, as applicable, pursuant to the Plan, shall be deemed to have consented to the injunction provisions set forth in Article VIII.F of the Plan.

No Person or Entity may commence or pursue a Claim or Cause of Action of any kind against the Debtors, the Wind-Down Debtor, the Exculpated Parties, or the Released Parties that relates to or is reasonably likely to relate to any act or omission in connection with, relating to, or arising out of a Claim or Cause of Action subject to Article VIII.C, Article VIII.D, and Article VIII.E of the Plan, without the Bankruptcy Court (i) first determining, after notice and a hearing, that such Claim or Cause of Action represents a colorable Claim of any kind, and (ii) specifically authorizing such Person or Entity to bring such Claim or Cause of Action against any such Debtor, Wind-Down Debtor, Exculpated Party, or Released Party.

The Bankruptcy Court will have sole and exclusive jurisdiction to adjudicate the underlying colorable Claim or Causes of Action.

For more detail, see Article VIII of the Plan, entitled "Settlement, Release, Injunction, and Related Provisions," which is incorporated herein by reference.

B. Means for Implementation of the Plan.

1. Sources of Consideration for Plan Distributions

The Debtors and Wind-Down Debtor, as applicable, shall fund the distributions and obligations under the Plan with Available Cash from the Wind-Down Budget held in the Wind-Down Debtor Account, as applicable, on the Effective Date. Sources to fund the distributions and obligations under the Plan include cash from the Creditor Trust in the amount of \$100,000, from the GUC Trade Settlement Cash in the amount of \$3.25 million, and from the GUC Litigation Claims Settlement Cash in the amount of \$750,000 (of which \$50,000 will be paid to the Holder of the Allowed CFPB Claim on account of the CFPB Claim as set forth in Article III of the Plan). As indicated in Article II of the Plan, pursuant to the Sale Orders, the DIP Claims have been satisfied in full in connection with the Sale Transaction.

2. Wind-Down Debtor

The Debtors shall continue in existence after the Effective Date as the Wind-Down Debtor solely for the purposes of (I) winding down the Debtors' businesses and affairs as expeditiously as reasonably possible and liquidating any assets held by the Wind-Down Debtor, if any, (2) resolving any Disputed Claims, (3) paying or otherwise satisfying Allowed Claims, (4) filing appropriate tax returns, and (5) administering the Plan in an efficacious manner. The Wind-Down Debtor shall be deemed to be substituted as the party-in-lieu of the Debtors in all matters, including (x) motions, contested matters, and adversary proceedings pending in the Bankruptcy Court and (y) all matters pending in any courts, tribunals, forums, or administrative proceedings outside of the Bankruptcy Court, in each case without the need or requirement for the Plan Administrator to File motions or substitutions of parties or counsel in each such matter; *provided, however*, that the Creditor Trustee shall have the rights, powers, and authority as provided in Article IV.G of the Plan and in the Creditor Trust Agreement, and shall be substituted as the party-in-lieu of the Debtors in all matters as provided in Article IV.G of the Plan and in the Creditor Trust Agreement, and the [Wind Down Debtor and Plan Administrator shall have no such rights as to such matters].

On the Effective Date, the Wind-Down Debtor Assets shall vest in the Wind-Down Debtor for the primary purpose of liquidating the Wind-Down Debtor Assets and winding down the Debtors' Estates, with no objective to continue or engage in the conduct of a trade or business. The Wind-Down Debtor will, in an expeditious but orderly manner, liquidate and convert to Cash the Wind-Down Debtor Assets, make timely distributions pursuant to the Plan and Confirmation Order, and not unduly prolong its duration. Such assets shall be held free and clear of all Liens, Claims, and interests of Holders of Claims and Interests, except as otherwise provided in the Plan. The Wind-Down Debtor shall be deemed to be fully bound by the terms of the Plan and the Confirmation Order.

3. Liquidating Trust

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan, the Plan Administrator, in his or her discretion, may transfer all or any portion of the assets of the Wind-Down Debtor to the Liquidating Trust, which shall be a "liquidating trust" as that term is used under section 301.7701-4(d) of the Treasury Regulations. For the avoidance of doubt, in the event of a Permitted Transfer, the provisions set forth in Article IV. Q of the Plan shall continue to govern all matters associated with the prosecution, settlement, or collection upon any Retained Causes of Action transferred to the Liquidating Trust. The Liquidating Trust shall be established for the primary purpose of liquidating the Liquidating Trust's assets, reconciling claims asserted against the Wind-Down Debtor, and distributing the proceeds thereof in accordance with the Plan, with no objective to continue or engage in the conduct of a trade or business, except to the extent reasonably necessary to, and consistent with, the purpose of the Liquidating Trust. Upon the transfer of the Wind-Down Debtor's assets to the Liquidating Trust, the Wind-Down Debtor will have no reversionary or further interest in or with respect to the assets of the Liquidating Trust. To the extent beneficial interests in the Liquidating Trust are deemed to be "securities" as defined in section 2(a)(1) of the Securities Act, section 101 of the Bankruptcy Code, and applicable state securities laws, the Debtors intend that the exemption provisions of section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code will apply to such beneficial interests. Prior to any Permitted Transfer, the Plan Administrator may designate trustee(s) for the Liquidating Trust for the purposes of administering the Liquidating Trust. The reasonable costs and expenses of the trustee(s) shall be paid from the Liquidating Trust.

(a) Liquidating Trust Treatment

Subject to definitive guidance from the IRS or a court of competent jurisdiction to the contrary, the Debtors expect to treat the Liquidating Trust as a "liquidating trust" under section 301.7701-4(d) of the Treasury Regulations and a grantor trust under section 671 of the Tax Code, and the trustee of any

Liquidating Trust will take a position on the Liquidating Trust's tax return accordingly. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, the transfer of assets to the Liquidating Trust will be deemed to occur as (a) a first-step transfer of the Liquidating Trust Assets to the Holders of the applicable Claims, and (b) a second-step transfer by such Holders to the Liquidating Trust.

No request for a ruling from the IRS will be sought on the classification of the Liquidating Trust. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the IRS would not take a contrary position to the classification of the Liquidating Trust. If the IRS were to challenge—successfully challenge—the classification of the Liquidating Trust as a grantor trust, the federal income tax consequences to the Liquidating Trust and the Liquidating Trust beneficiaries could vary from those discussed in the Plan (including the potential for an entity-level tax). For example, the IRS could characterize the Liquidating Trust as a so-called "complex trust" subject to a separate entity-level tax on its earnings, except to the extent that such earnings are distributed during the taxable year.

As soon as possible after the transfer of the Liquidating Trust Assets to the Liquidating Trust, the trustee(s) of the Liquidating Trust shall make a good faith valuation of the Liquidating Trust Assets. This valuation will be made available from time to time, as relevant for tax reporting purposes. Each of the Debtors, the trustee(s) of the Liquidating Trust, and the holders of Claims receiving interests in the Liquidating Trust shall take consistent positions with respect to the valuation of the Liquidating Trust Assets, and such valuations shall be utilized for all U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Allocations of taxable income of the Liquidating Trust among the Liquidating Trust beneficiaries shall be determined by reference to the manner in which an amount of cash equal to such taxable income would be distributed (were such cash permitted to be distributed at such time) if, immediately prior to such deemed distribution, the Liquidating Trust had distributed all its assets (valued at their tax book value) to the Liquidating Trust beneficiaries, adjusted for prior taxable income and loss and taking into account all prior and concurrent distributions from the Liquidating Trust. Similarly, taxable loss of the Liquidating Trust shall be allocated by reference to the manner in which an economic loss would be borne immediately after a liquidating distribution of the remaining Liquidating Trust Assets. The tax book value of the Liquidating Trust Assets shall equal their fair market value on the date of the transfer of the Liquidating Trust Assets to the Liquidating Trust, adjusted in accordance with tax accounting principles prescribed by the Tax Code, applicable Treasury Regulations, and other applicable administrative and judicial authorities and pronouncements.

The Liquidating Trust shall in no event be dissolved later than five (5) years from the creation of such Liquidating Trust unless the Bankruptcy Court, upon motion within the six (6) month period prior to the fifth (5th) anniversary (or within the six (6) month period prior to the end of an extension period), determines that a fixed period extension (not to exceed five (5) years, together with any prior extensions, without a favorable private letter ruling from the IRS or an opinion of counsel satisfactory to the trustee(s) of the Liquidating Trust that any further extension would not adversely affect the status of the trust as a liquidating trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes) is necessary to facilitate or complete the recovery and liquidation of the Liquidating Trust Assets.

The Liquidating Trust will file annual information tax returns with the IRS as a grantor trust pursuant to section 1.671-4(a) of the Treasury Regulations that will include information concerning certain items relating to the holding or disposition (or deemed disposition) of the Liquidating Trust Assets (e.g., income, gain, loss, deduction and credit). Each Liquidating Trust beneficiary holding a beneficial interest in the Liquidating Trust will receive a copy of the information returns and must report on its federal income tax return its share of all such items. The information provided by the Liquidating

Trust will pertain to Liquidating Trust beneficiaries who receive their interests in the Liquidating Trust in connection with the Plan.

(b) Disputed Ownership Fund Treatment

With respect to any of the assets of the Liquidating Trust that are subject to potential disputed claims of ownership or uncertain distributions, or to the extent "liquidating trust" treatment is otherwise unavailable or not elected to be applied with respect to the Liquidating Trust, the Debtors intend that such assets will be subject to disputed ownership fund treatment under section 1.468B-9 of the Treasury Regulations, that any appropriate elections with respect thereto shall be made, and that such treatment will also be applied to the extent possible for state and local tax purposes. Under such treatment, a separate federal income tax return shall be filed with the IRS for any such account. Any taxes (including with respect to interest, if any, earned in the account) imposed on such account shall be paid out of the assets of the respective account (and reductions shall be made to amounts disbursed from the account to account for the need to pay such taxes).

4. Plan Administrator

On the Effective Date, the authority, power, and incumbency of the persons acting as directors and officers of each of the Debtors shall be deemed to have been terminated and such persons shall be deemed to have resigned, solely in their capacities as such, and the Plan Administrator shall be appointed by each Debtor as the sole director and the sole officer of such Wind-Down Debtor and shall succeed to the powers of such Debtor's directors and officers. The Plan Administrator shall be the sole representative of, and shall act for each Wind-Down Debtor in the same fiduciary capacity as applicable to a board of managers and officers, subject to the provisions hereof (and all certificates of formation, membership agreements, and related documents are deemed amended by the Plan to permit and authorize the same), except as applicable to the Creditor Trustee as provided in Article IV.G of the Plan and in the Creditor Trust Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, the foregoing shall not limit the authority of each Wind-Down Debtor or the Plan Administrator, as applicable, to continue the employment of any former director or officer.

The Plan Administrator shall have the right to retain the services of attorneys, accountants, and other professionals that, in the discretion of the Plan Administrator, are necessary to assist the Plan Administrator in the performance of his or her duties. The reasonable fees and expenses of such professionals shall be paid by the Wind-Down Debtor, upon the monthly submission of statements to the Plan Administrator and in accordance with the Wind-Down Budget. The payment of the reasonable fees and expenses of the Plan Administrator's retained professionals shall be made in the ordinary course of business and shall not be subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

5. The Creditor Trust

(c) Creation and Governance

On the Effective Date, to the extent the Committee establishes the Creditor Trust, the Debtors, Committee, and the Creditor Trustee shall execute the Creditor Trust Agreement and shall take all steps necessary to establish the Creditor Trust in accordance with the Plan. The Committee shall have the right in its sole discretion, but not the obligation, to select the Creditor Trustee at any time prior to the Plan Supplement Filing Date. Additionally, on the Effective Date, the Debtors or Wind-Down Debtor, as applicable, shall irrevocably transfer and assign and shall be deemed to have irrevocably transferred and assigned to the Creditor Trust all of their respective rights, title, and interest in and to all of the Creditor Trust Assets in accordance with Bankruptcy Code section 1141, except as specifically provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order. The Creditor Trust Assets will include cash from the Debtors' cash on

hand in the amount of \$100,000, any Excess Distributable Cash, the PIK Notes, and any Other Assets, free and clear of all Claims, Liens, encumbrances, charges, and other interests without any further action of any of the Debtors, the Plan Administrator on behalf of the Wind-Down Debtor, the Committee, the Creditor Trustee, or any employees, officers, directors, members, partners, shareholders, agents, advisors, or representatives of the Debtors or the Wind-Down Debtor. Transfer of the Creditor Trust Assets to the Creditor Trust shall be exempt from any stamp, real estate transfer, other transfer, mortgage reporting, sales, use, or other similar tax.

The Creditor Trustee's duties, powers, responsibilities, and compensation will be established by the Creditor Trust Agreement. The Creditor Trustee shall be the exclusive trustee of the Creditor Trust Assets for purposes of 31 U.S.C. § 3713(b) and 26 U.S.C. § 6012(b)(3), as well as the representative of the Estates appointed pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1123(b)(3)(B). Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1123(b)(3), the Creditor Trustee shall be deemed the appointed representative to liquidate and/or monetize the Other Assets, collect amounts due under or realize upon the PIK Notes, and effectuate distributions as detailed in the Creditor Trust Agreement, and the Creditor Trustee shall be granted standing, authority, power and right to assert, prosecute and/or settle or take any other actions necessary to effectuate those duties and all other duties as detailed in the Creditor Trust Agreement based upon its powers as a bankruptcy appointed representative of the Debtors' Estates with the same or similar abilities possessed by bankruptcy or insolvency trustees, receivers, examiners, conservators, liquidators, rehabilitators, creditors' committees, or similar officials or entities.

The Creditor Trust will terminate no later than the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Effective Date, provided, however, that, on or prior to such termination, the Bankruptcy Court, upon motion by the Creditor Trustee or a party in interest, may within six (6) months of the beginning of such extended term, extend the term of the Creditor Trust for a fixed period if it is necessary to facilitate or complete the liquidation and distribution of the Creditor Trust Assets, provided, however, that the aggregate of all such extensions shall not exceed three (3) years (i.e. for a maximum total of eight (8) years from the Effective Date), unless the Creditor Trustee receives a favorable ruling from the Internal Revenue Service that any further extension would not adversely affect the status of the Creditor Trust as a liquidating trust for federal income tax purposes.

(d) Purpose of the Creditor Trust

The Creditor Trust shall be established for the purpose of pursuing or liquidating the Creditor Trust Assets; prosecuting any Retained Causes of Action to maximize recoveries for the benefit of its beneficiaries; and making distributions to beneficiaries, all in accordance with the provisions of Treasury Regulation section 301.7701-4(d) and Revenue Procedure 94-45, with no objective to continue or engage in the conduct of a trade or business.

(e) The Creditor Trust Agreement

The Creditor Trustee shall have the power and authority to perform the acts described in the Creditor Trust Agreement (subject to approval by the Bankruptcy Court where applicable), in addition to any powers granted by law or conferred to it by any other provision of the Plan. The Creditor Trust Agreement shall provide that Creditor Trustee's powers shall include, without limitation, the following: (i) the power (but not the express obligation) to invest funds, in accordance with section 345 of the Bankruptcy Code, and withdraw, make Distributions and pay taxes and other obligations owed by the Creditor Trust from funds held by the Creditor Trust in accordance with the Plan as set forth below and Creditor Trust Agreement as set forth therein; (ii) the power to engage and compensate, without prior Bankruptcy Court order or approval, employees and professionals (including but not limited to professionals who are members of the Creditor Trustee's own firm) to assist the Creditor Trustee with respect to the Creditor Trustee's responsibilities; (iii) the power to pursue, prosecute, resolve and

compromise and settle any Retained Causes of Action on behalf of the Creditor Trust without prior Bankruptcy Court approval but in accordance with the Creditor Trust Agreement; and (iv) such other powers as may be vested in or assumed by the Creditor Trustee pursuant to the Plan, Bankruptcy Court order, or as may be necessary and proper to carry out the provisions of the Plan.

Except as expressly set forth in the Plan and in the Creditor Trust Agreement, the Creditor Trustee, on behalf of the Creditor Trust, shall have absolute discretion to pursue or not to pursue any Retained Causes of Action as it determines is in the best interests of beneficiaries and consistent with the purposes of the Creditor Trust, and shall have no liability for the outcome of such determination, other than those determinations constituting gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Creditor Trustee may incur any reasonable and necessary expenses in liquidating and converting the Creditor Trust Assets to Cash. Subject to the other terms and provisions of the Plan, the Creditor Trustee shall be granted standing, authority, power and right to assert, prosecute or settle the Retained Causes of Action based upon its powers as a bankruptcy appointed representative of the Debtors' Estates with the same or similar abilities possessed by insolvency trustees, receivers, examiners, conservators, liquidators, rehabilitators or similar officials. The salient terms of the Creditor Trustee's employment, including the Creditor Trustee's duties and compensation, shall be set forth in the Creditor Trust Agreement and shall be consistent with the terms of the Plan.

Cash in the Creditor Trust's accounts and any other amounts contemplated by the Plan and the Creditor Trust Agreement shall be maintained in United States dollars or shall be invested by the Creditor Trustee in (i) direct obligations of, or obligations guaranteed by, the United States of America, including Government Money Market Funds, (ii) obligations of any agency or corporation that is or may hereafter be created by or pursuant to an act of Congress of the United States of America as an agency or instrumentality thereof, or (iii) such other obligations or instruments as may from time to time be permitted under section 345 of the Bankruptcy Code; provided that the Creditor Trustee may, to the extent necessary to implement the provisions of the Plan and the Creditor Trust Agreement, deposit moneys in demand deposits, time accounts or checking accounts at any banking institution or trust company having combined capital stock and surplus in excess of \$100,000,000 based upon its most recently available audited financial statements, regardless of whether such investments and deposits are insured. Such investments shall mature in such amounts and at such times as the Creditor Trustee, in the Creditor Trustee's business judgment, shall deem appropriate to provide funds when needed to transfer funds in accordance with the Plan and Confirmation Order, make payments to the Trust Accounts or make Distributions in accordance with the Plan, Confirmation Order and Creditor Trust Agreement. The Creditor Trust may not retain cash or cash equivalents in excess of a reasonable amount as determined by the Creditor Trustee in its sole discretion needed to meet claims and contingent liabilities or to maintain the value of the Creditor Trust Assets in liquidation or maintain or fund an adequate and sufficient reserve. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the scope of any such investment shall be limited to include only those investments that a liquidating trust, within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 301.7701-4(d), may be permitted to hold, pursuant to Section 3.09 of Internal Revenue Service Revenue Procedure 94-45 or the Treasury Regulations, or any modification in the IRS guidelines, whether set forth in IRS rulings, other IRS pronouncements or otherwise. For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding any permission or obligations (in either case, whether express or implied) under section 345 of the Bankruptcy Code, the Creditor Trustee shall have no duty or obligation to invest any of the Creditor Trust Assets, and failure to invest any such assets shall not constitute a breach of duty on behalf of the Creditor Trust or the Creditor Trustee.

(f) Compensation and Duties of the Creditor Trustee

On and after the Effective Date, the Creditor Trustee shall have the power and responsibility to do all acts contemplated by the Plan and the Creditor Trust Agreement to be done by the Creditor Trustee and all other acts that may be necessary or appropriate in connection with the disposition of the Creditor

Trust Assets and the distribution of the proceeds thereof, as contemplated by the Plan and in accordance with the Creditor Trust Agreement.

In all circumstances, the Creditor Trustee shall act in its reasonable discretion in the best interests of beneficiaries pursuant to the terms of the Plan and the Creditor Trust Agreement.

The Creditor Trustee shall be indemnified by and receive reimbursement from the Creditor Trust Assets against and from any and all loss, liability, expense (including reasonable attorneys' fees), or damage which the Creditor Trustee incurs or sustains, in good faith and without willful misconduct, gross negligence, or fraud, acting as Creditor Trustee under or in connection with the Plan.

The Creditor Trustee may employ, without further order of the Bankruptcy Court, professionals (including those previously retained by the Committee or who are members of the Creditor Trustee's own firm) to assist in carrying out the Creditor Trustee's duties under the Plan and Creditor Trust Agreement and may compensate and reimburse the reasonable expenses of these professionals up to \$100,000 without further Order of the Bankruptcy Court from the Debtors' Cash in accordance with the Plan.

The Creditor Trustee shall be entitled to reasonable compensation up to \$100,000, consistent with that of similar functionaries in similar types of bankruptcy cases. The Creditor Trustee shall also be reimbursed for all documented, actual, reasonable, and necessary out-of-pocket expenses incurred in the performance of its duties under the Creditor Trust Agreement. The Creditor Trustee shall not be required to file a fee application with the Bankruptcy Court in order to receive compensation.

(g) Abandonment, Disposal, and Destruction of Records

The Creditor Trustee shall be authorized pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 554, in its sole discretion, without any further notice to any party or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, to abandon, dispose of, or destroy in any commercially reasonable manner all originals and/or copies of any documents, books and records, including any electronic records, of the Debtors that are transferred to the Creditor Trust and which they reasonably conclude are burdensome or of inconsequential value and benefit to the Creditor Trust.

(h) Distributions by the Creditor Trustee

Following the vesting of the Creditor Trust Assets in the Creditor Trust, the Creditor Trustee shall make continuing efforts to liquidate all Creditor Trust Assets in accordance with the Plan and the Creditor Trust Agreement, provided that the timing of all Distributions made by the Creditor Trustee shall be made as follows:

• The Creditor Trust, through or as the Disbursing Agent, as applicable, will make Distributions to Holders of Allowed Class 6C Claims, to the extent that the foregoing Claims have not been paid in full on or prior to the Effective Date or otherwise in accordance with the Plan. Except as otherwise provided by the Plan, Confirmation Order, or the Creditor Trust Agreement, the Creditor Trust shall be required to distribute at least annually (or more frequently as the Creditor Trustee may determine, in his or her sole discretion) to the Beneficiaries its net income plus all net proceeds from the sale or other disposition of Creditor Trust Assets, except that the Creditor Trust may retain an amount of net proceeds or net income reasonably necessary to maintain the value of its assets or to meet claims and contingent liabilities (including disputed claims), within the meaning of Internal Revenue Service Revenue Procedure 94-45.

- The Creditor Trust will make the Distributions either from such accounts or reserves as the Creditor Trustee, in his or her business judgment, may determine to establish in accordance with the provisions of the Plan and the Creditor Trust Agreement.
- The Creditor Trust will make Distributions from the Creditor Trust Assets to each beneficiary holding an Allowed Claim in accordance with each Beneficiary's Pro Rata share of net Cash derived from the Creditor Trust Assets being made available for such Distribution, and in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the Creditor Trust Agreement.
- Distributions to be made by the Creditor Trust may be made by any Person(s) designated or retained to serve as the Disbursing Agent(s) without the need for any further order of the Bankruptcy Court, in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the Creditor Trust Agreement.
- The Creditor Trustee shall be authorized, in his or her business judgment, to delay
 Distributions to holders of Beneficial Interests or otherwise determine reasonable
 distribution dates for such holders, including, without limitation, based upon the
 status and progress of the liquidation of Creditor Trust Assets, the total number of
 and/or asserted claim amounts of Disputed Claims, and any other relevant factors.

(i) Dissolution of the Creditor Trust

The Creditor Trustee shall be discharged and the Creditor Trust shall be terminated, at such time as: (a) (i) all Disputed Claims have been resolved, (ii) all of the Creditor Trust Assets have been liquidated, (iii) all duties and obligations of the Creditor Trustee under the Creditor Trust Agreement have been fulfilled, and (iv) all Distributions required under the Plan and the Creditor Trust Agreement have been made; or (b) as otherwise provided in the Creditor Trust Agreement. Upon dissolution of the Creditor Trust, any remaining assets of the Creditor Trust revert to the Wind-Down Debtor.

(j) Control Provisions

Except to the extent required, as determined by the Creditor Trustee in its reasonable discretion, for the Creditor Trust to qualify as a liquidating trust within the meaning of Revenue Procedure 94-45, to the extent there is any inconsistency between the Plan as it relates to the Creditor Trust and/or the Creditor Trust Agreement, the terms of the Plan shall control unless otherwise indicated herein.

(k) Limitation of Liability; Indemnification

To the maximum extent permitted by law, the Creditor Trustee, its employees, officers, directors, agents, members or representatives, or professionals employed or retained by the Creditor Trustee (including without limitation, any professionals who are members of the Creditor Trustee's own firm) (collectively, the "Creditor Trustee Agents"), will not have or incur liability to any Person or Entity for any act taken, or omission made, in good faith in connection with or related to Distributions made under the Plan or the Creditor Trust Agreement, the administration of the Creditor Trust and the implementation of the Plan. The Creditor Trustee and the Creditor Trustee Agents will in all respects be entitled to reasonably rely on the advice of counsel and tax accounting professionals with respect to their duties and responsibilities under the Plan and the Creditor Trust Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein will alter any provision of the Creditor Trust Agreement that provides for the potential liability of the Creditor Trustee to any Person or Entity. The Creditor Trust shall indemnify and hold harmless the Creditor Trustee and its designees and professionals, and all duly designated agents and representatives thereof (in their capacity as such), from and against and in respect of all liabilities,

losses, damages, claims, costs and expenses, including, but not limited to attorneys' fees and costs arising out of or due to such actions or omissions, or consequences of their actions or omissions with respect or related to the performance of their duties or the implementation or administration of the Plan; *provided*, *however*, that no such indemnification will be made to such persons for such actions or omissions as a result of willful misconduct, gross negligence or fraud.

6. 1. Exculpation, Indemnification, Insurance, and Liability Limitation

The Plan Administrator, the Creditor Trustee, and all professionals retained by the Plan Administrator and the Creditor Trustee, each in their capacities as such, shall be deemed exculpated and indemnified, except for fraud, willful misconduct, or gross negligence, in all respects by each Wind-Down Debtor. The Plan Administrator and the Creditor Trustee may each obtain, at the expense of the Wind-Down Debtor, commercially reasonable liability or other appropriate insurance with respect to the indemnification obligations of the Wind-Down Debtor. The Plan Administrator and the Creditor Trustee may rely upon written information previously generated by the Debtors.

7. 2. Tax Returns

After the Effective Date, the Plan Administrator shall complete and file all final or otherwise required federal, state, and local tax returns for each of the Debtors and the Wind-Down Debtors, and, pursuant to section 505(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, may request an expedited determination of any unpaid tax liability of such Debtor or its Estate for any tax incurred during the administration of such Debtor's Chapter 11 Case, as determined under applicable tax laws.

8. 3. Dissolution of the Wind-Down Debtor

Upon a certification to be Filed with the Bankruptcy Court by the Plan Administrator of all distributions having been made and completion of all its duties under the Plan and entry of a final decree closing the last of the Chapter 11 Cases, each Wind-Down Debtor shall be deemed to be dissolved without any further action by such Wind-Down Debtor, including the Filing of any documents with the secretary of state for the state in which each such Wind-Down Debtor is formed or any other jurisdiction. The Plan Administrator, however, shall have authority to take all necessary actions to dissolve each Wind-Down Debtor in and withdraw each Wind-Down Debtor from applicable states.

9. 4. Statutory Committee and Cessation of Fee and Expense Payment

On the Effective Date, any statutory committee appointed in the Chapter 11 Cases, including the Committee, shall dissolve and members thereof shall be released and discharged from all rights and duties from or related to the Chapter 11 Cases, except in connection with applications for compensation and objections thereto. The Wind-Down Debtor shall no longer be responsible for paying any fees or expenses incurred by any statutory committee, including the Committee, after the Effective Date, except in connection with (a) applications for payment of any fees or expenses for services rendered prior to the Effective Date that are Allowed by the Bankruptcy Court; and (b) objections to applications for payment of fees and expenses rendered prior to the Effective Date.

10. 5. Cancellation of Securities and Agreements

On the Effective Date, except as otherwise specifically provided for in the Plan: (1) the obligations of the Debtors under the Prepetition Loan Documents and any other certificate, Security, share, note, bond, indenture, purchase right, option, warrant, or other instrument or document directly or indirectly evidencing or creating any indebtedness or obligation of or ownership interest in the Debtors giving rise to any Claim or Interest (except (i) such certificates, notes, or other instruments or documents

evidencing indebtedness or obligation of or ownership interest in the Debtors that are Reinstated pursuant to the Plan and (ii) any indemnification obligations set forth in Article V.B of the Plan shall be cancelled solely as to the Debtors and their affiliates, and the Wind-Down Debtor shall not have any continuing obligations thereunder; and (2) the obligations of the Debtors and their affiliates pursuant, relating, or pertaining to any agreements, indentures, certificates of designation, bylaws, or certificate or articles of incorporation or similar documents governing the shares, certificates, notes, bonds, indentures, purchase rights, options, warrants, or other instruments or documents evidencing or creating any indebtedness or obligation of or ownership interest in the Debtors (except such agreements, certificates, notes, or other instruments evidencing indebtedness or obligation of or ownership interest in the Debtors that are specifically Reinstated pursuant to the Plan) shall be released and discharged. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no executory contract or unexpired lease that (i) has been, or will be, assumed pursuant to Section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code or (ii) relating to a Claim that was paid in full prior to the Effective Date, shall be terminated or cancelled on the Effective Date.

11. 6. Corporate Action

Upon the Effective Date, all actions contemplated under the Plan, regardless of whether taken before, on or after the Effective Date, shall be deemed authorized and approved in all respects, including: (1) selection of the Plan Administrator and Creditor Trustee; (2) implementation of the Restructuring Transactions; (3) consummation of the Sale Transaction under the Asset Purchase Agreements; (4) funding of all applicable escrows and accounts; and (5) all other actions contemplated under the Plan (whether to occur before, on, or after the Effective Date). All matters provided for in the Plan or deemed necessary or desirable by the Debtors before, on, or after the Effective Date involving the corporate structure of the Debtors or the Wind-Down Debtor, and any corporate action required by the Debtors or the Wind-Down Debtor in connection with the Plan or corporate structure of the Debtors or Wind-Down Debtor shall be deemed to have occurred and shall be in effect on the Effective Date, without any requirement of further action by the security holders, directors, managers, or officers of the Debtors or the Wind-Down Debtor. Before, on, or after the Effective Date, the appropriate officers of the Debtors or the Wind-Down Debtor, as applicable, shall be authorized to issue, execute, and deliver the agreements and documents, securities, and instruments contemplated under the Plan (or necessary or desirable to effect the transactions contemplated under the Plan) in the name of and on behalf of the Wind-Down Debtor. The authorizations and approvals contemplated by Article IV. LM of the Plan shall be effective notwithstanding any requirements under non-bankruptcy law.

12. 7. Effectuating Documents; Further Transactions

On and after the Effective Date, the Plan Administrator, the DIP Agent, the Prepetition First Lien Agent, and the Prepetition Second Lien Agent may issue, execute, deliver, file, or record such contracts, Securities, instruments, releases, and other agreements or documents and take such actions as may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate, implement, and further evidence the terms and conditions of the Plan, the Confirmation Order, and the Restructuring Transactions, without the need for any approvals, authorization, or consents except for those expressly required pursuant to the Plan or the Confirmation Order.

13. 8. Section 1146 Exemption

To the fullest extent permitted by section 1146(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, any transfers (whether from a Debtor to the Wind-Down Debtor, the Creditor Trust, or to any other Person or from the Wind-Down Debtor to the Liquidating Trust or any other Person) of property under the Plan or pursuant to: (1) the issuance, distribution, transfer, or exchange of any debt, equity security, property, or other interest in the Debtors or the Wind-Down Debtor; (2) the Restructuring Transactions; (3) any Sale

Transaction; (4) the creation, modification, consolidation, termination, refinancing, and/or recording of any mortgage, deed of trust, or other security interest, or the securing of additional indebtedness by such or other means; (5) the making, assignment, or recording of any lease or sublease; or (6) the making, delivery, or recording of any deed or other instrument of transfer under, in furtherance of, or in connection with, the Plan, including any deeds, bills of sale, assignments, or other instrument of transfer executed in connection with any transaction arising out of, contemplated by, or in any way related to the Plan, shall not be subject to any document recording tax, stamp tax, conveyance fee, intangibles or similar tax, mortgage tax, real estate or bulk transfer tax, mortgage recording tax, Uniform Commercial Code filing or recording fee, regulatory filing or recording fee, or other similar tax or governmental assessment, and upon entry of the Confirmation Order, the appropriate state or local governmental officials or agents shall forgo the collection of any such tax or governmental assessment and accept for filing and recordation any of the foregoing instruments or other documents without the payment of any such tax, recordation fee, or governmental assessment. All filing or recording officers (or any other Person with authority over any of the foregoing), wherever located and by whomever appointed, shall comply with the requirements of section 1146(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, shall forgo the collection of any such tax or governmental assessment, and shall accept for filing and recordation any of the foregoing instruments or other documents without the payment of any such tax or governmental assessment.

14. 9. Director and Officer Liability Insurance; Other Insurance

On or before the Effective Date, the Debtors shall purchase (to the extent not already purchased) and maintain directors, officers, managers, and employee liability tail coverage for the <code>[six]-yearsix-year</code> period following the Effective Date on terms no less favorable than the Debtors' existing director, officer, manager, and employee coverage and with an aggregate limit of liability upon the Effective Date of no less than the aggregate limit of liability under the existing director, officer, manager, and employee coverage upon placement. Reasonable directors and officers insurance policies shall remain in place in the ordinary course during the Chapter 11 Cases and from and after the Effective Date.

Any directors and officers insurance policies shall be assumed by the Debtors on behalf of the applicable Debtor and assigned to the Wind-Down Debtor effective as of the Effective Date, pursuant to sections 365 and 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code, unless such insurance policy previously was rejected by the Debtors or the Debtors' Estates pursuant to a Bankruptcy Court order or is the subject of a motion to reject pending on the Effective Date, and coverage for defense and indemnity under any such policies shall remain available to all individuals within the definition of "Insured" in any such policies.

In addition, on and after the Effective Date, all officers, directors, agents, or employees who served in such capacity at any time before the Effective Date shall be entitled to the full benefits of any directors and officers insurance policy in effect or purchased as of the Effective Date for the full term of such policy regardless of whether such officers, directors, agents, and/or employees remain in such positions on or after the Effective Date, in each case, to the extent set forth in such policies.

15. 10. Causes of Action

Pursuant to the Sale Transaction Documentation, the Debtors assigned and transferred to the Purchasers all of the Transferred Causes of Action pursuant to the Sale Transaction Documentation in connection with the Sale Transactions and in accordance with the Sale Orders. For the avoidance of doubt, the Debtors or the Plan Administrator, as applicable, will retain the right to enforce the terms of the Sale Transaction Documentation. Retained Causes of Action shall initially remain with the Debtors and shall immediately vest with the Creditor Trust as of the Effective Date.

16. 11. Section 1145 Exemption

Pursuant to section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code and, to the extent that section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code is inapplicable, section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act, the issuance of any Interests pursuant to the Plan is exempt from, among other things, the registration requirements of section 5 of the Securities Act and any other applicable United States, state, or local law requiring registration for offer or sale of a security or registration or licensing of an issuer of, underwriter of, or broker or dealer in, a security. As long as the exemption to registration under section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code is applicable, Interests issued pursuant to the Plan are not "restricted securities" (as defined in rule 144(a)(3) under the Securities Act) and are freely tradable and transferable by any initial recipient thereof that (x) is not an "affiliate" of the Wind-Down Debtor (as defined in rule 144(a)(1) under the Securities Act), (y) has not been such an "affiliate" within 90 days of such transfer, and (z) is not an entity that is an "underwriter" as defined in section 1145(b) of the Bankruptcy Code.

17. 12. Global Settlement

The Plan implements the Global Settlement and incorporates the terms of the Global Settlement Term Sheet by reference as though fully stated in the Plan. The Global Settlement is a compromise and settlement of numerous issues and disputes between and among the Debtors, the Committee, the DIP Lenders, and the Prepetition First and Second Lien Lenders, designed to achieve a reasonable and effective resolution of the Chapter 11 Cases. Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, the Global Settlement constitutes a settlement of all potential issues and Claims between and among the Debtors, the Committee, the DIP Lenders, and the Prepetition First and Second Lien Lenders. The Global Settlement shall be effectuated in accordance with the following terms. Continuing Trade Claims, Litigation Claims, and Other General Unsecured Claims shall receive the treatment set forth in Article III of the Plan. The Debtors shall establish the Creditor Trust which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall be funded solely with cash from the Debtors' cash on hand in the amount of \$100,000 and which shall have the right to pursue the monetization of the Other Assets (including collecting amounts due under or realizing upon, the PIK Notes). The Creditor Trust shall also hold the PIK Notes for beneficial distribution in accordance with Article IV. OS of the Plan. The identity of the Creditor Trustee and the terms of the governing agreement of the Creditor Trust shall be determined by the Committee and provided in the Plan Supplement.

V. THE DEBTORS' CORPORATE HISTORY, STRUCTURE, AND BUSINESS OVERVIEW

A. PGX's Corporate History and Business Operations

PGX was founded more than 20 years ago with three goals: (a) to establish credit repair's importance in the credit risk analysis and reporting ecosystem; (b) to quickly deliver accurate credit repair services to consumers by leveraging predictive technology; and (c) to establish to consumers the importance of credit repair business as an invaluable consumer advocacy service. In short, PGX was founded to serve as the primary technology-enabled destination for hard-working Americans seeking to improve their financial well-being.

Over two decades later, PGX has delivered on these goals and grown into the premier credit repair services provider in the United States. In 2012, PGX established the "CreditRepair.com" brand to deliver direct-to-consumer credit report repair services. In 2015, PGX acquired the "Credit.com" brand, adding to its business one of the first internet-based companies providing credit education, information, and products and services focused on consumer access ranging from free credit scores to related educational content and tools. Headquartered in Salt Lake City, Utah, PGX employed approximately 300

full-time employees as of the Petition Date, and generated approximately \$47 million in revenue in 2022 (not including revenue from services under the Operating Agreements with Lexington Law).

PGX's business is divided into four segments, corresponding to products and services offered to consumers:

- Awareness and Education. PGX offers consumers access to financial products and numerous educational resources to help make smart financial decisions and build positive trade lines.
- Credit Repair. Credit repair is the principal business unit for PGX and its consumer-facing brand, CreditRepair.com. The service leverages the Fair Credit Reporting Act and other consumer protection statutes to work directly with creditors and credit bureaus in verifying the information found in consumer credit reports. Inaccurate or unverifiable information must be removed in accordance with applicable law. PGX and Lexington Law have been successful in empowering consumers to have consumer reporting agencies remove tens of millions of inaccurate or unverifiable negative items from consumer credit reports.
- *Credit Care*. In exchange for a fee, PGX helps consumers understand the information found in their credit reports while monitoring and protecting that information to prevent the errors that can later require credit repair. These care services also provide other protections for consumers including identity theft protection.
- Lexington Law Services. Pursuant to the Operating Agreements, PGX provides Lexington Law with vital non-legal operational support and services. PGX, among other things, advertises and helps engage clients for Lexington Law's credit repair services, in compliance with the rules of professional conduct applicable to Lexington Law. PGX also provides proprietary software and administrative, operational, and technological support. Lexington Law pays PGX for these services pursuant to the Operating Agreements. In the twelve-month period before the Petition Date, PGX derived approximately 87% of its revenue from provision of operating services to Lexington Law.

Today, the Debtors provide their products and services to their 130,000 current customers located 50 states who seek options to understand and improve their credit profile. PGX offers many of its products and services to consumers at no cost, and for those products and services for which it charges, PGX may charge as little as \$74.95 per month under contracts cancelable at any time without additional charge, and in all respects compliant with applicable laws and regulations. The services PGX provides to consumers are hugely impactful: for example, consumers using PGX's CreditRepair.com branded services over the course of just a six-month period see an average of five negative items removed from their credit reports. Overall, 71% of consumers see a credit score increase when using PGX's products. Of those consumers who saw a credit score increase, 79% saw an average improvement of 40 points in their TransUnion credit score.

Debtor PGX Holdings, Inc. has twelve wholly-owned direct and indirect subsidiaries, eleven of which are Debtors in these echapter 11 ecases. Non-Debtor PGX TopCo LLC, a subsidiary of non-Debtor Prospect, owns the majority of the equity of Debtor PGX Holdings, Inc.

B. Lexington Law's Corporate History and Business Operations

John C. Heath, Attorney At Law PC is a law firm, organized as a professional corporation under Utah state law, that does business as "Lexington Law." Lexington Law is independently owned by Utah licensed attorneys John C. Heath and Eric Kamerath. Mr. Heath, who currently serves as the Chief Executive Officer and Directing Attorney at Lexington Law, took on his leadership role at Lexington Law in 2004 and reoriented the primary focus of the firm's practice to consumer credit report repair. Since Mr. Heath's involvement with the firm, Lexington Law has grown into one of the nation's top providers of legal representation in the consumer credit report repair field. Servicing fifty states, Lexington Law employs around thirteen to fifteen internal attorneys and around 50 additional personnel in support of the legal representation for clients. In 2022, Lexington Law generated approximately \$341 million in revenue.

Lexington Law offers customers a multi-tiered recurring service model, which at all levels of service includes representation and advice related to challenges with the major credit reporting agencies and creditors, assistance with credit inquiries, provision of identity theft insurance through insurance partners, and access to certain proprietary technology tools (many of which are operated by PGX through the Operating Agreements) that provide customers with customized credit repair advice.

Since 2004, PGX has provided Lexington Law with vital operational support and services pursuant to the Operating Agreements between PGX entities and Lexington Law, which consisted of the Software Licensing, Advertising, Administrative Services, and Teleservices Outsourcing Agreements. Both PGX and Lexington Law have ceased all telemarketing operations in response to the District Court's decision in the CFPB Litigation (as defined herein).

Through the Operating Agreements, Lexington Law pays PGX for operational services based on different compensation formulas. Compensation and other terms of the Operating Agreements, including the effective period of the Operating Agreements, were amended in 2017. In the twelve-month period before the Petition Date, Lexington Law's payment obligations to PGX were \$251.6 million on account of the Operating Agreements.

As of the Petition Date, Lexington Law owed PGX approximately \$27.9 million on account of the Operating Agreements. In the context of negotiations with Lenders regarding the DIP financing and sale, Lexington Law and PGX agreed upon certain temporary modifications to the payment terms under the Operating Agreements, while allowing time for the Debtors to figure out an optimal go-forward strategy. At the closing of a sale, the entity purchasing Lexington Law will assume any amounts outstanding.

C. The Debtors' Prepetition Capital Structure

As of the Petition Date, the Debtors had approximately \$423.5 million in total funded debt obligations. The table below summarizes the Debtors' prepetition capital structure:

Funded Debt	Maturity	Principal Amount (in USD millions)
Prepetition First Lien Credit Facility	July 21, 2026	\$243.5
Prepetition Second Lien Credit Facility	July 21, 2027	\$180.0
Total Funded Debt Obligations		\$423.5

1. First Lien Facility

On July 21, 2021, Debtor PGX Holdings, Inc., as parent and guarantor and all other PGX Debtors as borrowers or guarantors, entered into the Prepetition First Lien Credit Agreement with the lender parties thereto (the "Prepetition First Lien Lenders") and Blue Torch Finance LLC ("Blue Torch"), as administrative agent and collateral agent. The Prepetition First Lien Credit Agreement, as subsequently amended and modified, provided the PGX Debtors' first lien term loan credit facility (the "First Lien Facility") consisting of a term loan in the aggregate principal amount of \$253.2 million on the First Lien Facility effective date. Pursuant to the Prepetition First Lien Credit Agreement, the First Lien Facility is secured on a first priority basis (subject to customary exceptions) by a lien on substantially all of the assets of the PGX Debtors and the equity of each of the subsidiaries of Debtor PGX Holdings, Inc. The maturity date of the First Lien Facility is July 21, 2026. As of the Petition Date, approximately \$243.5 million of principal remained outstanding on account of the First Lien Facility.

2. Second Lien Facility

On July 21, 2021, Debtor PGX Holdings, Inc., as parent and guarantor and all other PGX Debtors as borrowers or guarantor, entered into the Prepetition Second Lien Credit Agreement with the lenders party thereto from time to time (the "Prepetition Second Lien Lenders"), and Prospect, as administrative agent and collateral agent. The Prepetition Second Lien Credit Agreement, as subsequently amended and modified, provided the PGX Debtors the second lien term loan credit facility (the "Second Lien Facility" and, together with the First Lien Facility, the "Prepetition Facilities"), consisting of a term loan in the aggregate principal amount of \$153.9 million on the Second Lien Facility effective date. Pursuant to the Prepetition Second Lien Credit Agreement, and as subordinated to the Prepetition First Lien Credit Agreement under that certain Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of July 21, 2021, the Second Lien Facility is secured on a second priority basis (subject to customary exceptions) relative to the First Lien Facility by a lien on substantially all of the assets of the PGX Debtors and the equity of each of the subsidiaries of Debtor PGX Holdings, Inc. The maturity date of the Second Lien Facility is July 21, 2027. As of the Petition Date, approximately \$180 million of principal remained outstanding under the Second Lien Facility.

3. PGX's Equity

Before January 29, 2023, H.I.G. Capital, LLC, through its subsidiary H.I.G. Progrexion, LLC ("<u>HIG</u>"), was a majority stockholder of Debtor PGX Holdings, Inc. On December 28, 2022, PGX Holdings, Inc., HIG, and non-Debtor PGX TopCo LLC entered into that certain transfer agreement (the "<u>Transfer Agreement</u>"), pursuant to which, effective January 28, 2023, HIG transferred its shares to non-Debtor PGX TopCo LLC. Non-Debtor PGX TopCo LLC is a subsidiary of Prospect. Lexington Law is owned 99% by attorney John C. Heath and 1% by attorney Eric Kamerath.

VI. EVENTS LEADING TO THE CHAPTER 11 FILINGS

A. CFPB Litigation

The principal long-term challenge facing the Debtors' businesses has been the management of potential liabilities in connection with the case styled *Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection v. Progresion Marketing, Inc., et al.*, Case No. 2:19-CV-00298-BSJ (the "CFPB Litigation" and, such docket, the "CFPB Docket").

In the years before the Petition Date, one component of the Debtors' sales lead generation process included the transfer of telemarketed customer leads to the Debtors from third-party, unaffiliated,

and independent financial products and services companies (each such company, a "Hotswap Partner," and collectively, the "Hotswap Partners"). In addition to the Hotswap Partners lead generation process, the Debtors also telemarketed their products and services directly to consumers. The CFPB has been reviewing these telemarketing operations and Hotswap Partners relationships for nearly a decade, as part of the CFPB's broader investigation efforts to determine whether credit repair companies have engaged in unlawful acts or practices related to the manner in which they market, advertise, or provide credit repair services. On October 3, 2014, the CFPB issued a Civil Investigative Demand to Lexington Law, seeking materials and information related to Lexington Law's marketing and advertising. In the years following issuance of the Civil Investigative Demand, Lexington Law fully cooperated with the CFPB's investigation process. On February 2, 2016, the CFPB sent an additional Civil Investigative Demand to Debtors PGX Holdings, Inc., Progrexion Marketing, Inc., Progrexion Teleservices, Inc., and eFolks, LLC. The PGX entities likewise fully cooperated with the CFPB's investigation.

In September 2017, PGX was notified that the CFPB's Office of Enforcement was considering recommending that the CFPB take legal action against both PGX and Lexington Law. Attempts to resolve the CFPB's concerns were unsuccessful and, on May 2, 2019, the CFPB filed a complaint in the District Court against Progrexion Marketing, Inc., PGX Holdings, Inc., Progrexion Teleservices, Inc., eFolks, LLC, CreditRepair.com, Inc., and Lexington Law (collectively, the "Debtor Defendants"), amended by complaint filed on August 17, 2022, in the District Court. The CFPB made the following allegations in the complaints.

• Alleged Violation by the Debtor Defendants of the TSR Advance Fee Provision ("Count I"). The CFPB allegesd that the Debtor Defendants committed ongoing violations of 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(2), the advance fee provision of the TSR, beginning on March 8, 2016, by their billing practices. The advance-fee provision of the TSR is a U.S. Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") rule that purports to prohibit an organization from billing for credit repair services until the time frame represented for the delivery of all such services has expired and the seller has provided the customer with a credit report demonstrating promised results, issued more than six months after such results were achieved.

- Alleged Deceptive Acts or Practices in Violation of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 ("Count II"). The CFPB allegesd that the Debtor Defendants (excluding Lexington Law), through their marketing activities and conduct related to their Hotswap Partner relationships, engaged in deceptive acts or practices in violation of 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B).
- Alleged False or Misleading Statements Made to Induce Payment for Goods or Services in Violation of the TSR ("Count III"). The CFPB allegesd that the Debtor Defendants (excluding Lexington Law), in connection with their telemarketing of Lexington Law and the CreditRepair.com branded services and arrangements with their Hotswap Partners made certain false or misleading statements in violation of 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(4) of the TSR.
- Alleged Substantial Assistance of a Covered Person Engaged in Deceptive Acts or Practices in Violation of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 ("Count IV"). The CFPB allegesd that the Debtor Defendants (excluding Lexington Law) unlawfully knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance to certain Hotswap Partners, allegedly covered persons or service providers under 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6)(A), in violations of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B).
- Alleged Assistance and Facilitation of Violations of the TSR ("Count V"). The CFPB allegesd that the Debtor Defendants (excluding Lexington Law) engaged in a deceptive acts or practices by providing substantial assistance or support to certain Hotswap Partners, alleged "telemarketers" as defined by 16 C.F.R. § 310(ff), in violations of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(4).

The Debtors maintain that they have not violated any law or regulation and that the operation of their businesses has been fully consistent with applicable laws and regulations, as they have been interpreted historically since before 2000. 523 The CFPB Litigation has continued for nearly four years since from the CFPB's initial complaint.

On March 10, 2023, the District Court granted summary judgment against the Debtors solely as to Count I, finding in favor of the CFPB and holding that the Debtor Defendants violated the advance fee provision of the TSR. In response to the ruling and upon the expiration of an administrative stay following the ruling, the Debtors shut down approximately 80% of their business, including their call centers, and laid off approximately 900 employees, for the purpose of bringing the business into compliance with the interpretation of the TSR reflected in the District Court's ruling. Although the District Court has not yet made a determination on the remedies resulting from its ruling on Count I, the CFPB has The CFPB demanded nearly \$3 billion in restitution or refunds and other monetary relief and has requested certain injunctive relief: in connection with the adverse ruling as to Count I. The Debtors decided not to proceed with the interlocutory appeal after the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit denied the Debtors' request for administrative stay, but the Debtors reserved all rights to appeal a final judgment or other future appealable order.

While the "advance fee" provision was designed by the FTC over 25 years ago to protect against a breed of predatory credit repair companies, the rule has rarely been invoked in recent years. A federal statute enacted a year later, the Credit Repair Organizations Act (15 U.S.C. § 1679 et seq.), provides the fundamental guidelines for how credit repair companies can charge consumers, and PGX and Lexington Law have been in compliance with these fundamental guidelines.

The District Court is currentlywas considering the CFPB's Motion for Award of Monetary and Injunctive Relief, Assessment of Civil Money Penalties, and Entry of Final Judgment Against All Defendants on Count I, which seekssought, among other things, prospective injunctive relief enjoining future violations of the advance fee provision and over \$2.7 billion in monetary relief from the Debtor Defendants. On June 7, 2023, the District Court denied the CFPB motion for relief without prejudice, reasoning that outstanding issues of fact precluded the dDistrict eCourt from entering the requested relief [CFPB Docket No. 574]. On August 1, 2023, the parties filed a joint proposed pretrial order regarding the CFPB's request for monetary and injunctive relief under Count I [CFPB Docket No. 591]. Litigation on Counts II V is currently pending.

As discussed in detail in Article IV.3 of this Disclosure Statement, the Debtors successfully negotiated a global settlement with the CFPB resolving all outstanding claims against the Debtors as well as the CFPB Litigation and the CFPB's sale objection and conversion motion in the Chapter 11 Cases, and the terms of the CFPB Settlement were memorialized in the CFPB Settlement Order entered by the District Court. *See* CFPB Docket No. 600.

B. Other Business Challenges

1. Google's Ban on Paid Credit Repair Services Ads

One of the Debtors' primary and most effective tools to attract new consumers is online Historically, a notable percentage of the Debtors' new leads have come from paid advertising on Google. In November 2019, Google announced that it would update its policies to restrict the advertisement of credit repair services. Since then, paid ads for credit repair services are no longer allowed. This policy applied globally to all accounts that advertised credit repair services directly, to lead generators, and to those who connect consumers with third-party services. With more than 93% market share, Google consistently dominates the market shares of all search engines worldwide. As a result of Google's new policy, the Debtors lost the opportunity to reach hundreds of thousands of potential consumers. In June 2022, Google updated the enforcement procedures for repeat violations of the ban and began implementing a strike-based system for the credit repair services policies. In addition to penalties that progressively increase with each violation, businesses that continue to advertise credit repair services receive strikes. When a business reaches three strikes, the system automatically puts it on a "red list," permanently prohibiting it from advertising its business. The Google policy change has been significantly detrimental to the Debtors' business. Combined with the effects of the CFPB Litigation on the Debtors' sales and marketing processes, this policy has had the effect of cutting off the Debtors from large swaths of the market for their products and services.

2. Challenging Macroeconomic Conditions for the Credit Repair Industry

Macroeconomic conditions continue to contribute to a challenging environment for the Debtors, placing pressure on core credit repair demand. For example, in 2022, the average FICO credit score in the U.S. reached an all-time high of 726, following eleven consecutive years of increases. Unemployment is at its lowest level in fifty years. And overall, demand for credit has softened: according to the January 2023 Senior Loan Officer Opinion Survey on Bank Lending Practices, banks reported that demand for loans to households, including credit card, auto, and other consumer loans, has weakened relative to prior months. Each of these trends has reduced demand for credit repair services relative to prior years.

3. Deteriorating Financial Performance at PGX

PGX operations have failed to rebound from continual declines that began in 2019, and the business model changes occasioned by the CFPB Litigation will accelerate this trend.

4. Challenging Contractual Obligations at Lexington Law

The current internal forecast of liquidity for Lexington Law projects that the firm will not be able in the near term to satisfy its contractual obligations to pay PGX for the support services PGX provides to the firm. This will increase obligations owed to PGX over time. Given that PGX derives approximately 87% of its revenue from the provision of operating services to Lexington Law, changes in Lexington Law's liquidity will have an immediate effect on PGX and the PGX Debtors.

C. Exploration of Strategic Alternatives

The Debtors have been engaged for several years with advisors and stakeholders to address these business challenges and the uncertainty and potential liabilities associated with the CFPB Litigation. The events leading to a restructuring process began in 2019, and the Debtors have worked for several years to explore and execute alternative out-of-court restructuring transactions in an effort to maximize value for all stakeholders. Several months before the Petition Date, the Debtors' Prepetition Lenders, DIP Lenders, and other key stakeholders agreed to an out-of-court transaction and certain forbearances and waivers to provide runway for the Debtors to pursue a value-maximizing transaction. Ultimately, however, those efforts could not provide them the long-term relief the Debtors needed, and the Debtors determined that it was necessary to pivot towards discussions regarding an in-court restructuring process.

Thus, the Debtors, with the assistance of their advisors, have engaged with their stakeholders every step of the way on potential out-of-court solutions, and the Debtors Filed for chapter 11 protection only at the conclusion of (a) several years of exhaustive review of available pathways, (b) a recent adverse ruling in the CFPB Litigation, (c) a macroeconomic environment that remains difficult for the credit repair industry, (d) pressure caused by the upcoming termination of the forbearance term under those Forbearance Agreements granted to the Debtors by the Prepetition Lenders, and (e) the exhaustion of near-term liquidity. The Chapter 11 Cases are the Debtors' best opportunity to fully and fairly resolve their liabilities in a manner that preserves value and maintains the Debtors' ability to deliver their consumer-first products and services to their hard-working customer base.

VII. MATERIAL DEVELOPMENTS AND ANTICIPATED EVENTS OF THE CHAPTER 11 CASES

A. First Day Relief

On the Petition Date, along with their voluntary petitions for relief under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code (the "Petitions"), the Debtors Filed several motions (the "First Day Motions") designed to facilitate the administration of the Chapter 11 Cases and minimize disruption to the Debtors' operations, by, among other things, easing the strain on the Debtors' relationships with employees, vendors, and customers following the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases. On June 6–7, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered orders approving the First Day Motions on either an interim or final basis. From July 19–21, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered orders approving certain of the First Day Motions on a final basis.

A brief description of each of the First Day Motions and the evidence in support thereof is set forth in the *Declaration of Chad Wallace, Chief Executive Officer of PGX Holdings, Inc., in Support of Chapter 11 Filing and First Day Motions* [Docket No. 12] (the "<u>First Day Declaration</u>"), Filed on June 4, 2023. The First Day Motions, the First Day Declaration, and all orders for relief granted in the Chapter 11 Cases, can be viewed free of charge at https://www.kccllc.net/pgx.

B. Appointment of Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors

On June 14, 2023, the U.S. Trustee Filed the *Notice of Appointment of Committee of Unsecured Creditors* [Docket No. 90], notifying parties in interest that the U.S. Trustee had appointed the Committee in these Chapter 11 Cases. The Committee is currently comprised of: (a) Hawthorne Direct, LLC; (b) Site Selection Group, LLC; and (c) Argano, LLC.

On June 16, 2023, the Committee Filed the *Notice of Appearance and Request for Service of Papers* [Docket No. 95], identifying their proposed counsel as ArentFox Shiff LLP and Morris James LLP. The Committee subsequently retained FTI Consulting, Inc. as its financial advisor. The Debtors held a meeting of creditors pursuant to section 341 of the Bankruptcy Code on July 13, 2023.

C. Other Procedural and Administrative Motions

During these Chapter 11 Cases, the Debtors also Filed several other motions to further facilitate the smooth and efficient administration of the Chapter 11 Cases and reduce the administrative burdens associated therewith, including:

- <u>Bidding Procedures Motion</u>. Please see Article IV.A.2 and Article IV.A.3 of this Disclosure Statement for a discussion of the Bidding Procedures Motion.
- SOFA Extension Motion. The Motion of Debtors for Entry of an Order (I) Extending Time to File Schedules of Assets and Liabilities, Schedules of Current Income and Expenditures, Schedules of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases, Statements of Financial Affairs, and Rule 2015.3 Financial Reports and (II) Granting Related Relief [Docket No. 15] (the "SOFA Extension Motion"), seeking an extension of the deadlines by which the Debtors must File certain schedules of assets and liabilities and statements of financial affairs for each Debtor (the "Schedules and SOFAs") to and including August 1, 2023. On July 18, 2023, the Debtors Filed a certification of counsel stating that no objections to the SOFA Extension Motion had been Filed and asking the Bankruptcy Court to enter an order granting the SOFA Extension Motion [Docket No. 174]. On July 19, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving the SOFA Extension Motion on a final basis [Docket No. 197]. The Debtors Filed the Schedules and SOFAs on July 31 and August 1, 2023. See Docket Nos. 278–290, 293–300, 302–306.
- Ordinary Course Professionals Motion. The Debtors' Motion for Entry of an Order Authorizing the Debtors to Retain and Compensate Professionals Utilized in the Ordinary Course of Business [Docket No. 122] (the "OCP Motion"), Filed on June 30, 2023, seeking authorization for the Debtors to retain and compensate certain professionals utilized in the ordinary course of business. On July 18, 2023, the Debtors Filed a certificate of no objection stating that no objections to the OCP Motion had been Filed and asking the Bankruptcy Court to enter an order granting the OCP Motion [Docket No. 168]. On July 19, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving the OCP Motion on a final basis [Docket No. 209].
- Interim Compensation Procedures Motion. The Motion of Debtors for Entry of an Order (I) Establishing Procedures for Interim Compensation and Reimbursement of Expenses for Professionals and (II) Granting Related Relief [Docket No. 127] (the "Interim Compensation Procedures Motion"), Filed on June 30, 2023, seeking approval of procedures for the interim compensation and reimbursement of expenses of retained Professionals in the Chapter 11 Cases. On July 19, 2023, the Debtors

Filed a certification of counsel stating that no formal objections to the Interim Compensation Motion had been Filed and asking the Bankruptcy Court to enter an order granting the Interim Compensation Motion [Docket No. 186]. On July 19, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving the Interim Compensation Motion on a final basis [Docket No. 208].

- <u>De Minimis Asset Sales Motion</u>. The <u>Debtors' Motion for Entry of an Order Approving Procedures for the Sale, Transfer, and/or Abandonment of De Minimis Assets [Docket No. 136] (the "<u>De Minimis Asset Sales Motion</u>"), Filed on July 7, 2023, seeking authority to sell certain obsolete, excess, burdensome, non-core, or otherwise <u>de minimis</u> assets in individual transactions or a series of transactions with an aggregate sale price equal to or less than \$150,000. On July 18, 2023, the Debtors Filed a certification of counsel stating that no formal objections to the <u>De Minimis</u> Asset Sales Motion had been Filed and asking the Bankruptcy Court to enter an order granting the <u>De Minimis</u> Asset Sale Motion [Docket No. 170]. On July 19, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving the <u>De Minimis</u> Asset Sale Motion on a final basis [Docket No. 212].</u>
- Claims Bar Date Motion. The Debtors' Motion for Entry of an Order (A) Establishing Bar Dates for Filing Proofs of Claim, Including Claims Under 11 U.S.C. § 503(b)(9) and Administrative Expense Requests; (B) Approving the Form of and Manner for Filing Proofs of Claim and Administrative Expense Requests; and (C) Approving Notice Thereof: and (D) Granting Related Relief [Docket No. 138] (the "Claims Bar Date Motion"), Filed on July 7, 2023, seeking to establish bar dates for filing proofs of claims, amended schedules, and rejection damages, and approving the form and manner for filing proofs of claims. On July 18, 2023, the Debtors Filed a certificate of no objection stating that no objections to the Claims Bar Date Motion had been Filed and asking the Bankruptcy Court to enter an order granting the Claims Bar Date Motion [Docket No. 172]. On July 19, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving the Claims Bar Date Motion on a final basis [Docket No. 194]. On August 3, 2023, the Debtors filed notice of the bar dates [Docket No. 323]. On August 9, 2023, the Debtors caused notice of the bar dates to be published in the *USA Today* (National Edition) [Docket No. 342].

D. Retention of Debtor Professionals

The Debtors Filed applications for, and the Bankruptcy Court entered orders approving, the retention of various professionals to assist the Debtors in carrying out their duties as debtors in possession and to represent their interests in the Chapter 11 Cases:

- Kirkland & Ellis, LLP, as primary restructuring counsel [Docket No. 125],
- Klehr Harrison Harvey Branzburg LLP, LLP, as co-counsel [Docket No. 115],
- Greenhill & Co., LLC, as investment banker [Docket No. 124],
- Alvarez & Marsal North America, LLC, as financial advisor [Docket No. 123],
- Landis Rath & Cobb LLP, as conflicts counsel for PGX Holdings Inc. [Docket No. 121],

- Pachulski Stang Ziehl & Jones LLP, as conflicts counsel for Lexington Law [Docket No. 120],
- Kurtzman Carson Consultants LLC, as claims and noticing agent and administrative advisor [Docket Nos. 4, 116],
- Williams & Connolly LLP, as special counsel [Docket No. 119], and
- Holland & Hart, as special counsel [Docket No. 118].

In conjunction with the Retention Applications, the Debtors also Filed the Motion of Debtors for Entry of an Order Authorizing the Debtors to File Under Seal the Names of Certain Confidential Parties in Interest Related to the Debtors' Professional Retention Applications [Docket No. 126] (the "Motion to Seal"), seeking authority for the Debtors' professionals to redact and File under seal the names of certain confidential parties that were potential bidders in the Debtors' marketing process.

The Retention Applications, with the exception of the Greenhill Retention Application, were approved under certification of counsel, and orders were entered authorizing the Retention Applications. [Docket Nos. 56, 199, 202, 204, 205, 207, 214, 223]. The Greenhill Application was approved and the order entered following the Global Settlement on August 2, 2023 [Docket No. 322]. The Motion to Seal was also approved and the order entered on July 20, 2023 [Docket No. 226].

The foregoing professionals are, in part, responsible for the administration of the Chapter 11 Cases. The postpetition compensation of all of the Debtors' professionals retained pursuant to sections 327 and 328 of the Bankruptcy Code is subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

E. Approval of Debtor-in-Possession Financing

On June 5, 2023, the Debtors Filed the Motion of Debtors for Entry of Interim and Final Orders (I) Authorizing the Debtors to (A) Obtain Postpetition Financing and (B) Utilize Cash Collateral, (II) Granting Liens and Superpriority Administrative Expense Claims, (III) Modifying the Automatic Stay, (IV) Scheduling a Final Hearing, and (V) Granting Related Relief [Docket No. 17] (the "DIP Motion"), requesting that the Bankruptcy Court authorize the Debtors to receive senior secured postpetition financing on a superpriority basis in the form of a senior secured, super priority multiple draw term loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of \$19.925 million and to continue using the Prepetition Lenders' Cash Collateral to provide sufficient liquidity for their operations during these eChapter 11 eCases. The DIP Facility also featured a roll-up of prepetition debt in the amount (a) \$2.9 million, which corresponded to the amount of the emergency bridge financing provided the week before the Petition Date, subject to entry of the Interim Order, and (b) \$39.85 million, subject to entry of the The DIP Facility matures 105 days after the Petition Date. In consideration for the Final Order. consensual use of Cash Collateral, the Debtors agreed to provide the Prepetition Lenders with adequate protection as set forth in the DIP Motion and the accompanying proposed interim order. The Committee initially objected to the DIP Motion but withdrew its objection after reaching the Global Settlement, which was memorialized in a term sheet attached to the DIP Order. On June 6, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving the DIP Motion on an interim basis [Docket No. 70]. On August 3, 2023, the Debtors Filed a certification of counsel describing the objections they had received with respect to the DIP Motion, and the resolutions thereof [Docket No. 330]. On August 4, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered the DIP Order on a final basis [Docket No. 332].

F. Bidding Procedures and Marketing Process⁶²⁴

As described above, the Debtors conducted a marketing process for all of substantially all of their assets. In the period leading up to the Petition Date, Greenhill worked to prepare for a robust postpetition marketing process on an expedited basis that aligned with the milestones provided in the Restructuring Support Agreement and required by the DIP Facility. Greenhill, with the assistance of the Debtors, identified more than 120 parties, including strategic and financial partners, as potential bidders for the Debtors' assets.

In May 2023, the Prepetition First and Second Lien Lenders provided the Debtors with a purchase offer proposal comprised of two components—the provision of the DIP Facility to fund these Chapter 11 Cases and an agreement to serve as the stalking horse bidder and to credit-bid for substantially all of the assets of PGX in tandem with the sale of the Lexington Law assets. After extensive arm's-length negotiations with the Debtors' Prepetition First and Second Lien Lenders, the Debtors were able to secure the proposed multi-draw DIP Facility in an aggregate amount of up to \$19.925 million, coupled with a going-concern credit bid for substantially all of the assets of PGX. This proposal formed the basis for the DIP Financing and the Progrexion Stalking Horse Bid. The liquidity provided by the DIP Financing, and the support of the Progrexion Stalking Horse Bid, will facilitate a fulsome and value-maximizing postpetition marketing process for the sale of all or substantially all of the Debtors' assets.

The Debtors and their advisors negotiated entry into two separate stalking horse purchase agreements:

- <u>Progrexion APGXA</u> <u>Asset Purchase Agreement</u> between PGX Holdings, Inc., Progrexion Holdings, Inc., Credit.com, Inc., eFolks Holdings, Inc., Creditrepair.com Holdings, Inc., Progrexion ASG, Inc., Progrexion IP, Inc., Progrexion Marketing, Inc., Progrexion Teleservices, Inc., eFolks, LLC, Creditrepair.com, Inc., Credit Repair UK, Inc. and <u>Lender AequisitionCo LLCthe Progrexion Purchaser</u>. As consideration for the purchase of the PGX assets, the PGX <u>Asset Purchase Agreement APA</u> includes a credit bid of the amount of the DIP Facility, plus a portion of the first lien credit facility, for a total purchase amount of approximately \$\{\frac{1}{2}37.5\}\)—million.
- Lexington Law Asset Purchase Agreement APA between John C. Heath, Attorney at Law PC d/b/a Lexington Law, a Utah professional corporation and AcquisitionCo (the "Lexington Purchaser"). As consideration for the purchase of the Lexington Law assets, the Lexington Law Asset Purchase Agreement APA provides for the assumption and cure of the Operating Agreements with PGX, including (i) prepetition cure amounts of approximately \$28 million, (ii) payment of up to \$5.1 million of administrative expenses, and (iii) the assumption of the nearly 150,000 engagement agreements between Lexington Law and its direct clients (subject to compliance with applicable legal ethics rules related to the transfer of client files upon sale of a law firm).

The dual stalking horse bids are conditioned on each other and intended to permit the Debtors' underlying businesses, which are dependent on each other, to continue to operate as a going concern post-closing.

⁶²⁴ Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in this section have the meaning given to them in the Bidding Procedures.

A number of factors necessitated the separate Lexington Law Asset Purchase Agreement APA. First, because it is a law firm, certain assets of Lexington Law can only be owned by licensed attorneys in accordance with certain legal ethics rules. Second, John Heath, the principal attorney at Lexington Law, has decades of experience with the underlying business model and is uniquely positioned to continue to provide those services on a go-forward basis. The Lexington Law Asset Purchase Agreement APA was ultimately a condition of both the PGX stalking horse agreement and the DIP Facility, and was reviewed and approved by the independent director of Lexington Law in consultation with independent counsel.

While the transfer of the nearly 150,000 engagement agreements between Lexington Law and its direct clients is consideration for the purchase of the Lexington Law assets, each Lexington Law client was given an opportunity to opt-out of the transfer of their representation to the Lexington Purchaser in the Sale Transaction by completing a form on the Claim and Noticing Agent website at www.kccllc.net/Lex. Only records relating to the clients of Lexington Law that did not opt out of the Sale Transaction by September 10, 2023 will be transferred from Lexington Law to the Successful Bidder for the Lexington Law Assets. In connection with such Sale Transaction, the Lexington Law records relating to the clients will be maintained and transferred in accordance with any and all applicable rules of professional conduct, and all the clients' rights under the engagement letters will be preserved.

Under the Bidding Procedures approved by the Bankruptcy Court, the deadline for interested parties to submit binding Bids was August 11, 2023, at 5:00 p.m., prevailing Eastern Time. Qualified Bids were required to satisfy the general Bid Requirements set forth in the Bidding Procedures. The deadline to object to the Sale Transaction was August 14, 2023, at 5:00 p.m., prevailing Eastern Time. In accordance with the Bidding Procedures Order, the contract counterparties received notice of potentially assumed executory contracts and unexpired leases on August 4, 2023. See Notice to Contract Parties to Potentially Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases [Docket No. 336]. While the Auction was scheduled for August 15, 2023, at 5:00 p.m., prevailing Eastern Time, via Zoom, the Debtors did not receive any Bids that were more favorable than the stalking horse purchase agreements. Accordingly, the Debtors cancelled the auction and will seeksought approval of the ssale transactions contemplated by the stalking horse agreements. See [Docket No. 356].

On August 25, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court approved the Sale Transaction and entered the Sale Orders. See Docket Nos. 422–423.

G. Litigation Matters

In the ordinary course of business, the Debtors are parties to certain lawsuits, legal proceedings, collection proceedings, and claims arising out of their business operations. The Debtors cannot predict with certainty the outcome of these lawsuits, legal proceedings, and claims.

On June 5, 2023, Kirsten Hansen, on behalf of herself and others similarly situated, Filed a class action complaint against some of the Debtors in the Bankruptcy Court, alleging violations of the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, 29 U.S.C. § 2101 et seq. (the "WARN Act") [Docket No. 34]. In particular, the plaintiff alleges that the Debtors failed to provide advance notice of the termination as required by the WARN Act. The Debtors are working to resolve this litigation matter during the Chapter 11 Cases.

With certain exceptions, the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases operates as a stay with respect to the commencement or continuation of litigation against the Debtors that was or could have been commenced before the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases. In addition, the Debtors' liability with respect to litigation stayed by the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases generally is subject to

discharge, settlement, and release upon confirmation of a plan under chapter 11, with certain exceptions. Therefore, certain litigation Claims against the Debtors may be subject to discharge in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases.

Pursuant to section 362(b)(4) of the Bankruptcy Code, the automatic stay does not apply to the commencement or continuation of an action or proceeding by a governmental unit, among others, to enforce such governmental unit's police and regulatory power, including the enforcement of a judgment other than a money judgment, obtained in an action or proceeding by the governmental unit to enforce such governmental unit's police or regulatory power. Therefore, the CFPB Litigation is excepted from the automatic stay as and to the extent set forth in section 362(b)(4) of the Bankruptcy Code. The As explained in greater detail in Article IV.3 of this Disclosure Statement, however, the Debtors are currently in the process of negotiatinged thea settlement with CFPB with respect to counts II through V of the CFPB Litigation that resolves all outstanding claims against the Debtors.

H. Assumption and Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

The Debtors are party to a substantial number of executory contracts. The Debtors, with the assistance of their advisors, have reviewed and will continue to review the Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases to identify contracts and leases to either assume or reject pursuant to sections 365 or 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code. To facilitate this process, the Debtors have Filed the following motions:

- First Omnibus Rejection Motion. The First Omnibus Motion of Debtors for Entry of an Order (I) Authorizing the Rejection of Certain Unexpired Leases and Executory Contracts, (II) Authorizing Abandonment of Certain Personal Property, Each Effective as of the Petition Date, and (III) Granting Related Relief [Docket No. 10] (the "First Omnibus Rejection Motion"), Filed on the Petition Date, seeking authority to reject certain unexpired leases and executory contracts and abandonment of certain equipment, fixtures, furniture, or other personal property. On July 18, 2023, the Debtors Filed a certificate of no objection stating that no formal objections to the First Omnibus Rejection Motion had been Filed and asking the Bankruptcy Court to enter an order granting the First Omnibus Rejection Motion [Docket No. 162]. On July 19, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving the First Omnibus Rejection Motion on a final basis [Docket No. 216].
- Second Omnibus Rejection Motion. The Second Omnibus Motion of Debtors for Entry of an Order Authorizing the Rejection of Certain Executory Contracts, Effective as of the Petition Date, and Granting Related Relief [Docket No. 75] (the "Second Omnibus Rejection Motion"), Filed on June 8, 2023, seeking authority to reject certain executory contracts. On July 18, 2023, the Debtors Filed a certificate of no objection stating that no formal objections to the Second Omnibus Rejection Motion had been Filed and asking the Bankruptcy Court to enter an order granting the Second Omnibus Rejection Motion [Docket No. 163]. On July 19, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving the Second Omnibus Rejection Motion on a final basis [Docket No. 196].
- Third Omnibus Rejection Motion. The Third Omnibus Motion of Debtors for Entry of an Order Authorizing the Rejection of Certain Executory Contracts, Effective as of the Rejection Date, and Granting Related Relief [Docket No. 135] (the "Third Omnibus Rejection Motion"), Filed on July 7, 2023, seeking authority to reject certain executory contracts. On July 18, 2023, the Debtors Filed a certificate of no objection stating that no formal objections to the Third Omnibus Rejection Motion had been Filed and asking the Bankruptcy Court to enter an order granting the Third

Omnibus Rejection Motion [Docket No. 169]. On July 19, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving the Third Omnibus Rejection Motion on a final basis [Docket No. 211].

- Fourth Omnibus Rejection Motion. The Fourth Omnibus Motion of Debtors for Entry of an Order Authorizing the Rejection of Certain Executory Contracts, Effective as of the Rejection Date, and Granting Related Relief [Docket No. 340] (the "Fourth Omnibus Rejection Motion"), Filed on August 8, 2023, seeking authority to reject certain executory contracts. On August 23, 2023, the Debtors Filed a certificate of no objection stating that no formal objections to the Third Omnibus Rejection Motion had been Filed and asking the Bankruptcy Court to enter an order granting the Fourth Omnibus Rejection Motion [Docket No. 396]. On August 23, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving the Third Omnibus Rejection Motion on a final basis [Docket No. 401].
- Fifth Omnibus Rejection Motion. The Fifth Omnibus Motion of Debtors for Entry of an Order Authorizing the Rejection of Certain Executory Contracts, Effective as of the Petition Date, and Granting Related Relief [Docket No. 345] (the "Fifth Omnibus Rejection Motion"), Filed on August 9, 2023, seeking authority to reject certain executory contracts. On August 23, 2023, the Debtors Filed a certificate of no objection stating that no formal objections to the Fifth Omnibus Rejection Motion had been Filed and asking the Bankruptcy Court to enter an order granting the Third Omnibus Rejection Motion [Docket No. 397]. On August 23, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving the Third Omnibus Rejection Motion on a final basis [Docket No. 402].

Additionally, the Debtors Filed the *Debtors' Motion Seeking Entry of an Order (I) Authorizing and Approving Procedures to Reject Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases and (II) Granting Related Relief* [Docket No. 137] (the "Rejection Procedures Motion") on July 7, 2023, seeking approval of procedures for rejecting executory contracts and unexpired leases. On July 18, 2023, the Debtors Filed a certificate of no objection stating that no objections to the Rejection Procedures Motion had been Filed and asking the Bankruptcy Court to enter an order granting the Rejection Procedures Motion [Docket No. 171]. On July 19, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving the Rejection Procedures Motion on a final basis [Docket No. 217]. On August 29, 2023, the Debtors also Filed the Debtors' Motion for Entry of an Order, Pursuant to Section 365(d)(4) of the Bankruptcy Code, Extending Time to Assume or Reject Unexpired Leases of Residential Property [Docket No. 428].

On the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided in the Plan or in the Sale Orders, each Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease not previously assumed, assumed and assigned, or rejected shall be deemed automatically rejected, pursuant to sections 365 and 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code, unless such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease: (1) is identified on the Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases Schedule; (2) is the subject of a motion to assume (or assume and assign) such Executory Contract that is pending on the Confirmation Date; (3) is a contract, instrument, release, indenture, or other agreement or document entered into in connection with the Plan; (4) is a directors and officers insurance policy; (5) is the Asset Purchase Agreements; or (6) is to be assumed by the Debtors and assigned to the Purchasers in connection with the Sale Transaction and pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreements Sale Transaction Documents.

Entry of the Confirmation Order by the Bankruptcy Court shall constitute a Final Order approving the assumptions, assumptions and assignments, or rejections of the Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases pursuant to the Plan; *provided* that neither the Plan nor the Confirmation Order is intended to or shall be construed as limiting the Debtors' authority under the Sale Orders to assume and

assign Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases to the Purchasers pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreements. Any motions to assume Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases pending on the Effective Date shall be subject to approval by the Bankruptcy Court on or after the Effective Date by a Final Order but may be withdrawn, settled, or otherwise prosecuted by the Wind-Down Debtor. Each Executory Contract and Unexpired Lease assumed pursuant to Article V.A of the Plan or by any order of the Bankruptcy Court, which has not been assigned to a third party prior to the Confirmation Date, shall revest in and be fully enforceable by the Wind-Down Debtor in accordance with its terms, except as such terms are modified by the provisions of the Plan or any order of the Bankruptcy Court authorizing and providing for its assumption under applicable federal law.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan or the Sale Transaction Documents, the Debtors, the Wind-Down Debtor, the Purchasers, and the Plan Administrator, as applicable, reserve the right to alter, amend, modify, or supplement the Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases Schedule and the Rejected Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases Schedule identified in Article V of the Plan and in the Plan Supplement at any time through and including [ninety (90) days]—after the Effective Date. The Debtors or the Wind-Down Debtor, as applicable, shall provide notice of any amendments to the Rejected Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases Schedule or the Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases Schedule to the parties to the Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases affected thereby. For the avoidance of doubt, Article V relates to Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases other than such agreements assumed, assumed and assigned, or rejected in accordance with the terms of the Sale Orders.

Although their analysis is ongoing, the Debtors currently estimate that the aggregate amount of Claims on account of rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases may be significant.

I. Claims Based on Rejection of Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases

Unless otherwise provided by a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court, all Proofs of Claim with respect to Claims arising from the rejection of Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases, pursuant to the Plan or the Confirmation Order, if any, must be Filed with the Bankruptcy Court within thirty (30) days after the later of (1) the date of entry of an order of the Bankruptcy Court (including the Confirmation Order) approving such rejection, (2) the effective date of such rejection, or (3) the Effective Date. Any Claims arising from the rejection of an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease not Filed with the Bankruptcy Court within such time will be automatically disallowed, forever barred from assertion, and shall not be enforceable against the Debtors-or, the Wind-Down Debtor, the Estates, the Creditor Trust, the Liquidating Trust (if any), the Purchasers, or their respective property without the need for any objection by the Wind-Down Debtor or further notice to, or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court or any other Entity, and any Claim arising out of the rejection of the Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease shall be deemed fully satisfied, released, and discharged, notwithstanding anything in a Proof of Claim to the contrary, unless otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court. All Allowed Claims arising from the rejection of the Debtors' Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases shall be classified as General Unsecured Claims and shall be treated in accordance with Error! Reference source not found. Article III of the Plan or such other treatment as agreed to by the Wind-Down Debtor and the Holder of such Claim.

J. Cure of Defaults

Any monetary defaults under an assumed Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease, as reflected on the Cure Notice, shall be satisfied, pursuant to section 365(b)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code, by payment of the Cure Claim in Cash on the Effective Date, subject to the limitations described below, or on such other terms as the parties to such Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases may otherwise agree. In the event of a dispute regarding (1) the amount of any payments to cure such a default, (2) the ability of the

Wind-Down Debtors or any assignee, as applicable, to provide "adequate assurance of future performance" (within the meaning of section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code) under the Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease to be assumed, or (3) any other matter pertaining to assumption, the cure payments required by section 365(b)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code shall be made following the entry of a Final Order resolving the dispute and approving the assumption.

At least fourteen (14) days before the Confirmation Hearing, the Debtors shall distribute, or cause to be distributed, Cure Notices of proposed assumption or assumption and assignment and proposed amounts of Cure Claims to the applicable third parties. Any objection by a counterparty to an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease to a proposed assumption or assumption and assignment or related cure amount must be Filed, served, and actually received by the Debtors at least seven days before the Confirmation Hearing. Any counterparty to an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease that fails to timely object to the proposed assumption or assumption and assignment or cure amount will be deemed to have assented to such assumption or assumption and assignment and cure amount. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in the event that any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease is removed from the Rejected Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases Schedule after such 14-day deadline, a Cure Notice of proposed assumption or assumption and assignment and proposed amounts of Cure Claims with respect to such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease will be sent promptly to the counterparty thereof and a noticed hearing set to consider whether such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease can be assumed or assumed and assigned.

If the Bankruptcy Court determines that the Allowed Cure Claim with respect to any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease is greater than the amount set forth in the applicable Cure Notice, the Debtors or Wind-Down Debtors, as applicable, may add such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease to the Rejected Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases Schedule, in which case such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease will be deemed rejected as the Effective Date.

Assumption of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease pursuant to the Plan or otherwise shall result in the full release and satisfaction of any Claims or defaults, whether monetary or nonmonetary (solely to the extent agreed between the Debtors and the counterparty to an applicable Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease), including defaults of provisions restricting the change in control or ownership interest composition or other bankruptcy-related defaults, arising under any assumed Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease at any time before the date that the Debtors assume such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease. Any Proofs of Claim Filed with respect to an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease that has been assumed shall be deemed disallowed and expunged, without further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

VIII. RISK FACTORS

Holders of Claims should read and consider carefully the risk factors set forth, as well as the other information set forth in this Disclosure Statement and the documents delivered together with this Disclosure Statement, referred to or incorporated by reference in this Disclosure Statement, below before voting to accept or reject the Plan. Although there are many risk factors discussed below, these factors should not be regarded as constituting the only risks present in connection with the Debtors' business or the Plan and its implementation.

A. Certain Bankruptcy Law Considerations

The occurrence or nonoccurrence of any or all of the following contingencies, and any others, may affect distributions available to Holders of Allowed Claims and Allowed Interests under the Plan but

will not necessarily affect the validity of the vote of the Impaired Classes to accept or reject the Plan or necessarily require a re-solicitation of the votes of Holders of Claims in such Impaired Classes.

1. Parties in Interest May Object to the Plan's Classification of Claims and Interests

Section 1122 of the Bankruptcy Code provides that a plan may place a claim or an equity interest in a particular class only if such claim or equity interest is substantially similar to the other claims or equity interests in such class. The Debtors believe that the classification of the Claims and Interests under the Plan complies with the requirements set forth in the Bankruptcy Code because the Debtors created Classes of Claims and Interests each encompassing Claims or Interests, as applicable, that are substantially similar to the other Claims or Interests, as applicable, in each such Class. Nevertheless, there can be no assurance that the Bankruptcy Court will reach the same conclusion.

2. The Conditions Precedent to the Effective Date of the Plan May Not Occur

As more fully set forth in Article IX of the Plan, the Effective Date of the Plan is subject to a number of conditions precedent. If such conditions precedent are waived or not met, the Effective Date will not take place.

3. The Debtors May Fail to Satisfy Vote Requirements

If votes are received in number and amount sufficient to enable the Bankruptcy Court to confirm the Plan, the Debtors intend to seek, as promptly as practicable thereafter, Confirmation of the Plan. In the event that sufficient votes are not received, the Debtors may seek to pursue another strategy to wind down the Estates, such as confirm an alternative chapter 11 plan, a dismissal of the Chapter 11 Cases and an out-of-court dissolution, an assignment for the benefit of creditors, a conversion to a chapter 7 case, or other strategies. There can be no assurance that the terms of any such alternative strategies would be similar or as favorable to the Holders of Interests and Allowed Claims as those proposed in the Plan.

4. The Debtors May Not Be Able to Secure Confirmation of the Plan

Section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code sets forth the requirements for confirmation of a chapter 11 plan, and requires, among other things, a finding by the Bankruptcy Court that: (a) such plan "does not unfairly discriminate" and is "fair and equitable" with respect to any non-accepting classes; (b) confirmation of such plan is not likely to be followed by a liquidation or a need for further financial reorganization unless such liquidation or reorganization is contemplated by the plan; and (c) the value of distributions to non-accepting holders of claims or equity interests within a particular class under such plan will not be less than the value of distributions such holders would receive if the debtors were liquidated under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.

There can be no assurance that the requisite acceptances to confirm the Plan will be received. Even if the requisite acceptances are received, there can be no assurance that the Bankruptcy Court will confirm the Plan. A non-accepting Holder of an Allowed Claim might challenge either the adequacy of this Disclosure Statement or whether the balloting procedures and the voting results satisfy the requirements of the Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Rules. Even if the Bankruptcy Court determines that this Disclosure Statement, the balloting procedures, and voting results are appropriate, the Bankruptcy Court could still decline to confirm the Plan if it finds that any of the statutory requirements for Confirmation are not met. If the Plan is not confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court, it is unclear what distributions, if any, Holders of Allowed Claims and Allowed Interests will receive with respect to their

Allowed Claims and Allowed Interests. The Bankruptcy Court, as a court of equity, may exercise substantial discretion.

The Debtors, after consultation with the Committee, reserve the right to modify the terms and conditions of the Plan as necessary for Confirmation. Any, provided that such modification is consistent with the Global Settlement Term Sheet or does not adversely impact the treatment of Classes 6A, 6B, 6C, or 6D. Except as provided in the preceding sentence, any such modifications may result in a less favorable treatment of any Class, as well as any class junior to such non-accepting class, than the treatment currently provided in the Plan. Such a less favorable treatment may include a distribution of property to the Class affected by the modification of a lesser value than currently provided in the Plan or no distribution of property whatsoever under the Plan.

5. Nonconsensual Confirmation

In the event that any impaired class of claims or interests does not accept a chapter 11 plan, a bankruptcy court may nevertheless confirm a plan at the proponents' request if at least one impaired class (as defined under section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code) has accepted the plan (with such acceptance being determined without including the vote of any "insider" in such class), and, as to each impaired class that has not accepted the plan, the bankruptcy court determines that the plan "does not discriminate unfairly" and is "fair and equitable" with respect to the dissenting impaired class(es). The Debtors believe that the Plan satisfies these requirements, and the Debtors may request such nonconsensual Confirmation in accordance with subsection 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code. Nevertheless, there can be no assurance that the Bankruptcy Court will reach this conclusion. In addition, the pursuit of nonconsensual Confirmation or Consummation of the Plan may result in, among other things, increased expenses relating to professional compensation.

6. Plan Exclusivity Period

In addition, at the outset of the Chapter 11 Cases, the Bankruptcy Code provides the Debtors with the exclusive right to propose the Plan and prohibits creditors and others from proposing a plan. The Debtors will have retained the exclusive right to propose the Plan upon filing their Petitions. If the Bankruptcy Court terminates that right, however, or the exclusivity period expires, there could be a material adverse effect on the Debtors' ability to achieve confirmation of the Plan in order to achieve the Debtors' stated goals.

7. The Chapter 11 Cases May Be Converted to Cases under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code

If a bankruptcy court finds that it would be in the best interest of creditors and/or the debtor in a chapter 11 case, the bankruptcy court may convert a chapter 11 bankruptcy case to a case under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. In such event, a chapter 7 trustee would be appointed or elected to liquidate the debtor's assets for distribution in accordance with the priorities established by the Bankruptcy Code. The Debtors believe that liquidation under chapter 7 would result in significantly smaller distributions being made to creditors than those provided for in a chapter 11 plan because of the additional expenses the Debtors would necessarily incur related to the chapter 7 trustee and additional retained professionals. Such expenses may decrease recoveries for Holders of Allowed Claims in the Voting Classes. *See, e.g.*, 11 U.S.C. §§ 326(a), 503(b)(2). The conversion to chapter 7 would require entry of a new bar date, which may increase the amount of Allowed Claims and thereby reduce Pro Rata recoveries. *See* Fed. R. Bankr. P. 1019(2), 3002(c).

8. The Debtors May Object to the Amount or Classification of a Claim

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, the Debtors reserve the right to object to the amount or classification of any Claim under the Plan. The estimates set forth in this Disclosure Statement cannot be relied upon by any Holder of a Claim where such Claim is subject to an objection. Any Holder of a Claim that is subject to an objection thus may not receive its expected share of the estimated distributions described in this Disclosure Statement.

9. Risk of Non-Occurrence of the Effective Date

Although the Debtors believe that the Effective Date may occur quickly after the Confirmation Date, there can be no assurance as to such timing or as to whether the Effective Date will, in fact, occur.

10. Contingencies May Affect Votes of Impaired Classes to Accept or Reject the Plan

The distributions available to Holders of Allowed Claims under the Plan can be affected by a variety of contingencies, including, without limitation, whether the Bankruptcy Court orders certain Allowed Claims to be subordinated to other Allowed Claims. The occurrence of any and all such contingencies, which may affect distributions available to Holders of Allowed Claims under the Plan, will not affect the validity of the vote taken by the Impaired Classes to accept or reject the Plan or require any sort of revote by the Impaired Classes.

The estimated Claims and creditor recoveries set forth in this Disclosure Statement are based on various assumptions, and the actual Allowed amounts of Claims may significantly differ from the estimates. Should one or more of the underlying assumptions ultimately prove to be incorrect, the actual Allowed amounts of Claims may vary from the estimated Claims contained in this Disclosure Statement. Moreover, the Debtors cannot determine with any certainty at this time, the number or amount of Claims that will ultimately be Allowed. Such differences may materially and adversely affect, among other things, the percentage recoveries to Holders of Allowed Claims under the Plan.

11. Releases, Injunctions, and Exculpations Provisions May Not Be Approved

Article VIII of the Plan provides for certain releases, injunctions, and exculpations, including a release of liens and third-party releases that may otherwise be asserted against the Debtors, Wind-Down Debtor, or Released Parties, as applicable. The releases, injunctions, and exculpations provided in the Plan are subject to objection by parties in interest and may not be approved. If the releases are not approved, certain Released Parties may withdraw their support for the Plan.

12. The Total Amount of Allowed Other General Unsecured Claims May Be Higher Than Anticipated by the Debtors

With respect to Holders of Allowed Other General Unsecured Claims, the Claims Filed against the Debtors' Estates may be materially higher than the Debtors have estimated.

13. Certain Tax Implications of the Plan

Holders of Allowed Claims should carefully review Article XI of this Disclosure Statement, entitled "MATERIAL UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES," to determine how the tax implications of the Plan and the Chapter 11 Cases may adversely affect the Wind-Down Debtor, Creditor Trust, and Holders of Claims and Interests.

B. Disclosure Statement Disclaimer

1. The Financial Information Contained in this Disclosure Statement Has Not Been Audited

In preparing this Disclosure Statement, the Debtors and their advisors relied on financial data derived from their books and records that was available at the time of such preparation. Although the Debtors have used their reasonable business judgment to ensure the accuracy of the financial information, and any conclusions or estimates drawn from such financial information, provided in this Disclosure Statement, and while the Debtors believe that such financial information fairly reflects the financial condition of the Debtors, the Debtors are unable to warrant that the financial information contained herein, or any such conclusions or estimates drawn therefrom, is without inaccuracies.

2. Information Contained in this Disclosure Statement Is for Soliciting Votes

The information contained in this Disclosure Statement is for the purposes of soliciting acceptances of the Plan and may not be relied upon for any other purpose.

3. This Disclosure Statement Was Not Reviewed or Approved by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission

This Disclosure Statement was not filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Act or applicable state securities laws. Neither the United States Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state regulatory authority has passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this Disclosure Statement, or the exhibit or the statements contained in this Disclosure Statement.

4. This Disclosure Statement May Contain Forward Looking Statements

This Disclosure Statement may contain "forward looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such statements consist of any statement other than a recitation of historical fact and can be identified by the use of forward looking terminology such as "may," "will," "might," "expect," "believe," "anticipate," "could," "would," "estimate," "continue," "pursue," or the negative thereof or comparable terminology. All forward looking statements are necessarily speculative, and there are certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual events or results to differ materially from those referred to in such forward looking statements. The information contained herein is an estimate only, based upon information currently available to the Debtors.

5. No Legal or Tax Advice Is Provided to You by this Disclosure Statement

This Disclosure Statement does not constitute legal advice to you. The contents of this Disclosure Statement should not be construed as legal, business, or tax advice. Each Holder of a Claim or an Interest should consult his or her own legal counsel, accountant, or other applicable advisor with regard to any legal, tax, and other matters concerning his or her Claim or Interest. This Disclosure Statement may not be relied upon for any purpose other than to determine how to vote on the Plan or object to Confirmation of the Plan.

6. No Admissions Made

The information and statements contained in this Disclosure Statement will neither (a) constitute an admission of any fact or liability by any entity (including, without limitation, the Debtors) nor (b) be

deemed evidence of the tax or other legal effects of the Plan on the Debtors, Holders of Allowed Claims or Allowed Interests, or any other parties in interest.

7. Failure to Identify Litigation Claims or Projected Objections

No reliance should be placed on the fact that a particular litigation claim or projected objection to a particular Claim or Interest is, or is not, identified in this Disclosure Statement. The Debtors or the Plan Administrator may seek to investigate, File, and prosecute Claims and Interests and may object to Claims or Interests after the Confirmation or Effective Date of the Plan irrespective of whether this Disclosure Statement identifies such Claims or Interests or objections to such Claims or Interests.

8. No Waiver of Right to Object to Claim or Interest

The vote by a Holder of a Claim or Interest for or against the Plan does not constitute a waiver or release of any claims, causes of action, or rights of the Debtors (or any entity, as the case may be) to object to that Holder's Claim or Interest, regardless of whether any claims or causes of action of the Debtors or their respective Estates are specifically or generally identified in this Disclosure Statement.

9. Information Was Provided by the Debtors and Was Relied Upon by the Debtors' Advisors

The Debtors' advisors have relied upon information provided by the Debtors in connection with the preparation of this Disclosure Statement. Although the Debtors' advisors have performed certain limited due diligence in connection with the preparation of this Disclosure Statement, they have not independently verified the information contained in this Disclosure Statement.

10. Potential Exists for Inaccuracies, and the Debtors Have No Duty to Update

The statements contained in this Disclosure Statement are made by the Debtors as of the date of this Disclosure Statement, unless otherwise specified in this Disclosure Statement, and the delivery of this Disclosure Statement after the date of this Disclosure Statement does not imply that there has not been a change in the information set forth in this Disclosure Statement since that date. While the Debtors have used their reasonable business judgment to ensure the accuracy of all of the information provided in this Disclosure Statement and in the Plan, the Debtors nonetheless cannot, and do not, confirm the current accuracy of all statements appearing in this Disclosure Statement. Further, although the Debtors may subsequently update the information in this Disclosure Statement, the Debtors have no affirmative duty to do so unless ordered to do so by the Bankruptcy Court.

11. No Representations Outside this Disclosure Statement Are Authorized

No representations concerning or relating to the Debtors, the Chapter 11 Cases, or the Plan are authorized by the Bankruptcy Court or the Bankruptcy Code, other than as set forth in this Disclosure Statement. Any representations or inducements made to secure your acceptance or rejection of the Plan that are other than as contained in, or included with, this Disclosure Statement, should not be relied upon by you in arriving at your decision. You should promptly report unauthorized representations or inducements to the counsel to the Debtors and the U.S. Trustee.

IX. SOLICITATION AND VOTING PROCEDURES

This Disclosure Statement, which is accompanied by a ballot or ballots to be used for voting on the Plan, is being distributed to the Holders of Claims or Interests in those Classes that are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan. The procedures and instructions for voting and related deadlines are set forth in the exhibits annexed to the Disclosure Statement Order.

The Disclosure Statement Order is incorporated herein by reference and should be read in conjunction with this Disclosure Statement in formulating a decision to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

THE DISCUSSION OF THE SOLICITATION AND VOTING PROCESS SET FORTH IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT IS ONLY A SUMMARY.

PLEASE REFER TO THE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT ORDER ATTACHED HERETO FOR A MORE COMPREHENSIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE SOLICITATION AND VOTING PROCESS.

A. Holders of Claims Entitled to Vote on the Plan

Under the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, not all holders of claims against or interests in a debtor are entitled to vote on a chapter 11 plan. The table in Article III.C of this Disclosure Statement, entitled "Am I entitled to vote on the Plan?" provides a summary of the status and voting rights of each Class (and, therefore, of each Holder within such Class absent an objection to the Holder's Claim or Interest) under the Plan.

As shown in the table, the Debtors are soliciting votes to accept or reject the Plan only from Holders of Claims in Classes 4, 5, 6A, 6B, 6C, and 6D (collectively, the "Voting Classes"). The Holders of Claims in the Voting Classes are Impaired under the Plan and may, in certain circumstances, receive a distribution under the Plan. Accordingly, Holders of Claims in the Voting Classes have the right to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

The Debtors are *not* soliciting votes from Holders of Claims or Interests in Classes 1, 2, 3, and 7 through 11. Additionally, the Disclosure Statement Order provides that certain Holders of Claims in the Voting Classes, such as those Holders whose Claims have been disallowed or are subject to a pending objection, are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

B. Voting Record Date

The Voting Record Date is [September 15], 2023. The Voting Record Date is the date on which it will be determined which Holders of Claims or Interests in the Voting Classes are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan and whether Claims or Interests have been properly assigned or transferred under Bankruptcy Rule 3001(e) such that an assignee or transferee, as applicable, can vote to accept or reject the Plan as the Holder of a Claim or Interest.

C. Voting on the Plan

The Voting Deadline is October [20], 2023, at [4]:00 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time). To be counted as votes to accept or reject the Plan, all ballots must be properly executed, completed, and delivered as directed, so that your ballot containing your vote is actually received by the Claims and Noticing Agent on or before the Voting Deadline.

To vote, complete, sign, and date your ballot and return it (with an original signature) *promptly* in the enclosed reply envelope or to one of the below addresses.

By regular mail, overnight mail, or hand delivery at:

PGX Holdings, Inc. Ballot Processing c/o Kurtzman Carson Consultants LLC 222 N. Pacific Coast Highway, Suite 300 El Segundo, CA 90245

OR

SUBMIT VIA AN ELECTRONIC BALLOT THROUGH THE CLAIMS AND NOTICING AGENT'S ONLINE ELECTRONIC BALLOT SUBMISSION PORTAL AT HTTPS://WWW.KCCLLC.NET/PGX.

PLEASE SELECT JUST ONE OPTION TO VOTE.

IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS ABOUT THE SOLICITATION OR VOTING PROCESS, PLEASE CONTACT THE CLAIMS AND NOTICING AGENT TOLL FREE AT (888) 249-2721 (DOMESTIC) or +1 (310) 751-2604 (INTERNATIONAL) OR VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL TO WWW.KCCLLC.NET/PGX/INQUIRY.

D. Ballots Not Counted

No ballot will be counted toward Confirmation if, among other things: (1) it is illegible or contains insufficient information to permit the identification of the Holder of the Claim or Interest; (2) it was transmitted by means other than as specifically set forth in the ballots; (3) it was cast by an entity that is not entitled to vote on the Plan; (4) it was cast for a Claim listed in the Debtors' schedules as contingent, unliquidated, or disputed for which the applicable bar date has passed and no proof of claim was filed; (5) it was cast for a Claim that is subject to an objection pending as of the Voting Record Date (unless temporarily allowed in accordance with the Disclosure Statement Order); (6) it was sent to the Debtors, the Debtors' agents/representatives (other than the Claims and Noticing Agent), or the Debtors' financial or legal advisors instead of the Claims and Noticing Agent; (7) it is unsigned; or (8) it is not clearly marked to either accept or reject the Plan or it is marked both to accept and reject the Plan.

Please refer to the Disclosure Statement Order for additional requirements with respect to voting to accept or reject the Plan.

ANY BALLOT RECEIVED AFTER THE VOTING DEADLINE OR THAT IS OTHERWISE NOT IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT ORDER WILL $\underline{\text{NOT}}$ BE COUNTED.

X. CONFIRMATION OF THE PLAN

A. Requirements for Confirmation of the Plan

Among the requirements for Confirmation of the Plan pursuant to section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code are: (1) the Plan is accepted by all Impaired Classes of Claims or Interests, or if rejected by an Impaired Class, the Plan "does not discriminate unfairly" and is "fair and equitable" as to the rejecting Impaired Class; (2) the Plan is feasible; and (3) the Plan is in the "best interests" of Holders of Claims or Interests.

At the Confirmation Hearing, the Bankruptcy Court will determine whether the Plan satisfies all of the requirements of section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code. The Debtors believe that: (1) the Plan satisfies, or will satisfy, all of the necessary statutory requirements of chapter 11 for plan confirmation; (2) the Debtors have complied, or will have complied, with all of the necessary requirements of chapter 11 for plan confirmation; and (3) the Plan has been proposed in good faith.

B. Best Interests of Creditors/Liquidation Analysis

Often called the "best interests" test, section 1129(a)(7) of the Bankruptcy Code requires that a bankruptcy court find, as a condition to confirmation, that a chapter 11 plan provides, with respect to each impaired class, that each holder of a claim or an equity interest in such impaired class either (1) has accepted the plan or (2) will receive or retain under the plan property of a value that is not less than the amount that the non-accepting holder would receive or retain if the debtors liquidated under chapter 7.

The Debtors Attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by reference is a liquidation analysis (the "Liquidation Analysis") prepared by the Debtors with the assistance of the Debtors' advisors. As reflected in the Liquidation Analysis, the Debtors believe that liquidation of the Debtors' business under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code would result in substantial diminution in the value to be realized by Holders of Allowed Claims or Interests as compared to distributions contemplated under the Plan. Consequently, the Debtors and their management believe that Confirmation of the Plan will provide a substantially greater return to Holders of Allowed Claims or Interests than would a liquidation under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.

In a typical chapter 7 case, a trustee is elected or appointed to liquidate a debtor's assets and to make distributions to creditors in accordance with the priorities established in the Bankruptcy Code. Generally, secured creditors are paid first from the proceeds of sales of their collateral. If any assets remain in the bankruptcy estate after satisfaction of secured creditors' claims from their collateral, administrative expenses are next to be paid. Unsecured creditors are paid from any remaining sale proceeds, according to their respective priorities. Unsecured creditors with the same priority share in proportion to the amount of their allowed claims in relationship to the total amount of allowed claims held by all unsecured creditors with the same priority. Finally, interest holders receive the balance that remains, if any, after all creditors are paid.

All or substantially all of the assets of the Debtors' business will have been liquidated through the Sale Transaction and the Plan effects a wind down of the Debtors' remaining assets not otherwise acquired in the Sale Transaction. Although a chapter 7 liquidation would achieve the same goal, the Debtors believe that the Plan provides a greater recovery to Holders of Allowed Claims than would a chapter 7 liquidation.

Liquidating the Debtors' Estates under the Plan likely provides Holders of Allowed Claims with a larger, more timely recovery in part because of the increased expenses that would be incurred in a chapter 7 liquidation, with the appointment of the chapter 7 trustee. The delay of the chapter 7 trustee becoming familiar with the assets could easily cause bids already obtained to be lost, and the chapter 7 trustee will not have the technical expertise and knowledge of the Debtors' business that the Debtors had when they proposed to sell their assets pursuant to the Plan. Moreover, the distributable proceeds under a chapter 7 liquidation will be lower because of the chapter 7 trustee's fees and expenses. Therefore, the appointment of a chapter 7 trustee would potentially delay distributions to creditors and reduce the present value of any recover for Holders. *See, e.g.*, 11 U.S.C. § 326(a) (providing for compensation of a chapter 7 trustee); 11 U.S.C. 503(b)(2) (providing administrative expense status for compensation and expenses of a chapter 7 trustee and such trustee's professionals). Additionally, the Debtors' Estates would continue to be obligated to pay all unpaid expenses incurred by the Debtors during the Chapter 11

Cases (such as compensation for Professionals), which may constitute Allowed Claims in any chapter 11 case.

The conversion to chapter 7 would also require entry of a new bar date. See Fed. R. Bankr. P. 1019(2); 3002(c). Thus, the amount of Claims ultimately Filed and Allowed against the Debtors could materially increase, thereby further reducing creditor recoveries versus those available under the Plan.

In light of the foregoing, the Debtors submit that a chapter 7 liquidation would result in reduced sale proceeds and recoveries, increased expenses, delayed distributions, and the prospect of additional claims that were not asserted in the Chapter 11 Cases. Accordingly, the Debtors believe that the Plan provides an opportunity to bring the highest return for creditors.

C. Feasibility

Section 1129(a)(11) of the Bankruptcy Code requires that confirmation of a chapter 11 plan is not likely to be followed by the liquidation, or the need for further financial reorganization of the debtor, or any successor to the debtor (unless such liquidation or reorganization is proposed in such plan of reorganization).

The Plan provides for the liquidation and distribution of the Debtors' assets. Accordingly, the Debtors believe that all Plan obligations will be satisfied without the need for further reorganization of the Debtors.

D. Acceptance by Impaired Classes

The Bankruptcy Code requires, as a condition to confirmation, except as described in the following section, that each class of claims or equity interests impaired under a plan, accept the plan. A class that is not "impaired" under a plan is deemed to have accepted the plan and, therefore, solicitation of acceptances with respect to such a class is not required.

Section 1126(c) of the Bankruptcy Code defines acceptance of a plan by a class of impaired claims as acceptance by holders of at least two-thirds in dollar amount and more than one-half in a number of allowed claims in that class, counting only those claims that have *actually* voted to accept or to reject the plan. Thus, a class of Claims will have voted to accept the Plan only if two-thirds in amount and a majority in number of the Allowed Claims in such class that vote on the Plan actually cast their ballots in favor of acceptance.

Section 1126(d) of the Bankruptcy Code defines acceptance of a plan by a class of impaired equity interests as acceptance by holders of at least two-thirds in amount of allowed interests in that class, counting only those interests that have *actually* voted to accept or to reject the plan. Thus, a Class of Interests will have voted to accept the Plan only if two-thirds in amount of the Allowed Interests in such class that vote on the Plan actually cast their ballots in favor of acceptance.

Pursuant to Article III.F of the Plan, if a Class contains Claims or Interests is eligible to vote and no Holders of Claims or Interests eligible to vote in such Class vote to accept or reject the Plan, the Holders of such Claims or Interests in such Class shall be deemed to have accepted the Plan.

E. Confirmation **Without Acceptance by All Impaired Classes

Section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code allows a bankruptcy court to confirm a plan even if all impaired classes have not accepted it; *provided* that the plan has been accepted by at least one impaired class. Pursuant to section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, notwithstanding an impaired class's rejection

or deemed rejection of the plan, the plan will be confirmed, at the plan proponent's request, in a procedure commonly known as a "cramdown" so long as the plan does not "discriminate unfairly" and is "fair and equitable" with respect to each class of claims or equity interests that is impaired under, and has not accepted, the plan.

If any Impaired Class rejects the Plan, the Debtors reserve the right to seek to confirm the Plan utilizing the "cramdown" provision of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code. To the extent that any Impaired Class rejects the Plan or is deemed to have rejected the Plan, the Debtors may request Confirmation of the Plan, as it may be modified from time to time, under section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code. The Debtors, subject to the consent right of the Committee as set forth in the Global Settlement Term Sheet, reserve the right to alter, amend, modify, revoke, or withdraw the Plan or any Plan Supplement document, including the right to amend or modify the Plan or any Plan Supplement document to satisfy the requirements of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code.

1. No Unfair Discrimination

The "unfair discrimination" test applies to classes of claims or interests that are of equal priority and are receiving different treatment under a plan. The test does not require that the treatment be the same or equivalent, but that treatment be "fair." In general, bankruptcy courts consider whether a plan discriminates unfairly in its treatment of classes of claims or interests of equal rank (e.g., classes of the same legal character). Bankruptcy courts will take into account a number of factors in determining whether a plan discriminates unfairly. A plan could treat two classes of unsecured creditors differently without unfairly discriminating against either class.

2. Fair and Equitable Test

The "fair and equitable" test applies to classes of different priority and status (e.g., secured versus unsecured) and includes the general requirement that no class of claims receive more than 100 percent of the amount of the allowed claims in the class. As to the dissenting class, the test sets different standards depending upon the type of claims or equity interests in the class.

The Debtors submit that if the Debtors "cramdown" the Plan pursuant to section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, the Plan is structured so that it does not "discriminate unfairly" and satisfies the "fair and equitable" requirement. With respect to the unfair discrimination requirement, all Classes under the Plan are provided treatment that is substantially equivalent to the treatment that is provided to other classes that have equal rank. With respect to the fair and equitable requirement, no Class under the Plan will receive more than 100 percent of the amount of Allowed Claims or Interests in that Class. The Debtors believe that the Plan and the treatment of all Classes of Claims or Interests under the Plan satisfy the foregoing requirements for nonconsensual Confirmation of the Plan.

XI. MATERIAL UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

The following discussion summarizes certain United States ("<u>U.S.</u>") federal income tax consequences of the implementation of the Plan to the Debtors and beneficial owners of Claims (each, a "<u>Holder</u>"). This summary is based on the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "<u>Tax Code</u>"), the U.S. Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder (the "<u>Treasury Regulations</u>"), judicial decisions and published administrative rules, and pronouncements of the Internal Revenue Service (the "<u>IRS</u>"), all as in effect on the date hereof (collectively, "<u>Applicable Tax Law</u>"). Changes in Applicable Tax Law may have retroactive effect and could significantly affect the U.S. federal income tax consequences described below. The Debtors have not requested, and will not request, any ruling or determination from the IRS or any other taxing authority with respect to the tax consequences discussed

herein, and the discussion below is not binding upon the IRS or the courts. No assurance can be given that the IRS would not assert, or that a court would not sustain, a different position than any position discussed herein.

Except as specifically set forth below, this summary does not apply to Holders that are not U.S. Persons (as such term is defined in the Tax Code) and does not address foreign, state, or local tax consequences of the Plan, nor does it purport to address all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to a Holder in light of its individual circumstances or to a Holder that may be subject to special tax rules (such as Persons who are related to the Debtors within the meaning of the Tax Code, broker-dealers, banks, mutual funds, insurance companies, financial institutions, small business investment companies, regulated investment companies, tax exempt organizations, governmental authorities or agencies, pass-through entities, beneficial owners of pass-through entities, subchapter S corporations, employees or persons who received their Claims pursuant to the exercise of an employee stock option or otherwise as compensation, persons who hold Claims as part of a straddle, hedge, conversion transaction, or other integrated investment, persons using a mark-to-market method of accounting, and Holders of Claims who are themselves in bankruptcy), unless otherwise specifically stated herein. Furthermore, this summary assumes that a Holder holds only Claims in a single Class and holds a Claim only as a "capital asset" (within the meaning of section 1221 of the Tax Code). This summary also assumes that the various debt and other arrangements to which any of the Debtors are a party will be respected for U.S. federal income tax purposes in accordance with their form, and that the Claims constitute interests in the Debtors "solely as a creditor" for purposes of section 897 of the Tax Code. This summary does not discuss differences in tax consequences to a Holder that acts or receives consideration in a capacity other than as a Holder of a Claim of the same Class, and the tax consequences for such Holders may differ materially from that described below.

For purposes of this discussion, a "U.S. Holder" is a holder of a Claim that is: (1) an individual citizen or resident of the United States for U.S. federal income tax purposes; (2) a corporation (or other entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) created or organized under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia; (3) an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of the source of such income; or (4) a trust (A) if a court within the United States is able to exercise primary jurisdiction over the trust's administration and one or more United States persons have authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (B) that has a valid election in effect under applicable Treasury Regulations to be treated as a United States person. For purposes of this discussion, a "non-U.S. Holder" is any Holder of a Claim that is not a U.S. Holder other than any partnership (or other entity treated as a partnership or other pass-through entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes).

If a partnership (or other entity treated as a partnership or other pass-through entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes) is a Holder, the tax treatment of a partner (or other beneficial owner) generally will depend upon the status of the partner (or other beneficial owner) and the activities of the entity. Partners (or other beneficial owners) of partnerships (or other pass-through entities) that are Holders should consult their respective tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Plan.

ACCORDINGLY, THE FOLLOWING SUMMARY OF CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES IS FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT A SUBSTITUTE FOR CAREFUL TAX PLANNING AND ADVICE BASED UPON THE INDIVIDUAL CIRCUMSTANCES PERTAINING TO A HOLDER OF A CLAIM OR INTEREST. ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS OR INTERESTS ARE URGED TO CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS FOR THE FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL, AND NON-U.S. TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN.

A. Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan to the Debtors and Parent

The tax consequences to the Debtors depend on whether the Sale Transaction is structured as a Credit Bid Transaction. If the Sale Transaction is not structured as a Credit Bid Transaction, then such transaction is expected to be treated as a taxable sale of assets to the Purchaser with the Debtors recognizing gain or loss equal to the difference between the purchase price paid and the Debtors tax basis in their assets. If the Sale Transaction is structured as a Credit Bid Transaction, then such transaction is expected to be treated as a tax-free "G" reorganization under section 368(a)(1)(G) of the Tax Code ("G Reorganization") and Purchaser will succeed to the Tax Attributes of the Debtors.

1. COD Income

In general, absent an exception, a taxpayer will realize and recognize cancellation of indebtedness income ("COD Income") upon satisfaction of its outstanding indebtedness for total consideration less than the amount of such indebtedness. The amount of COD Income, in general, is the excess of (1) the adjusted issue price of the indebtedness satisfied, over (2) the fair market value of any consideration given in satisfaction of such indebtedness at the time of the exchange.

Under section 108 of the Tax Code, a taxpayer is not required to include COD Income in gross income (a) if the taxpayer is under the jurisdiction of a court in a case under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code and the discharge of debt occurs pursuant to that case (the "Bankruptcy Exception"), or (b), to the extent that the taxpayer is insolvent immediately before the discharge (the "Insolvency Exception"). Instead, as a consequence of such exclusion, a taxpayer-debtor must reduce its tax attributes by the amount of COD Income that it excluded from gross income. In general, tax attributes will be reduced in the following order: (a) net operating losses ("NOLs"); (b) most tax credits; (c) capital loss carryovers; (d) tax basis in assets (but not below the amount of liabilities to which the debtor (or in the case of a G Reorganization, the Purchaser) remains subject); (e) passive activity loss and credit carryovers; and (f) foreign tax credits. Alternatively, the taxpayer can elect first to reduce the basis of its depreciable assets pursuant to section 108(b)(5) of the Tax Code.

The Debtors expect to realize significant COD Income as a result of the consummation of the Plan. The exact amount of any COD Income that will be realized by the Debtors will not be determinable until the consummation of the Plan.

B. Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan to Holders of Allowed Class 4 Prepetition First Lien Claims

In the event the Sale Transaction is not treated as a Credit Bid Transaction, Holders of Prepetition First Lien Claims will be treated as exchanging a portion of such Claims for Cash. Pursuant to the Plan, each Holder of a Class 4 Claim will receive its Pro Rata share of the Distributable Proceeds, up to the Allowed amount of such Prepetition First Lien Claims. Such Holder will recognize gain or loss equal to the (a) the amount of any Cash received minus (b) the Holder's adjusted tax basis in their Class 4 Claims.

In the event the Sale Transaction is treated as a Credit Bid Transaction, Holders of Prepetition First Lien Claims will be treated as exchanging such Claims for stock and debt of the Purchaser in a G Reorganization and, potentially Cash from the Distributable Proceeds A Holder should obtain a tax basis in the stock and debt of the Purchaser equal to the adjusted tax basis in the Prepetition First Lien Claim surrendered by the Holder, increased by any gain recognized and decreased by the amount of any Cash received.

C. Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan to Holders of Allowed Class 5 Prepetition Second Lien Claims

Regardless of whether the Sale Transaction is treated as a Credit Bid Transaction, Holders of Prepetition Second Lien Claims will be treated as exchanging a portion of such Claims in exchange for Cash. Pursuant to the Plan, each Holder of a Class 5 Claim will receive its Pro Rata share of the Distributable Proceeds, up to the Allowed amount of such Prepetition Second Lien Claims. Such Holder will recognize gain or loss equal to the (a) the sum of any Cash received minus (b) the Holder's adjusted tax basis in their Class 5 Claims.

D. Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan to Holders of Allowed Class 6B Other General Unsecured Claims

1. U.S. Federal Income Tax Treatment of Holders of Allowed Class 6B Other General Unsecured Claims

Pursuant to the Plan, in exchange for full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of their Claims, each Holder of an Other General Unsecured Claim shall receive, in full and final satisfaction of such Other General Unsecured Claim, its Pro Rata share of the PIK Notes and its Pro Rata share of [\$750,000 in cash as well as the proceeds of the Other Assets and the Excess Distributable Cash].

If (a) an Other General Unsecured Claim constitutes a "security," and (b) the PIK Notes constitute "securities," then a Holder of such a Claim is expected to be treated as receiving its distribution under the Plan in a transaction treated as a "reorganization" for U.S. federal income tax purposes with the receipt of Cash treated as "boot" in such recapitalization. The Holder should not recognize loss but would recognize gain in an amount equal to the lessor of (a) the amount of Cash received and (b) the excess if any of (i) the issue price of the PIK Notes and Cash received, over (ii) the Holder's adjusted tax basis in its Claim. The character of any such gain as capital or ordinary will be determined by a number of factors including the tax status of the Holder, whether the Claim constitutes a capital asset in the hands of the Holder, whether and to what extent the Holder had previously claimed a bad-debt deduction with respect to its Claim, and the potential application of the accrued interest and market discount rules discussed below. If any such recognized gain is capital in nature, it generally would be long-term capital gain if the Holder held its Claim for more than one year at the time of the exchange. A Holder's holding period for any such Claim would carry over to the PIK Notes received in the exchange. A Holder should obtain a tax basis in the PIK Notes equal to the adjusted tax basis in the Claim surrendered by the Holder, increased by any gain recognized and decreased by the amount of any Cash received.

If either the General Unsecured Claims or the PIK Notes do not constitute "securities," then a Holder of such a Claim is expected to be treated as receiving its distribution under the Plan in a taxable exchange under section 1001 of the IRC. The Holder should recognize gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference, if any, between the sum of (a) the issue price of the PIK Notes and (b) any Cash received, over the Holder's adjusted tax basis in its Claim. The character of any such gain or loss as capital or ordinary will be determined by a number of factors including the tax status of the Holder, whether the Claim constitutes a capital asset in the hands of the Holder, whether and to what extent the Holder had previously claimed a bad-debt deduction with respect to its Claim, and the potential application of the accrued interest and market discount rules discussed below. If any such recognized gain or loss is capital in nature, it generally would be long-term capital gain if the Holder held its Claim for more than one year at the time of the exchange. The holding period for any interest in the PIK Notes received in the exchange should begin on the day following the date the Holder receives such interest. A Holder should obtain a tax basis in the PIK Notes equal to its issue price.

2. U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to Holders of Ownership and Disposition of the PIK Notes

(a) Original Issue Discount

A debt instrument will be treated as issued with OID for U.S. federal income tax purposes if its issue price is less than its stated redemption price at maturity by more than a de minimis amount. A debt instrument's stated redemption price at maturity includes all principal and interest payable over the term of the debt instrument. If the debt instrument's stated interest is only "payable-in-kind," the debt instrument's stated redemption price at maturity will exceed its issue price, resulting in OID. Since the PIK Notes' stated interest is payable in kind, a Holder generally (i) will be required to include the OID in gross income as ordinary interest income as it accrues on a constant yield to maturity basis over the term of the PIK Notes, in advance of the receipt of the Cash attributable to such OID and regardless of the Holder's method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes, but (ii) will not be required to recognize additional income upon the receipt of any Cash payment on the PIK Notes that is attributable to previously accrued OID that has been included in its income.

(b) Sale, Taxable Exchange, or other Taxable Disposition

Upon the disposition of the PIK Notes by sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition, a Holder will generally recognize gain or loss equal to the difference, if any, between (a) the amount realized on the disposition (other than amounts attributable to accrued but untaxed interest, which will be taxed as ordinary interest income to the extent not previously so taxed) and (b) the Holder's adjusted tax basis in the PIK Notes. The calculation of a Holder's adjusted tax basis in the PIK Notes is discussed above. A Holder's adjusted tax basis will generally be increased by any accrued OID previously included in such Holder's gross income and decreased by any payments on the PIK Notes other than qualified stated interest. A Holder's gain or loss will generally constitute capital gain or loss and will be long-term capital gain or loss if the Holder has held the PIK Notes for longer than one year. Non-corporate taxpayers are generally subject to a reduced federal income tax rate on net long-term capital gains. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to certain limitations.

E. Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan to Holders of Allowed Class 6A Continuing Trade Claims, Class 6C Litigation Claims, and Class 6D CFPB Claims

Pursuant to the Plan, in exchange for full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of their Claims, each Holder of an Allowed Continuing Trade Claim, Litigation Claim, or CFPB Claim shall receive Cash, in full and final satisfaction of such Claim. Such Holder should recognize gain or

loss in an amount equal to the difference between the amount of Cash received and such Holder's adjusted tax basis in its Claim. The character of any such gain or loss as capital or ordinary will be determined by a number of factors including the tax status of the Holder, whether the Claim constitutes a capital asset in the hands of the Holder, whether and to what extent the Holder had previously claimed a bad-debt deduction with respect to its Claim, and the potential application of the accrued interest and market discount rules discussed below. If any such recognized gain or loss is capital in nature, it generally would be long-term capital gain if the Holder held its Claim for more than one year at the time of the exchange.

F. Character of Gain or Loss

Where gain or loss is recognized by a Holder of a Claim upon the exchange of its Allowed Claim, the character of such gain or loss as long-term or short-term capital gain or loss or as ordinary income or loss will be determined by a number of factors, including, among others, the tax status of the Holder, whether the Allowed Claim constitutes a capital asset in the hands of the Holder and how long it has been held, whether the Allowed Claim was acquired at a market discount (discussed below), whether and to what extent the Holder previously had claimed a bad debt deduction, and the nature and tax treatment of any fees, costs or expense reimbursements to which consideration is allocated. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim is urged to consult its tax advisor to determine the character of any gain or loss recognized with respect to the satisfaction of its Allowed Claim.

Holders of Allowed Claims who recognize capital losses as a result of the distributions under the Plan will be subject to limits on their use of capital losses. For corporate Holders, losses from the sale or exchange of capital assets may only be used to offset capital gains. Corporate Holders who have more capital losses than can be used in a tax year may be allowed to carry over unused capital losses for the five taxable years following the capital loss year and may be allowed to carry back unused capital losses to the three taxable years that precede the capital loss year.

G. Market Discount

Under the "market discount" provisions of sections 1276 through 1278 of the Tax Code, some or all of any gain realized by a Holder exchanging the debt instruments constituting its Allowed Claim may be treated as ordinary income (instead of capital gain), to the extent of the amount of "market discount" on the debt constituting the surrendered Allowed Claim.

In general, a debt instrument is considered to have been acquired with "market discount" if its Holder's adjusted tax basis in the debt instrument is less than (i) the sum of all remaining payments to be made on the debt instrument, excluding "qualified stated interest" or, (ii) in the case of a debt instrument issued with "original issue discount" ("OID"), its adjusted issue price, by at least a de minimis amount (equal to 0.25 percent of the sum of all remaining payments to be made on the debt instrument, excluding qualified stated interest, multiplied by the number of remaining whole years to maturity).

Any gain recognized by a Holder on the exchange of debt constituting its Allowed Claim that was acquired with market discount should be treated as ordinary income to the extent of the market discount that accrued thereon while such debts were considered to be held by the Holder (unless the Holder elected to include market discount in income as it accrued).

H. Accrued Interest

To the extent that any amount received by a Holder of a surrendered Allowed Claim under the Plan is attributable to accrued but unpaid interest and such amount has not previously been included in the Holder's gross income, such amount should be taxable to the Holder as ordinary interest income. Conversely, a Holder of a surrendered Allowed Claim may be able to recognize a deductible loss (or, possibly, a write-off against a reserve for worthless debts) to the extent that any accrued interest on the debt instruments constituting such claim was previously included in the Holder's gross income but was not paid in full by the Debtors. Such loss may be ordinary; however, the tax law is unclear on this point.

The extent to which the consideration received by a Holder of a surrendered Allowed Claim will be attributable to accrued interest on the debts constituting the surrendered Allowed Claim is unclear. Certain Treasury Regulations generally treat a payment under a debt instrument first as a payment of accrued and untaxed interest and then as a payment of principal. Application of this rule to a final payment on a debt instrument being discharged at a discount in bankruptcy is unclear. Pursuant to the terms of the Plan, distributions in respect of Allowed Claims are allocated first to the principal amount of such claims (as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes) and then, to the extent the consideration exceeds the principal amount of the claims, to any portion of such claims for accrued but unpaid interest. However, the provisions of the Plan are not binding on the IRS nor a court with respect to the appropriate tax treatment for Holders.

I. Limitation on Use of Capital Losses

A Holder of a Claim who recognizes capital losses as a result of the transactions undertaken pursuant to the Plan will be subject to limits on the use of such capital losses. For a non-corporate Holder, capital losses may be used to offset any capital gains recognized (without regard to holding periods), and also ordinary income recognized to the extent of the lesser of (a) \$3,000 (\$1,500 for married individuals filing separate returns) or (b) the excess of such capital losses over such capital gains. A non-corporate Holder may carry over unused capital losses recognized and apply them against future capital gains recognized and a portion of their ordinary income recognized for an unlimited number of years. For corporate Holders, capital losses recognized may only be used to offset capital gains recognized. A corporate Holder that recognizes more capital losses than may be used in a tax year may carry back unused capital losses to the three years preceding the capital loss year or may carry over unused capital losses for the five years following the capital loss year.

J. Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

The Debtors will withhold all amounts required by law to be withheld from distributions or payments. The Debtors will comply with all applicable reporting requirements of the Tax Code. In general, information reporting requirements may apply to distributions or payments made to a Holder of a Claim under the Plan. In addition, backup withholding of taxes (currently at a 24% rate) will generally apply to payments in respect of an Allowed Claim under the Plan unless, in the case of a U.S. Holder, such U.S. Holder provides a properly executed IRS Form W-9 and, in the case of non-U.S. Holder, such non-U.S. Holder provides a properly executed applicable IRS Form W-8 (or otherwise establishes such non-U.S. Holder's eligibility for an exemption).

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules may be credited against a Holder's U.S. federal income tax liability, and a Holder may obtain a refund of any excess amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules by filing an appropriate claim for refund with the IRS (generally, a federal income tax return).

In addition, from an information reporting perspective, the Treasury Regulations generally require disclosure by a taxpayer on its U.S. federal income tax return of certain types of transactions in which the taxpayer participated, including, among other types of transactions, certain transactions that result in the taxpayer's claiming a loss in excess of specified thresholds. Holders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding these regulations and whether the transactions contemplated by the Plan would be subject to these regulations and require disclosure on the Holders' tax returns.

THE FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN ARE COMPLEX. THE FOREGOING SUMMARY DOES NOT DISCUSS ALL ASPECTS OF FEDERAL INCOME TAXATION THAT MAY BE RELEVANT TO A PARTICULAR HOLDER IN LIGHT OF SUCH HOLDER'S CIRCUMSTANCES AND INCOME TAX SITUATION. ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AND EQUITY INTERESTS SHOULD CONSULT WITH THEIR TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE PARTICULAR TAX CONSEQUENCES TO THEM OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THE PLAN, INCLUDING THE APPLICABILITY AND EFFECT OF ANY STATE, LOCAL OR NON-U.S. TAX LAWS, AND OF ANY CHANGE IN APPLICABLE TAX LAWS.

K. U.S. Federal Income Tax Treatment of the Creditor Trust

1. Grantor Trust

It is intended that the Creditor Trust will qualify as a "liquidating trust" under Treasury Regulation section 301.7701-4(d). Accordingly, it is intended that the Creditor Trust will be treated as a grantor trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and that the Beneficiaries will be treated as grantors of such trust.

In general, a grantor trust is not a separate taxable entity. The IRS, in Revenue Procedure 94-45, sets forth the general criteria for obtaining an advance ruling as to the grantor trust status of a liquidating trust under a chapter 11 plan. Consistent with the requirements of Revenue Procedure 94-45, the Creditor Trust Agreement will require all relevant parties to treat the transfer of the Creditor Trust Assets for U.S. federal income tax purposes as (i) a transfer of the Creditor Trust Assets directly to the beneficiaries in satisfaction of the Claims against the Debtors (to the extent of the value of the beneficiaries' respective interests in the applicable Creditor Trust Assets) followed by (ii) the transfer by such beneficiaries to the Creditor Trust of the Creditor Trust Assets in exchange for beneficial interests in the Creditor Trust (to the extent of the value of the beneficiaries' respective interests in the applicable Creditor Trust Assets), provided, however, that the Creditor Trust Assets will be subject to any post-Effective Date liabilities or obligations incurred by the Creditor Trust relating to the pursuit of Creditor Trust Assets.

Accordingly, the beneficiaries should be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as the grantors and owners of their respective share of the Creditor Trust Assets. The foregoing treatment should also apply, to the extent permitted by applicable law, for state and local income tax purposes.

As a grantor trust, the Creditor Trust Agreement will require all items of income, gain, loss, deduction and credit to be included in the income of the Beneficiaries, and reported on such beneficiaries' U.S. federal income tax returns as if such items had been recognized directly by the beneficiaries in the proportions in which they own beneficial interests in the Creditor Trust.

Subject to definitive guidance from the IRS or a court of competent jurisdiction to the contrary (including the receipt of an IRS private letter ruling if the Creditor Trustee so requests one, or the receipt of an adverse determination by the IRS upon audit if not contested by the Creditor Trustee), the Creditor Trustee may (i) timely elect to treat any portion or all of the Creditor Trust or any Creditor Trust Assets as a "disputed ownership fund" within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.468B-9 for federal income tax purposes (the "Disputed Ownership Fund") and (ii) to the extent permitted by applicable law, report consistently with the foregoing for state and local income tax purposes. Accordingly, any Disputed Ownership Fund will be subject to tax annually on a separate entity basis on any net income earned with respect to any Creditor Trust Assets held in any such Disputed Ownership Fund, and all distributions from such reserves will be treated as received by holders in respect of their Claims as if distributed by the Debtors.

No ruling is currently being requested from the IRS concerning the tax status of the Creditor Trust as a liquidating trust. As such, there can be no assurance that the IRS would not take a contrary position to the classification of the Creditor Trust as a liquidating trust. If the IRS were to successfully challenge the liquidating trust classification, the U.S. federal income tax consequences to the Creditor Trust and the Holders of Claims could vary from those discussed herein (including the potential for an entity level tax to be imposed on all income of the Creditor Trust). Certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Creditor Trust or portions thereof relating to Disputed Claims and being treated as a Disputed Ownership Fund are also discussed below.

2. Reporting

The Creditor Trust shall comply with all tax reporting requirements, including, without limitation, filing returns for the Creditor Trust as a grantor trust pursuant to Treasury Regulation section 1.671-4(a) and, in connection therewith, the Creditor Trustee may require the Beneficiaries to provide certain tax information as a condition to receipt of Distributions. The Creditor Trustee shall also send to each beneficiary a separate statement setting forth such beneficiary's share of items of Creditor Trust income, gain, loss, deduction, or credit. Each such Beneficiary will be required to report such items on its U.S. federal income tax return; provided, however, that any reporting under this Section is subject to the Creditor Trustee's discretion to elect to treat the Creditor Trust or any Creditor Trust Assets (in whole or in part) as a Disputed Ownership Fund, which election may alter the requirement in accordance with federal tax laws and regulations.

All taxable income and loss of the Creditor Trust will be allocated among, and treated as directly earned and incurred by, the beneficiaries with respect to such beneficiary's interest in the assets of the Creditor Trust (and not as income or loss with respect to its prior Claims), with the possible exception of any taxable income and loss allocable to any assets allocable to, or retained on account of, Disputed Claims. The character of any income or gain and the character and ability to use any loss or loss will depend on the particular situation of the beneficiary.

The U.S. federal income tax obligations of a beneficiary with respect to its beneficial interest in the Creditor Trust are not dependent on the Creditor Trust distributing any Cash or other proceeds, subject to any portion(s) of the Creditor Trust allocable to Disputed Claims. Thus, a beneficiary may incur U.S. federal income tax liability with respect to its allocable share of the Creditor Trust's income even if the Creditor Trust does not make a concurrent distribution to the U.S. Holder. Beneficiaries with a beneficial interest in any PIK Notes will be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as if they have received such PIK Notes. Such beneficiaries are urged to review Article XI.D of this Disclosure Statement, entitled "Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan to Holders of Allowed Class 6B Other General Unsecured Claims" for a discussion on the tax consequences of beneficial ownership of the PIK Notes.

In general, other than in respect of amounts retained on account of Disputed Claims, a distribution of Cash by the Creditor Trust will not be separately taxable to a beneficiary of the Creditor Trust, since the beneficiary is already regarded for U.S. federal income tax purposes as owning the underlying assets (and will be taxed at the time the Cash was earned or received by the Creditor Trust). Holders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the appropriate U.S. federal income tax treatment of any subsequent distributions of Cash originally retained by the Creditor Trust on account of Disputed Claims.

3. Valuation

After the Effective Date, but in no event later than four months after the initial (i.e., not extended) due date for timely filing of the Creditor Trust's first federal income tax return, the Creditor Trustee shall (i) determine the fair market value of the Creditor Trust Assets as of the Effective Date, based on the Creditor Trustee's good faith determination (in conjunction with guidance provided by Trust Professionals (as defined in the Credit Trust Agreement), if any); and (ii) establish appropriate means to apprise the beneficiaries of such valuation; provided, however, that no such valuation will be required if the Creditor Trustee elects to treat the Creditor Trust or the Creditor Trust Assets (in whole or in part) as a Disputed Ownership Fund. The valuation, if established pursuant to the terms of the Creditor Trust Agreement, shall be used consistently by all Parties (including, without limitation, the Debtors, the Creditor Trust, the Creditor Trustee, and the beneficiaries) for all U.S. federal income tax purposes.

4. Tax Returns

In accordance with the provisions of section 6012(b)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (and any comparable provision of state or local tax law), the Creditor Trustee shall cause to be prepared, at the cost and expense of the Creditor Trust, the income tax returns (federal, state and local) that the Debtors are required to file (to the extent such returns have not already been filed by the Effective Date). The Creditor Trustee shall also cause to be prepared, at the cost and expense of the Creditor Trust, the income tax returns (federal, and if applicable, state and local) required to be filed on behalf of the Creditor Trust, and such returns filed on behalf of the Creditor Trust shall be consistent with the treatment of the Creditor Trust as a liquidating trust within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 301.7701-4(d) that is a grantor trust pursuant to Treasury Regulations Section 1.671-4(a) (other than with respect to any election by the Creditor Trustee to treat the Creditor Trust or any of the Creditor Trust Assets (in either case, in whole or in part) as a Disputed Ownership Fund), and to the extent permitted by applicable law, report consistently with the foregoing for state and local income tax purposes. The Creditor Trustee shall timely file each such tax return with the appropriate taxing authority and shall pay out of the assets of the Creditor Trust all taxes due with respect to the period covered by each such tax return.

5. Attribution of Income

Subject to definitive guidance from the IRS or a court of competent jurisdiction to the contrary (including the issuance of applicable Treasury Regulations, the receipt by the Creditor Trustee of a private letter ruling if the Creditor Trustee so requests one, or the receipt of an adverse determination by the IRS upon audit if not contested by the Creditor Trustee), taxable income, gain, loss or deduction in respect of the Creditor Trust Assets shall be attributed to the beneficiaries in proportion to their beneficial interests in the Creditor Trust Assets. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or Disclosure Statement, the timing of distributions shall comply with the requirements of Revenue Procedure 94-45, as determined by the Creditor Trustee in its reasonable discretion.

6. Tax Identification Numbers.

The Creditor Trustee may require any beneficiary to furnish to the Creditor Trustee its employer or taxpayer identification number as assigned by the IRS (e.g., via signed W-9 or for any non-U.S. Beneficiary a W-8) or otherwise certify in writing to the Creditor Trustee's satisfaction that distributions from the Creditor Trust to the beneficiary are exempt from backup withholding. The Creditor Trustee may condition any distribution to any Beneficiary upon receipt of such identification number or exemption certification. If after reasonable inquiry and reasonable time constraints for responding (in each case, as determined by the Creditor Trustee in its sole discretion), any beneficiary fails to provide such identification number, then distributions to such beneficiary shall become undeliverable property to be made available for distribution to the remaining beneficiaries, in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the Creditor Trust Agreement.

7. Annual Statements

The Creditor Trustee shall annually (for tax years in which distributions from the Creditor Trust are made) send to each beneficiary a separate statement setting forth the beneficiary's share of items of income, gain, loss, deduction or credit, and all such beneficiaries shall report such items on their federal income tax returns; provided, however, that any such reporting obligation under this subsection is subject to the Creditor Trustee's discretion to elect to treat the Creditor Trust or any of the Creditor Trust Assets (in either case, in whole or in part) as a Disputed Ownership Fund, which may impact the requirement of such annual statements pursuant to federal tax regulations and applicable laws.

8. Notices

The Creditor Trustee shall distribute such notices to the beneficiaries as the Creditor Trustee determines are necessary or desirable.

9. Expedited Determination

The Creditor Trustee may request an expedited determination of taxes of the Debtors or of the Creditor Trust under Bankruptcy Code section 505(b) for all tax returns filed for, or on behalf of, the Debtors and the Creditor Trust for all taxable periods through the dissolution of the Creditor Trust.

10. Withholding

The Creditor Trustee will comply with all applicable governmental withholding requirements.

XII. RECOMMENDATION

In the opinion of the Debtors, the Plan is preferable to all other available alternatives and provides for a larger distribution to the Debtors' creditors than would otherwise result in any other scenario. Accordingly, the Debtors recommend that holders of Claims entitled to vote on the Plan vote to accept the Plan and support Confirmation of the Plan.

Dated: August 24, September 15, 2023

PGX Holdings, Inc. on behalf of itself and its debtor affiliates

/s/ Chad Wallace

Chad Wallace Chief Executive Officer and President of the Debtors and Debtors in Possession

EXHIBIT A

<u>First Amended</u> Chapter 11 Plan <u>(Solicitation Version)</u>

Case 23-10718-CTG Doc 469 Filed 09/15/23 Page 83 of 83

[Different first page link-to-previous setting changed from off in original to on in modified.].
EXHIBIT B
<u>Liquidation Analysis</u>
[To be filed separately]